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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

)
ALL AMERICAN TELEPHONE )
COMPANY, INC., ET AL. )
)
Plaintiffs, ) 07 Civ. 861 (WHP)
) ECF CASE
-against- ) PLAINTIFFS* MEMORANDUM
) OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF
) MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON
) THE PLEADINGS
)
AT&T, INC., )
)
Defendant )
)

Plaintiffs All American Telephone Co., Inc.; ChaseCom, and e-Pinnacle
Communications, Inc. (“Plaintiffs™), by their undersigned counsel, hereby submit their
memorandum of law in support of judgment on the pleadings, pursuant to Rule 12(c). As
demonstrated in this Memorandum, judgment on the pleadings is proper because there
are no questions of fact before this Court and Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.

Moreover, admissions made by Defendant AT&T, Inc. (“AT&T” or “Defendant™)
in its Answer to Plaintiffs’ first amended Complaint, and its admissions in other public
documents of which this Court can take judicial notice, further support Plaintiffs’ claims
for judgment under the filed rate doctrine. Similarly, AT&T’s asserted counterclaims
against Plaintiffs must be dismissed for failure to plead actionable violations of law, and
for failure to raise any questions of fact that this Court can hear. Because there are no
questions of fact that can be considered by this Court, judgment on the pleadings is

required.
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. L. THE STANDARDS FOR GRANT OF JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

The standards governing motions for judgment on the pleadings are well

established in this Court:

The same standards govern both a Rule 12(c) motion for

judgment on the pleadings and [] a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to

dismiss for failure to state a claim. . . . The Court ‘must

view the pleadings in the light most favorable to, and draw

all reasonable inference in favor of, the nonmoving party.’

.. . Accordingly, judgment on the pleadings is appropriate

only if. .. it is apparent from the pleadings that no material

issues of fact are unresolved and that the moving party is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Stellan Holm, Inc. v. Malmberg International Art, AB, No. 01 CIV. 1053(WHP), 2002
WL 392294, at 2-3 (S.D.N.Y., March 13, 2002), citing, e.g., Davidson v. Flynn, 32 F.3d
27, 29 (2d Cir. 1994) and Sheppard v. Beerman, 18 F.3d 147, 150 (2d Cir. 1994). “In
deciding a motion on the pleadings, courts may consider exhibits, statements or
documents attached to or incorporated by reference in the pleadings.” Holm v.
Malmberg, 2002 WL 392294, at 3 (citing Brass v. American Film Techs., Inc., 987 F.2d
142, 150 (2d Cir. 1993)).

Applying this standard, Plaintiffs demonstrate that all relevant facts necessary to
compel judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on their collection action have been established by
the parties” admissions and in statements in public documents, of which this Court may
take judicial notice. Notably, averments made by Defendant in its affirmative defenses
and counterclaims are summary (and erroneous) legal conclusions, and do not preclude
immediate judgment in favor of Plaintiffs. Defendant’s averments do not suffice to
support any actionable claim, and raise no issue of fact that could be heard by a jury.
Even when all factual assertions made by Defendant are assumed correct, and all
. reasonable inferences in favor of Defendant are granted, there remain no issues of fact

2
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that can support a defense against Plaintiffs’ collection action, or that could support a
counterclaim against Plaintiffs. As a result, judgment should be entered for Plaintiffs as a
matter of law.

11. PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS, AWARDING

FULL PAYMENT OF ACCESS CHARGES WITHHELD BY AT&T, AND OTHER
RELATED DAMAGES

A. JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFFS IS COMPELLED BY THE FILED RATE
DOCTRINE

As the Plaintiffs” Complaint explains, this collection action is governed by the
filed rate doctrine. Complaint, Y 23-26. That common law construct protects against
discrimination in the provision of regulated services, and preserves the role of expert
regulatory agencies as the only bodies empowered to set rates for regulated services
under their jurisdiction. “The filed rate doctrine is applied strictly, and it requires a party
that receives tariffed services to pay the filed rates, even if that party is dissatisfied with
the rates or alleges fraud.” Complaint, 9 24 (citing Marcus v. AT&T Corp., 138 F.3d 46,
58-59 (2% Cir. 1998)).

The filed rate doctrine analysis consists of a straightforward and simple inquiry:
Was service provided? Was a valid tariff on file? If these two issues are determined, the
tariffed rate must be enforced. “Thus, if a carrier acquires services under a filed tariff,
only the rate contained in the tariff for that service will apply.” Complaint, § 24 (citing
Marcus, 138 F.3d at 58-59). The filed rate doctrine is strictly enforced:

[T]he rate of the carrier duly filed is the only lawful charge.
Deviation from it is not permitted upon any pretext. . ..
This rule is undeniably strict and it obviously may work
hardship in some cases, but it embodies the policy which

has been adopted by Congress in the regulation of interstate
commerce in order to prevent unjust discrimination.
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WorldCom Technologies, Inc. v. ACS Telecom, Inc., No. 00 CIV., 3200(LLS), 2001 WL
1537696, at 2 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 3, 2001) (J. Stanton) (quoting Louisville & Nashville R. Co.

v. Maxwell, 237 U.S. 94 (1915)).

B. AT&T ADMITS ALL FACTS NECESSARY TO INVOKE THE FILED RATE
DOCTRINE

In its Answer, AT&T makes a series of admissions that confirm that it took
service from Plaintiffs pursuant to valid tariffs. AT&T admits:

e That Plaintiffs are local exchange carriers (“LECs”) that provide local and
long distance services in their service territories. Answer, 9 12.

o That Plaintiffs had tariffs on file. Answer, 943, 50, 57. (AT&T admits the
All American and ChaseCom tariffs; in the case of e-Pinnacle, AT&T refers
the court to the filed tarift).

e That Plaintiffs billed AT&T for access services. Answer, Y41, 44, 57.

e That AT&T initially paid under the tariffs, but then stopped payment.
Answer, 42, 45, 52, 58, 59.

These admissions prove Plaintiff’s claims, and provide the factual basis for awarding

Plaintiffs the damages they seek. Complaint, 9 43-62, and Counts I - III.

Moreover, nowhere in its Answer does AT&T aver that Plaintiffs’ tariffs were
incorrectly filed, ineffective, or otherwise invalid, or that Plaintiffs’ bills were inaccurate,
and it does not deny receiving service from Plaintiffs. Only such averments can defeat
the mandatory application of the filed rate doctrine at this stage of litigation, and the
immediate award of specified damages to Plaintitfs. Because Defendant raises no such
issues in its Answer, no questions of fact exist that could prevent immediate judgment
under the filed rate doctrine. By its own admissions, therefore, AT&T is precluded from
contesting the validity of Plaintiffs’ tariffs, denying it received service from Plaintiffs, or

denying that it was invoiced for the services it took at validly tariffed rates. The

4
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preconditions for judgment under the filed rate doctrine have therefore been met, and are

fully evidenced in the pleadings.

C. AT&T DOES NOT — AND CANNOT — DEMONSTRATE THAT PLAINTIFFS’
TARIFFS ARE UNREASONABLE; ABSENT SUCH A SHOWING, THE TARIFFED
RATE MUST BE ENFORCED

AT&T’s Answer and counterclaims do not present a coherent legal theory for
invalidating Plaintiffs’ tariffs. Indeed, AT&T’s entire argument is based on an
unsubstantiated claim that Plaintiff’s services are not “access services” subject to tariffed
access rates. However, while AT&T admits that it took service from Plaintiffs and has
not paid for it, it never once asserts what the services are, and what rates should apply.
Rather, AT&T appears to take the position that it need only assert — without any support
— that the services that Plaintiffs provided and that AT&T took do not constitute “access
services,” and that by doing so, it can prevent enforcement of the tariffed rates and
circumvent the filed rate doctrine. However, established law on the filed rate doctrine —
including multiple rulings from the Southern District of New York — make clear that this
theory must be rejected.

1. PLAINTIFFS’ TARIFFS HAVE THE FORCE OF LAW, AND ARE
PRESUMPTIVELY BINDING ON AT&T

The filed rate doctrine firmly establishes that a lawfully filed tariff has the force
of law. Complaint, § 24 (citing Maislin Industries, U.S. v. Primary Steel, Inc., 497 U.S.
116, 117 (1990)); e.g., Telecom International America, Ltd. v. AT&T Corp., 67 F. Supp.
2d 189, 216-17 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (Hellerstein, J.) (filed rate doctrine precludes defenses to
claim for tariffed rates); AT&T Corp. v. Public Service Enterprises of Pennsylvania, Inc.,
No. 98 CIV., 6133(LAP), 1999 WL 672543, at 5 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 26, 1999) (Preska, J.)

(tariff must be enforced unless it has been found to violate the Communications Act).

5
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Consonant with the legal status of tariffs, the courts have found that customers
that take tariffed services are “‘conclusively presumed’ to have constructive knowledge
of the filed tariff under which they have received service.” Fax Telecommunicaciones
Inc. v. AT&T, 138 F.3d 497, 489 & passim. (2d Cir.1998) (citing Kansas City Southern
Ry. Co. v. Carl, 227 U.S. 639 (1913)). “Since customers are “‘conclusively presumed’ to
have constructive knowledge of the filed tariff,” they cannot assert a defense that the
common carrier misrepresented or misquoted its rates.” WorldCom Technologies, Inc. v.
ACS Telecom, Inc., No. 00 Civ. 3200 (LLS), 2001 WL 1537696, at 3 (S.D.N.Y., Dec. 3,
2001) (Stanton, J.) (citing Fax v. AT&T, 138 F.3d at 489). Given such precedent, a large
and sophisticated telecommunications carrier such as AT&T is conclusively presumed to
know its obligations under Plaintiffs’ tariffs, and cannot be heard to challenge the
application of the tariffed rates.

2. AT&T’S AVERMENTS THAT PLAINTIFF’S SERVICES DO NOT MEET

THE TARIFF OR STATUTORY DEFINITIONS OF “ACCESS SERVICES” IS
AN INDIRECT, AND PROHIBITED, ATTACK ON TARIFFED RATES

In the Southern District of New York, and elsewhere, this strict adherence to the
filed rate doctrine has led courts to reject claims based on challenges to service terms and
service definitions, because they constituted indirect attacks on the tariffed rates. In
WorldCom v. ACS, ACS was a reseller that took tariffed service from WorldCom, but
also signed a separate contract for larger volumes of the resold service, subject to
different terms. WorldCom v. ACS, 2001 WL 1537696, at 2. When ACS’ resale volumes
fell below the minimum amount required by the WorldCom tariff, ACS refused to pay
WorldCom’s tariffed “deficiency charges,” arguing that the provisions of its contract
superseded the minimum ordering provision of the tariff. /d. ACS argued that the filed

rate doctrine did not compel payment because the contract superseded the terms of the

6
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tariff, but not any tariffed rate. Id. This Court rejected the ACS complaint, finding that
“[the filed rate] doctrine applies to all privileges and services covered by the [tariff] and
is not limited to rates.” Id. at 3. In so finding, the Court quoted the Supreme Court in
AT&T v. Central Office Telephone:

Rates, however, do not exist in isolation. They have

meaning only when one knows the services to which they

are attached. Any claim for excessive rates can be couched

as a claim for inadequate services and vice versa. “If

‘discrimination in charges’ does not include non-price

features, then the carrier could defeat the broad purpose of

the statute by the simple expedient of providing an

additional benefit at no additional charge. . . . The

Communications Act recognizes this when it requires the

filed tariff to show not only “charges,” but also “the

classifications, practices, and regulations affecting such

charges.”
Worldom v. ACS, 2001 WL 1537696, at 3, citing American Telephone & Telegraph Co.
v. Central Office Telephone, Inc., 524 U.S. 214, 223 (1998) (emphasis added). See also,
Faxv. AT&T, 138 F.3d at 489 (rejecting argument to accept a letter as a constructive
contract that supersedes the tariff, on the grounds that such easy circumvention of the

filed rate doctrine would enable widespread manipulation that would undermine the

antidiscrimination purpose of the filed rate doctrine).

These decisions rﬁake clear that AT&T’s attempt to circumvent the filed rate
doctrine in the instant case must be rejected. AT&T has attempted to prevent the
enforcement of tariffed rates by making baseless and unsupported allegations that the
service that it took from Plaintiffs is not the service reflected in their tariff. The courts,
however, have long recognized that such simple definitional games could easily be
manipulated and result in the discrimination that the filed rate doctrine is designed to

prevent. Consistent with the precedent discussed above, this Court should find that
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AT&T’s arguments are clearly an attack on the Plaintiff’s tariffed rates. These arguments
cannot serve to defeat a collection action under the filed rate doctrine.

3. AT&T’S COUNTERCLAIMS ASK THIS COURT TO VOID PLAINTIFF’S
TARIFFED RATES, IN VIOLATION OF THE FILED RATE DOCTRINE

All of AT&T’s affirmative defenses and counterclaims are focused on a single
outcome — AT&T wants to be absolved of any obligation to pay the tariffed rate for the
services it knowingly took from Plaintiffs. AT&T’s goals are summarized in its request
for declaratory relief in Count VII of its Answer and counterclaims, where it seeks a
Court declaration that:

() . . . [Plaintiffs] are not providing terminating switched
access services to AT&T in connection with the
international calling, chat line, and conferencing schemes,
(i) the interstate and intrastate access charges that appear
in the bills rendered by [Plaintiffs] to AT&T violate their
interstate and intrastate tariffs, the Communications Act
and the FCC’s implementing rules, and Iowa law, and (ii1)
AT&T is not obligated to pay the interstate or intrastate
access charges that appear in the bills rendered by
[Plaintiffs] to AT&T that contain charges for chat line or
conferencing calls or other calls made using the service of a
Website Company.

Answer, § 76 (emphasis added).

This Court has consistently found that it cannot provide the type of relief that
AT&T seeks. Telecom International America, Ltd. v. AT&T Corp., 67 F. Supp. 2d 189
(S.D.N.Y. 1999) (Hellerstein, J.) involved a complaint by a reseller against AT&T,
contesting the Shortfall Charges imposed by AT&T’s tariff in cases where resellers did
not meet the volume sales commitments to which they agreed. TIA argued, inter alia,
that the tariffed charges were “unenforceable penalty provisions void as against public
policy; . . . the filed rate doctrine is inapplicable in situations where the customer disputes
liability; and because AT&T made numerous representations . .. .” 1d. at 219. Judge

8
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Hellerstein rejected TIA’s arguments and granted summary judgment to AT&T, stating:

“In short, I cannot void the Shortfall Charges because [ would be substituting my

judement as to what would be a reasonable rate — something prohibited by the filed rate

doctrine and the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. Moreover, I would also be providing
TIA with an extra-tariff benefit, unavailable to any other potential subscriber to [the
tariff].” Id. (emphasis added).

This Court made a similar finding in WorldCom v. ACS. In that case, ACS,
another reseller, filed counterclaims to a WorldCom collection action. Some of the
counterclaims sought “recission and damages, claiming fraudulent inducement to enter
[the reseller contract].” This Court dismissed these counterclaims, stating: “To the
extent ACS seeks to avoid payment obligations under the filed tariffs . . . it is barred by
the filed rate doctrine.” WorldCom v. ACS, 2001 WL 1537696, at 3. This Court has long
recognized that the filed rate doctrine does not allow courts to absolve customers of the
obligation to pay tariffed rates, regardless of their claims of illegality, fraud or mistake.
As AT&T’s Answer and counterclaims amount to a request to the Court to void the
Plaintiffs’ tariffed rates, they must be rejected, and cannot prevent a judgment for
Plaintiffs, pursuant to the filed rate doctrine.

4, ABSENT A SHOWING OF LEGAL SUPPORT, THE COURT MUST REJECT

AT&T’S ASSERTIONS THAT PLAINTIFFS’ CONDUCT IS UNLAWFUL OR
THEIR TARIFFS ARE UNREASONABLE

The long line of precedent that consistently and strictly applies the filed rate
doctrine has led this Court to reject claims based on service terms and definitions unless

they were specifically supported by an order by the Federal Communications

Commission ruling that the tariff was unreasonable. In AT&T v. PSE, PSE, a reseller,

sought to overturn an arbitration ruling that awarded AT&T payment of its tariffed rates

9
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for Penalty for Shortfall (a tariffed charge that applies if a reseller did not sell the volume
of services it committed to sell). AT&T Corp. v. Public Service Enterprises of
Pennsylvania, Inc., No. 98 CIV., 6133(LAP), 1999 WL 672543, at 2 (S.D.N.Y., Aug. 26,
1999) (Preska, J.) PSE argued that the award of the Shortfall Penalty amounts should be
reversed, because the Penalty did not constitute a tariffed rate, but rather an arbitrator’s
award. PSE cited precedent asserting that courts could reverse arbitration awards if they
violated established public policy, and cited numerous court cases finding that the
payment of penalties violated public policy. /d. at 4-5. The Court rejected this argument,
however, finding that the Shortfall Penalty was a tariffed rate, and its payment was
compelled by the filed rate doctrine. Id. at 5. Judge Preska found that, “under the filed
rate doctrine, courts must give effect to a tariff provision unless it has been found to
violate the [Communications] Act. . . . Accordingly, because neither party has brought to
this Court’s attention a ruling by the FCC declaring the filed tariff unreasonable, I
presume, for purposes of this decision, that the tariff is reasonable and has the force of
law.” Id.

In the case at bar, AT&T has cited no FCC precedent to support its allegations
that the services provided by Plaintiffs were incorrectly classified as “access” service,
much less presented an FCC ruling that Plaintiffs’ tariffs are unreasonable. And no such
precedent exists. To the contrary, the FCC has on no fewer than four occasions rejected
arguments that chatline and conference services identical to the services provided by
Plaintiffs violate the Communications Act. Three of these rulings rejected formal
complaints brought by AT&T against rural LECs that provided conference and chat

services. AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Co., 16 FCC Red 16130 (2001); AT&T

10
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Corp. v. Frontier Communications of Mt. Pulaski, Inc., 17 FCC Red 4041 (2002); AT&T
v. Beehive Telephone Co., 17 FCC Rcd 11641 (2002). Copies of these FCC decisions are
appended to this Memorandum as Exhibits 1, 2 and 3, respectively.

The FCC’s most recent decision in this line of cases was issued last October in

Qwest Communications Corporation v. Farmers & Merchants Mutual Telephone
Company, 22 FCC Red 17973 (Oct. 2, 2007). AT&T brought that decision to the Court’s
attention in a letter filed on January 4, 2008, because that FCC decision “pertain[ed] to
the traffic pumping schemes that underlie both these cases [including the case at bar] and
the Towa cases.” In Qwest v. Farmers, Qwest filed a formal complaint, asking the FCC to
find that “traffic pumping schemes” — in which a rural LEC partnered with conference
and chat operators in order to generate access traffic, and access revenues — and paid the
conference and chat operators a commission based on these access revenues, violated the
Communications Act. The FCC rejected all of Qwest’s arguments, finding:

* “Farmers did not violate Sections 203 or 201(b) of the Act by imposing
terminating access charges on traffic bound for conference calling
companies.” Id. at 4 30.

* “Qwest argues that traffic delivered to the conference calling companies does
not terminate . . . [w]e find, however, that Farmers does terminate the traffic at
issue....” Id

¢ “Qwest also argues that Farmers’ tariff does not allow Farmers to assess
terminating access charges on calls to the conference calling companies. . . .
The record indicates, however, that the conference calling companies are end
users as defined in the tariff, and we therefore find that Farmers’ access
charges have been imposed in accordance with its tariff” Id. at 935
(emphasis in original).

* “We find that Farmers’ payment of marketing fees to the conference calling
companies does not affect their status as customers, and thus end users, for
purposes of Farmers® tariff. . . . The question of whether the conference

calling companies paid Farmers more than Farmers paid them is thus
irrelevant to their status as end users.” Id. at q 38.

11
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* “Qwest has failed to prove that the conference calling company-bound calls
do not terminate in Farmers’ exchange, and has failed to prove that Farmers’
imposition of terminating access charges is inconsistent with its tariff.” Id. at
q39.

The FCC did find that Farmers & Merchants exceeded its allowed maximum rate
of return. This decision is irrelevant to the case at bar, however, because Plaintiffs are
competitive LECs, not incumbent LECs, and so are not subject to rate of return
regulation. Qwest has sought reconsideration of the FCC’s ruling, on the grounds that
Farmers did not disclose relevant information during discovery, and that reconsideration
process remains pending. A copy of the Qwest v. Farmers decision is appended to this
Memorandum as Exhibit 4.

The FCC decisions cited above are dispositive of the legality of Plaintiff’s
conduct. However, they need not be dispositive to overcome AT&T’s claims. Rather,
the existence of four FCC decisions relating to issues virtually identical to those raised in
the instant case, demonstrate that Plaintiff’s conduct is fully consistent with the
Communications Act. This precedent is submitted to this Court, not to prove the legality
of Plaintiffs” conduct, but to demonstrate that AT&T has failed to produce any FCC
decisions that support its claims that Plaintiff’s conduct is unlawful and that Plaintiffs’
tariffed rates are inapplicable. This is not an oversight on AT&T’s part. Defendant

cannot provide precedential support for its arguments because none exists — all of the

existing FCC precedent has been decided against AT&T’s position.
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III.  AT&T’S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIMS FAIL TO
RAISE ANY JUSTICIABLE ISSUES OF FACT, OR ANY ACTIONABLE
CLAIMS

A. AT&T’S COUNTERCLAIMS FAIL TO PRESENT FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CLAIM FOR RELIEF — ITS ARGUMENTS ARE
MERE ASSERTIONS OF LEGAL CONCLUSIONS

All of the arguments and counterclaims in AT&T’s Answer rely on one assertion
— the services provided by Plaintiffs, and taken by AT&T, do not constitute “access
service” as defined by Plaintiffs’ tariffs, FCC rules, and the Communications Act, and so
Plaintiffs cannot bill access charges. This assertion is not factual — it is an obvious
attempt to recast a legal conclusion as a factual question for the sole purpose of evading
the filed rate doctrine. AT&T tries to make its arguments sound like they raise issues of
fact, but they do not — they are all summary legal conclusions.

AT&T does not cite a single FCC decision to support its assertions that Plaintiffs
have violated any provision of the Communications Act. Instead, it merely quotes
passages from the Act, and asserts that Plaintiff’s behavior violates it. However, without
reference to decisions by the expert agency — the FCC — or a court, AT&T’s arguments
are baseless legal conclusions asserting its interpretation of the statute.

The Courts have found that such conclusory legal statements cannot support a
claim for relief. The most recent and definitive statement of the law is found in Bell
Atlantic Corporation v. William Twombly,  U.S. ;127 S. Ct. 1955 (2007). In the
Twombly case, the Supreme Court reviewed at length the standards for addressing the
“question of what a plaintiff must plead in order to state a claim under § 1 of the Sherman
Act” sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). Id. at 1964. The
Court found that “a plaintiff’s obligation . . . requires more than labels and conclusions
... 1d. at 1965 (citing Sanjuan v. American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, Inc.,
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40 F.3d 247, 251 (7th Cir. 1994)). “[O]n a motion to dismiss, courts ‘are not bound to
accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.” Id. (citing Papasan v.
Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)). “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to
relief above the speculative level.” Id. (citing 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice
and Procedure § 1216, pp. 235-236 (3d ed. 2004)).

The Twombly standard has been adopted by the Second Circuit in reviewing
12(b)(6) motions in cases outside of antitrust. “To survive dismissal, the plaintiff must
provide the grounds upon which his claim rests through factual allegations sufficient “to
raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”” ATSI Communications, Inc. v. The
Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87 (2™ Cir. 2007) (citing Twombley, 127 S. Ct. at 1969).

Below, Plaintiffs prove that the arguments raised by AT&T in its Answer and
counterclaims present no triable questions of fact, and instead simply assert baseless legal
conclusions that are inadequate to support counterclaims against Plaintiffs.

B. AT&T’S COUNTERCLAIMS DO NOT RAISE ANY TRIABLE ISSUES OF FACT

Pursuant to the standards enunciated in Holm v. Malmberg and related cases,
below, Plaintiffs present AT&T’s “factual” assertions as if they were presumed correct,
and draws all inferences in favor of AT&T:

* Plaintiffs exist for the sole purpose of generating large volumes of conference

and chat traffic, and provide no services to regular residential telephone
customers. Answer, Y 16.

* All of these chat and conference services are “free” — meaning that callers do
not pay a charge for them, and the only revenues from the services come from
access charges billed to AT&T and other long distance carriers. Answer,
M 18, 28.

¢ Plaintiffs access charges are exorbitant — much higher than those charge by
other local telephone companies. Answer, 9126, 28.
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¢ Plaintiffs partner with “Website Companies™ and others that generate massive
volumes of chat and conference traffic. These include pornographic chat
lines. Plaintiffs use “simple telecommunications equipment” to set up
conference and chat bridges. Plaintiffs enter into contracts with website
companies, chat and conference service operators. Plaintiffs assign telephone
numbers to them, and share access revenues with them. Answer, 9727, 67
(Count VI).

¢ Plaintiffs charge the same access charges for chat and conference services that
other carriers charge for traditional telephone service to rural residential
customers. Answer, Y 28.

Assuming that all of the above assertions by AT&T are proven in discovery, and
placed before a jury, what would they prove? Is a jury going to determine whether
Plaintiff’s telephone networks are functionally equivalent to those of other carriers? That
Plaintiffs fail to provide “all elements” of an access service? That access charges cannot
be imposed on traffic that carriers pornographic conversations? That Plaintifts are
prohibited from paying a share of the access revenues they collect to conference and
chatline operators?

Of course, these are rhetorical questions. The issues presented by AT&T present
highly technical matters of telecommunications engineering and public policy that must
be addressed by the expert regulatory agency. Moreover, the line of questioning
proposed by AT&T cannot be undertaken by the court, because AT&T’s sole purpose in
presenting these “questions” is to have the court void Plaintiff’s tariffed rates, and the
Court cannot do so.

A jury, and this Court, are not competent to determine such highly technical
matters of telecommunications engineering, ratemaking and policy. These clearly are
questions for the expert agency — the FCC — to determine. And in fact, the FCC has
already ruled dispositively on the legality of collecting access charges for chatline and

conference services. As discussed in Section II(¢)(4), above, the FCC has issued its
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decision in Qwest v. Farmers & Merchants, and is currently considering Qwest’s petition
for review of that decision. By its letter to the Court dated January 4, 2008, AT&T
acknowledges that this case is directly relevant to the issues in the case at bar.

In addition, at the behest of AT&T and other long distance carriers, the FCC
initiated Wireline Competition Bureau Docket 07-135 to consider whether it should, on a
prospective basis, make changes to its existing rules concerning how access rates are
computed, and whether it should impose any restrictions on LECs’ provision of
conferencing or chatline services. That proceeding was created expressly to consider
exactly the issues that AT&T’s counterclaims and affirmative defenses bring before this
Court.

AT&T is an active participant in FCC’s Docket 07-135. E.g., Comments of
AT&T Inc., FCC, WC Docket No. 07-135, filed December 17, 2007. A copy of
AT&T’s initial Comments in Docket 07-135 is attached as Exhibit 5. In fact, in that
proceeding, AT&T takes positions that are directly contrary to the arguments it makes
before this court. Specifically, while the gravamen of AT&T’s counterclaims in the
instant case is its assertion that Plaintiffs’ service is not “access service,” and so tariffed
access rates cannot apply, AT&T’s comments to the FCC freely acknowledge that
services to conference and chatline operators is access traffic (Comments, pp. 8 -10, 12,
17 and passim). Indeed, this fact underlies all of AT&T’s requests for relief from the
FCC. AT&T asks the FCC to establish new rules that prescribe rate levels for CLEC
access services (Comments, pp. 20, 29), set maximum levels of growth in volumes for
their access services (Comments, pp. 20, 28), and require detailed reporting of “access

minutes” and “access revenues” (Comments, pp. 20, 21) in order to protect AT&T from

16
WCSR 3843726v3



precisely the type of “traffic pumping” it describes to this Court. AT&T’s comments are
similar to those filed by the dozens of parties who are active in FCC Docket 07-135 —
including both long distance carriers and LECs: these commentors take for granted that
the services described as “traffic pumping” services that carry chat and conference traffic
are all access services, subject to tariffed access charges. These comments belie AT&T’s
assertions before this Court. Moreover, these comments prove that the FCC has
considered, or is currently considering, all of the questions that AT&T is attempting to
bring before this Court, that such questions raise highly technical issues of
telecommunications technology and policy that must be addressed by the expert

regulatory body, and that the resolution of these questions inescapably affects tariffed

rates.

Finally, if a jury were to consider these issues, the only form of relief that AT&T
seeks is based on a jury finding that Plaintiffs’ tariffed access rates do not apply to the
services that Plaintiffs provided and that AT&T took. The jury would be determining
that some other rate — or perhaps no rate at all — should apply instead. As discussed
under Section II above, the filed rate doctrine prohibits a jury from considering such
matters, and prevents this Court from awarding the relief sought by AT&T.

C. THE OTHER ASSERTIONS IN AT&T’S COUNTS AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

ARE UNFOUNDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND DO NOT RAISE ANY
TRIABLE [SSUES OF FACT

The remaining assertions in AT&T’s counterclaims are unequivocally conclusions
of law, and do not allow of any factual analysis. AT&T does not cite any FCC decision
or court case in support of any of these assertions:

e The conference, chat and international calls do not terminate in Plaintiff’s
service areas. Answer, Counts I and II, 99 32, 39.
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» Plaintiffs do not provide “the elements of switched access service.” Answer,
Count I, 9 32.

e The Plaintiff’s local networks are not functionally equivalent to the local
networks of carriers that provide primarily traditional, residential telephone
service. Answer, Count I, § 32.

¢ Because Plaintiffs’ services are not “access service” they cannot charge
tariffed “access rates.” Answer, Count II, 49 40.

¢ It is a violation of § 201 of the Communications Act to form a CLEC solely
for the purpose of generating massive volumes of chat and conference
services. Answer, Count II, 9 42.

e “Retention of [access charges by Plaintiffs] would be unjust because, inter
alia, AT&T did not receive the access services for which it is being billed.”
Answer, Count IV,  56.

¢ Plaintiffs’ access bills contain false information because they bill AT&T for
access charges, but Plaintiffs’ did not provide access service. Answer, Count
V, 9 60; Count V1, 4 68; Count VIL, 9 74.

These statements are legal conclusions on their face, and do not raise triable issues of

fact.

For the reasons discussed above, AT&T’s Answer raises no triable issues of fact.
Under the standard established in Twombly and related cases, the AT&T counterclaims
should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim, and Plaintiff’s
motion for judgment on the pleadings should be granted.

IV.  AT&T HAS OFFERED NO DEFENSE OF ITS UNLAWFUL SELF-HELP
IN REFUSING TO PAY PLAINTIFF’S TARIFFED ACCESS CHARGES

As Plaintiffs demonstrated in their Complaint, AT&T’s self-help campaign of
withholding payment of access charges to Plaintiffs is unquestionably unlawful. Parties
cannot take the law into their own hands and simply refuse to pay for services they have
taken from a carrier — such action constitutes unlawful self-help, and violates §§ 201(b)

and 203(c) of the Communications Act. E.g., MGC Communications, Inc. v. AT&T Corp,
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14 FCC Red 11647 (1999) (§ 201(b) violation); MCI Telecommunications Corp.,
American Telephone and Telegraph Co. and the Pacific Telephone and Telegraph Co.,
62 FCC 2d 703 (1976)(§ 203(c) violation). Rather, if a carrier has a dispute against a
tariffed rate, it must pay that rate while pursuing a complaint before the FCC or other
appropriate regulatory body. Complaint, § 24 (citing Marcus v. AT&T Corp., 138 F.3d
46, 58 (24 Cir. 1998)); Complaint, §§ 27-34 (citing, inter alia, MGC Communications,
Inc. v. AT&T Corp., 15 FCC Red. 308 (1999)). “The proper way for an IXC to challenge
a LEC’s [rate] is to initiate a Section 208 [complaint] proceeding at the Commission.”
Bell Atlantic — Delaware v. Frontier Communications Services, Inc. 15 FCC Red 7475,
19 (2000).

In its Answer, AT&T admits that it has refused to pay the access charges invoiced
by all three Plaintiffs. Answer, Y42, 52, 59. AT&T attempts to justify this action solely
by asserting — without citing any authority — that Plaintiffs’ services cannot be defined as
“access services.” Answer, 741, 42. AT&T completely ignores Plaintiff’s
demonstration that AT&T’s refusal to pay the invoiced access charges constitutes
unlawful self-help, which violates Sections 201(b) and 203(c) of the Communications
Act. Complaint, Y 27-36, 43-62.

AT&T raises no justifiable questions of fact in answer to Plaintiff’s Complaint. It
does not assert that Plaintiffs’ tariffs were invalid, that it did not take service from
Plaintiffs, or that Plaintiffs’ invoices were inaccurate. Instead, it simply asserts — without
any support — that it is not obligated to pay Plaintiffs’ tariffed rates because the services it
took from Plaintiffs do not constitute “access services.” As Plaintiffs demonstrate above,

Plaintiffs’ tariffs are valid and enforceable as a matter of law, and AT&T cannot contest
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the definitional characterization of their services before this Court. As a result, AT&T
has presented no legally cognizable defense to Plaintiffs claims, and Plaintiffs are entitled
to an award of the damages they have claimed. Specifically, Plaintiffs are entitled to an
immediate award of the amounts of unpaid access charges identified in their Complaint:
$2,025,470.80 for All American (Complaint, § 49); $57,189.85 for ChaseCom
(Complaint, § 55); and $193,009.86 for e-Pinnacle (Complaint, 4 62). AT&T has not
contested these fees, and has admitted nonpayment. The remainder of Plaintifts’
damages should be determined at hearing at the earliest practicable opportunity.

At the time Plaintiffs filed their complaint, AT&T had completely ceased making
any payments to Plaintiffs for a period of nine months. AT&T has continued its practice
of self-help uninterrupted since that time. Currently, AT&T has not made any payments
of any access charges to Plaintiffs for a period of 23 months. The interests of justice
require an award of damages to Plaintiffs at the earliest practicable date.

V. CONCLUSION: PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT ON

AT&T’S LIABILITY FOR VIOLATION OF THE COMMUNICATIONS
ACT, AND AN AWARD OF THEIR REQUESTED DAMAGES

For the reasons discussed above, Plaintiffs are entitled to a judgment on the
pleadings, finding that AT&T has violated the Communications Act by conducting a self-
help campaign of refusing to pay invoiced access charges, and awarding the following
damages.

¢ An immediate award of the unpaid access charges specified in the Complaint.
Complaint, 9 49, 55, 62. Counts I, II, IIL

e An award of amounts withheld by AT&T since the filing of the Complaint, to
be determined at a subsequent hearing. Count I.

¢ A finding of liability — that AT&T’s self-help violates §§ 201 and 203 of the
Communications Act. Counts II and III.
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* Punitive damages, to be determined at a subsequent hearing. Counts I, II1.

* Attorneys’ fees, to be determined at a subsequent hearing. Counts IT and IIL

¢ Consequential damages, to be determined at a subsequent hearing.

Complaint, p. 20.

¢ Prelimipary and permanent injunction barring continued self-help. Complaint

p. 21.

Plaintiffs are also entitled to a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal of AT&T’s counterclaims on the

grounds that AT&T has not stated a claim on which relief can be granted.

For the reasons discussed above, Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment on the

pleadings on liability, and an immediate award of amounts of unpaid access charges due

at the time their Complaint was filed, and dismissal of AT&T’s counterclaims. Plaintiffs

3

will seek to schedule proceedings at the earliest practicable date to determine the amounts

of the remaining damages.

Dated: March 14, 2008
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Before the
FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of

AT&T Corporation,
Complainant,

File No. E-97-07

V.

Jefferson Telephone Company,

Dcfendant.
MEMORANDUM OFINION AND ORDER
Adopted: August 24, 2001 Released: August 31, 2001
By the Commission:
1. INTRODUCTION

1. In this Memorandum Opinion and Order (“Ordexr™), we deny a formal complaint
filed by AT&T Corporation (*AT&T”) against Jefferson Telepbone Company (“Jefferson™)
pursuant to section 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (“Aet” or
“Communications Act”)." AT&T challenges the lawfulness of an access revenue-sharing
arrangement that Jefferson entered into with an information provider to which Jefferson
terminated traffic. On the basis of the facts and arguments presented in this record, we conclude
that AT&T has failed to meet its burden of demonstrating that Jefferson (1) engaged in
discrimination prohibited by section 202(a) of the Act,? or (ji) violated section 201(b) of the Act’
by breaching its duty as a common carrier 1o serve, in AT&T's words, as an “objective conduit”
of communications services. Accordingly, we deny AT&T’s complaint.*

! 470.5.C. §208.

? 47U.S.C. § 202(a).

' 47U.S.C. § 201(b).

‘ See generally Hi-Tech Furnace Systems, Inc. v. FCC, 224 F.3d 781, 787 (D.C. Cir. 2000)

(afTirming that the burden of proof is on the complainant in a proceeding conducted under 47 U S.C. § 208).
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1. BACKGROUND

2. At allrelevant times, Jefferson was an incumbent local exchange carrier (“LEC”)
located in Jefferson, Jowa that served approximately 3,400 access lines.” Jefferson provided local
exchange service to end user customers, and onginating and terminating exchange access SeTvices
10 AT&T and other imerexchangecarriers (“IXCs™). During 1994 and 1995, Jefferson charged
IXCs access rates sp#ciﬁed by the National Exchange Carrier Association (“NECA™) pursuant 1o a
tariff filed at the Cm@sion’

3. During the period at issue in this dispute, one of Jefferson’s end-user customers was
an information provider called International Audiotext Network (“IAN™).* AN provided its
customers a kind of multiple voice bridging service commonly known as “chat-line” service. This
service connects incoming calls so that two or more callers can talk with each other
simultaneously.’ This differs from traditional conference call service in that callers to the chat
line are randomly paired with other callers. In addition, unlike many chat-line operators, IAN
did not impose any charges on callers. Instead, IAN obtained all of its revenues from Jefferson,

s AT& T)Cr)rp. v. Jefferson Telephone Comparny, Complaint, File No. E-97-07 (filed Dec. 23, 1996)
at 2,14 (“Complaint™); A7& T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Company, Answer of Jefferson Telephone Company,
File No, E-97-07 (filed Fcb. 18, 1997) at ), 14 (“Answer™), AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Company, Initial
Brief of AT&T Corp., File No. E-97-07 (filed Oct. 31, 1997) at | (“AT&T Brief"). Jefferson claims that it was a
connecting carricr within the meaning of section 2(b)(2) of the Act. Jefferson Brief a1 3-4, citing 47U.S.C. §
I152(bX2). Section 2(b)2) of the Act provides, in pertinent part: “[N]othing in the Act shall be construed to apply
or to give the Commission jurisdiction with respect 10 . . . any carrier engaged in interstate or foreign
communication solely throngh physical copnection with the facilities of another carrier . . ., cxeept that sections 201
through 205 of this Act, both inclusive, shall . . . apply to [such) carriers . .. " 47 U.S.C. § 152(bX2). Jefferson
asserts that it is engaged in intcrstate communication solely through physical connection with other carriers, so section
2(bX(2) immunizes it from complaints filed pursuant to section 208 of the Act; in Jefferson’s view, only sections 201
through 205 of the Act apply 1o it, and not section 208. Jefferson Brief at 3-4, citing Comtronics, Inc. v. Puerto Rico
Telephone Co., 553 F.2d 701, 704-07 (1* Cir. 1977). The Commission has consistently rejected this interpretation
of section 2(bX2) of the Act, and held that section 208 applies even to connecting carriers. See, e.g., Com Services,
inc. v. The Murraysville Yelephone Co., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 100 FCC 2d 210, 217, 16 (19835), TP/
Transmission Services. Inc. v. Puerto Rico Telephone Co., Memoradum Opinion and Order, 4 FCC Red 2246,
2248 n.19 (Com. Car. Bur. 1989)(both declining 1o follow Comironics, and relying on Ward v. Northern Ohio
Telephone Co., 300 F 2d 816, 819-21 (6* Cix. 1962), instead). Accordingly, even assuming, arguendo, that
Jefferson was a “connecting carvier” under section 2(b)2) of the Act, we reject Jefferson's assertion that it is
immune from complaints filed pursuant to scction 208,

[

Compiaint at 2, §4: Answer at |, 14.

? Complpint at 2,4 5; Answer at 1, 'Y 5, AT&T Brief at |; AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone
Compoany, Initial Brief of Jefferson Telephone Company, File No. E-97-07 (filed Oct. 31, 1997) at 2 (“Jefferson
Bricf). The applicable NECA rate for terminating access service at that timne was between 3.06 and $.07 per minute.
Complaintat 2, 1 5; Answer at 1, §5.

' AT&T Brief at 2, Ex. 2; Jefferson Bricfat 1-2.
* Complaint at 3, § 6 n.1; Answer at 1-2, §6; AT&T Brief at 3; Jefferson Brief at 2.
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as described below. Thus callers to IAN paid only their designated IXC for the calls, and paid
only the TXC’s tanﬂ’pd long-distance toll charges. '’

4. Dhurin g the time period at issue here, a long distance call by an AT&T subscriber
to IAN was first routed to the subscriber’s local iclephone company. Next, the call was routed to
AT&T, which transported the call across AT&T's long distance network. AT&T then handed
the call 10 Jefferson Lt:le “terminating access provider”). As the “terminating access provider,”
Jefferson routed the call to its end-user customer, IAN." Jefferson then billed AT&T for
terminating access services at the tariffed rate.”

5. Towards the end of 1992, Jefferson entered an agreement with IAN whereby
Jefferson would make payments to IAN based on the amount of access revenues that Jefferson
received for terminating calls to IAN." In return, IAN would market and otherwise aid the chat-
line operations.” As mentioned above, the payments that Jefferson paid to TAN based on
terminating access revenues constituted IAN’s only source of revenue."” On July 31, 1995, the
agreement betwcen Jefferson and the chat line ended "

6. In Déccmber 1996, AT&T filed the instant complaint." According 1o AT&T,

* Complmm at 3,9 6; Answer at 2, 'Y 6, Jefferson Brief st 2; AT&T Briefat 3. See Jefferson Brief
at Exhibit 1, Declaration of James L.. Daubendick, at 2-3, 1 6 (“Daubendiek Declaration”) (stating that “[t}be caller
paid the tanﬁ‘ed long-dlhanoc rates pssessed by whichever interexchange carrier the caller chose to use.”).

" See nerally Total Telecommunications Services, Inc., and Atlas Telephone Company, Inc. v.
AT&T Corp., Memorandum Opinion and Order, FCC 01-84, 16 FCC Red 5726, 5729, 1 6 (2001).

” Complaint at 4, § 8. AT&T Brief at 4 Jefferson Brief at 2; Danbendiek Declaration at 2-3, § 6.

" Complaint at 2-3, § 6; Answer at 2, 1 6: AT&T Brief at 1-2; Jefferson Brief at 2. See Daubendiek
Declaration at 2, 9 5.

" See AT&T Brief at Confidential Exhibit 4, paragraph 2, detailing the obligations of JAN pursvant
to the agreement between Jefferson and IAN_ In a lenter dated June 11, 2001, Jefferson explicitly granted the
Commission permission to discuss publicly this section of the agreement. See AT& T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone
Company, Letter from James U. Troup and James H. Lister, Counsel for Jefferson Telephone Co., 1o Warren
Firschein, Anorney, Enforcement Bureau, FCC, File No. E-97-07 (dated June 11, 2001).

1 This arrangement stimuiated traffic and boosted Jefferson’s taminating access revenues. While
the aprangement was in placc. Jefferson terminated as much as 2,000,000 minutcs per month, whereas afier the
armmgement cnded, Jefferson terminated about 130,000 minutes per month. Complaint at 3-4,9 7; Answerat 2, §7;
AT&T Bricf at 4; AT&T Bricf at Ex. 9, AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Company, Defendant’s Response to
AT&T Corp.’s First Set of Interrogatories, File No. E-97-07 (filed Apr. 21, 1997), Response 1o Imerrogatory No. 4.

e Jefferson Brief at 1; Daubendiek Declaration at 2, 1 4.

” Jeferson argues that AT&T s claims are time-baned because AT& T knew or should have known
of Jefferson’s revenue-sharing arrangement with LAN more than two years prior to the filing of the complaint,
AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Company, Reply Brief of Jeffesson Telephone Company, File No, E-97-07
(filed Nov. 7, 1997) at 3-4 (“lefferson Reply™). See 47 U.S.C. § 415(a) (providing that an action 10 recover charges
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Jefferson’s access revenue-sharing arrangement with IAN violated section 201(b) by
contravening the “basic principle of common carriage” that a carricr may only serve as an
objective conduit of communications service, “without influenc(ing] or controlfling] . . . the
destination of a customer’s calls within its authorized service area.”'* Such contravention
occurred, in AT&T s view, because Jefferson “acquired a direct interest in promoting the )
delivery of calls to specific tclephone numbers for the provision of a specific communication.
AT&T also contends that Jefferson’s access revenue-sharing arrangement with IAN
discrimipated against Jefferson’s other end user customers, in violation of section 202(a),
becausc the arrangement “caused access revenues, which are intended to cover Jefferson’s
legitimate costs of service and its ability to maintain high quality service in the areas in which it
operates, to be directed elsewhere.™ AT&T requests an order (i) declaring that Jefferson’s
access revenue-sharing arrangement with IAN was unlawful, and (it) awarding damages in the
amount of the access fees that AT&T paid for calls to IAN, with interest.”

ni®

IMn. DISCUSSION

Al AT&T Has Not Demonstrated that the Access Revenue-Sharing Arrangement
Between Jefferson and 1AN Violated Section 201(b) of the Act by Breaching
Jefferson’s Duty as 8 Common Carrier.

must be initiated within two years from the time the cause of action accrues). In support of jts argument, Jefferson
relies solely on the fact that AT&T appended 1o its Initial Brief a newspaper anticle from the Szn Diego Union-
Tribune dated November 14, 1994 that describes the revenue-sharing amangement. Jefferson Reply at 3. See
AT&T Brief st Ex_ 2. Thus, according to Jefferson, “the window of opportunity to file a complaint closed on
November 14, 1996.” Jefferson Reply a1 3. We disagree. Just because AT&T submitted the newspaper article in
this record does not demonstrate that an AT&T representative read the article af the time it was published. Without
morc, it would be equally reasonable to conclude that AT&T first learned of the article in the course of prosecuting
this case. Thus, the record does not support a conclusion that AT&T's claims are time-barred.

" Complaint at 4,7 10. See id, at 4-6, §§ 1)-16. AT&T ssserts this claim in two substantively
identical causes of action (Counts One and Two), which we consider collectively. In its Initial Brief, AT&T
cursorily maintains for the first time that the revenue-sharing arrangement between Jefferson and IAN also violated
section 20§(b) by “evading the requirements™ of section 228 of the Act, 47 U.5.C. § 228, known 2s the Telephone
Disclosure and Dispute Resolution Act (“TDDRAT™). AT&T Brief a1 15-17. AT&T failed to raise this issue in its
Complaint, however. Therefore, the record provides an inadequate basis on which 1o assess the merits of this
potentially challenging argument. See, e.g., Consumer.Net v. AT&T Corp., Order, 15 FCC Red 281, 300, § 40 n.93
(1999) (declining 10 consider an argument raised for the first time in the briefs); Building Owners and Managers
Association International v. FCC, — F.3d — , 2001 WL 754910, n.14 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (declining to address an
issue raised cursorily in the bricf). Accordingly, we decline to address this issue, and restrict our discussion of
section 201(b) to ATAT's “common carriage” claim.

" Complaint at 4, § 11. See id. at 4-6, 7] 11+16.
x Complaint at 7, 1 20. See id, at 6-7, 1Y 18-2).
# Complgint at 7-8.
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7. According to AT&T, there are “two essential prerequisites” for common
carriage.” First, a common carrier must “hold] ] itself out to serve indifferently with regard to
the service in q\.lcstjpn.”” Second, a common carrier must “atlow] ] customers to transmit
intelligence of their own design and choosing.”™* AT&T maintains that Jefferson violated the
first of these fundamental principles (and, thus, section 201(b)) when it entered into the revenue-
sharing arrangement with LAN and acquired a direct economic interest in terminating traffic to
g e

8. We agree with AT&T's general description of the fundamentals of common
carriage.” We disagree with AT&T, however, that Jefferson violated the first of those
fundamentals when it entered the revenue-sharing agreement with JAN.

9. AT&T alieges that Jefferson violated the “indifference” requirement of common
carmiage, because the revenue-sharing arrangement with IAN “caused Jefferson to have a direct,
and greater, economic interest in delivering calls to one set of destination telephone nurubers in
its service area than to other destination numbers.™” In AT&T’s view, “it became Jefferson’s
prevogative, pursuant to the agreement, to transmit calls to IAN as opposed to transmitting calls
to other destinations in its territory.”™

10.  AT&T mischaracterizes the “indifference” requirement as tuming on a carrier’s
motive for providing service to a particular customer. This requirement hinges not on such
intent, but rather on the carrier’s conduct in actually serving customers. The critical inquiry is
whether a carrier makes ad hoc determinations about the provision of service to particular

z AT&T Brief at 7-15. See Complaint at 4-5, 1Y 10-12; ATAT Reply at 5-8.

n AT&T Bricf at 7, relying on Southwestern Bell Telephone Co. v. FCC. 19 ¥.3d 1475, 1479 (D.C.
Cir. 1994), Nationai A.rsn of Regulatory Unility Commissioners v. FCC, 533 F.2d 601, 608-09 (D.C. Cir. 1976);
National Ass 'n of Regulatary Utility Commissioners v. FCC, 525 F24d 630, 641-42 (D.C. Cir. 1976).

» ATE&T Brief at 7;8, relying on Southn n Bell Telephone Co. v. FCC, 19 F.3d at 1480; NARUC
v. FCC, 525 F.2d at 640-42_

» Complaint at 4-5, Y 10-13; AT&T Brief at 7-15; AT&T Reply a1 5-9; AT& T Corp. v. Jefferson
Telephone Company, Opposition 1o Motion to Dismiss, File No. E-97-07 (filed Mar. 5, 1997) at 3-4 (“Opposition to
Motion to Dismiss”).

» See Southwestern Bell v. FCC, 19 F.3d st 1480-81 (stating that, “[i}f the carrier chooses its clients
on an individualized basis and determines in cach particular case ‘whether and on what terms 1o serve’ and there is
no specific regulatory compulsion to serve all indifferently, the entry is a private carrier for that particular service.”).
See also NARUC v. FCC, 525 F.2d at 640-42.

z AT&T Brief at 5. See Complaint at 5, 12.

" AT&T Briefat 9. See Complaint at 4.5, 9Y 10-13; AT& T Brief at 7-15; AT&T Reply at 5-9;
Opposition 1o Motion o Dismiss at 3-4.
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customers.® Stated anpther way, “a carrier will not be a common carrier where its practice is to
make individualized decisions in particular cases whether and on what terms to serve.”™ Thus,
as Jefferson asserts, the crux of the ‘indifference’ inquiry is the manoer in which service is
offered to customers, not the carrier’s interest in increasing the traffic carried on its netwo M
As long as a carrier provides scrvice indifferently and indiscriminately to all who request it, the
first prong of the common carriage test is satisfied.

11. Then does not demonstrate that Jefferson failed to remain appropriately
“indifferent” as a co carrier, notwithstanding its access revenue-sharing arrangement with
IAN. In particular, the record contains no cvidence that Jefferson ever made any individualized
decisions in specific|cases conceming whether and on what terms to provide interstatc access
services. Jefferson provided interstate access scrvice at the same rate to all IXCs who ordered it
pursuant 1o a tariff filed with the Commission. Moreover, Jefferson provided terminating
interstate access service with respect to calls placed to all of the telephone numbers in Jefferson’s
¢xchange, not just to those nurabers assigned to IAN. Finally, the record contains no indication
that Jefferson ever deliberatcly routed to IAN an intcrstate call intended for a differcnt end user.

12.  AT&T points to the fact that the agrecment between Jefferson and IAN required
1AN to engage in certain marketing practices, and required Jefferson to block certain Jocal calls
to IAN. These circumstances fall far short of giving Jefferson an unlawful interest in JIAN,
given that, as stated pbove, Jefferson provided interstate access services indifferently and
indiscriminately to all who requested them.

13.  We note that AT&T relies for support on a 1996 Notice of Proposed Rulemaking
and a 1995 advisory letter issued by the Chicf of the former Enforcement Division of the
Common Carrier Bureau.®® In the 1996 NPRM, the Commission sought comment on whether
the practice at issue at here “could be interpreted as not being just and reasonable under section
201(b).”™ The Marlowe Letter opined that an intemnational long distance carrier would violate
section 201(b) if it were to share with an information provider the toll revenues collected on cails

» See Southwesiern Bell v. FCC, 19 F.3d a1 1480-81; NARUC v. FCC, 533 F.2d at 608-09; NARUC
v. FCC, 525 F.2d at 641.

» NARUC v. FCC, 533 F.2d at 608-09. See NARUC v. FCC, 525 F.2d at 641 (stating that “1o be a

common cammicr one must hold oneself out indiscriminately to the clientele one s suited to serve ... 7).
n Jefferson Bricfat 7.
n See note 16, supra.
» Policies and Rules Governing Interstate Pay-Per-Call and Other Information Services Pursuant

10 the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Order and Notice of Proposed Rule Making, J | FCC Red 14738 (1996)
(“Pay-Per-Call NPRMY, Ronald J. Merlowe, 10 FCC Red 10945 (CCB-ED 1995), application for review pending
(“Mariowe Lener™).

M Pay-Per-Call NPRM, 11 FCC Red at 14752, § 41. See id at 14755-56, 7§ 47-48.
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10 the information provider. ™ Neither item persuades us here.* For the reasons set forth above,
based on the record in this case, in which AT&T argues that Jefferson’s access revenue-sharing
arrangement with IAN violated section 201(b) solely because it allegedly breaches common
carriage dutics, we conclude that AT&T has not met its burden of demonstrating that Jefferson’s
practice here is unjust and unreasonable. To the extent the former Enforcement Division's
advisory letter is inconsistent with our holding here, we overrule the Division’s letter.

14.  For these reasons, we find that AT&T has not demonstrated that Jefferson
violated its duty as a common carrier upon entering the revenue-sharing arrangement with IAN.
Accordingly, we deny Counts One and Two of the Complaint.”

B. AT&T Has Not Demonstrated that the Access Revenue-Sharing Arrangement
Between Jefferson and IAN Violated Section 202(a) of the Act.

15.  AT&T cursonily contends that Jefferson discriminated against its end users, in
violation of section 202(a) of the Act,*® by failing 1o use all of its access revenues to maintain its
network,” AT&T s contention fails to state a discrimination claim under section 202(a), because
AT&T fails to allege that Jefferson treated one customer differently from another.*” Notably,
AT&T fails to aliege either that (i) Jefferson offered a better deal 16 IAN than to other similarly
situated end-uscr customers, or (i) Jefferson treated one IXC differently than others in its
provision of interstate access services. AT&T simply argues that Jefferson’s network as a whole
could have been better, had Jefferson not shared revenues with IAN. Whatever claim this odd
argument may state, lit is not onc under section 202(a). Thus, we deny Count Three of AT&T’s

» See Marlowe Letter, 10 FCC Red at 10945.

% For example, the Marlowe Lenter suggested that, “[tJhrough payments to an information provider .
.., 8 carrier would abandon objectivity and acquire a direct interest in promoting the delivery of calls to s particular
number for the provision of a particular communication.” Marlowe Legter, 10 FCC Red at 10945, As described
above, we disagree. As long as a carrier does not make individualized decisions in specific cases conceming
whether and on what terms to provide service, a carrier does not abandon the requisite “objectivity” by sharing
reveniues with an information provider.

r We note that ATAT explicitly disavowed any claim that the terminating access rate charged by
Jefferson was unjust and|unreasonable under section 201(b). AT&T Brief at 12. We express no view on the
reasonableness of Jefferson’s rates.

» Section 202(a) of the Act makes it unlawful “for any common carricr 1o make any unjust of
unreasonable discrimination in charges, practices, . . . facilities, or services . . . or 10 make or give any undue or
vnrcasonable preference or advantage to any particular person.™ 47 U.S.C. § 202(a).

» Complaint a1 6-7, 37 17-21;, AT&T Brief st 17-19,

“© See generally PanAmSat Corp. v. COMSAT Corp., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 12 FCC
Red 6952, 6965, § 34 (1997); American Message Centers v. FCC, 50 F.3d 3§, 40 (D.C. Cir. 1995); Competitive
Telecommunications Association v. FCC, 998 F2d 1058, 1062 (D.C. Cir. 1993).
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Complaint :
! IV. CONCLUSION

16.  Althoughwe deny AT&T s complaint, we emphasize the narrownessof our holding
in this proceeding. We find simply that, based on the specific facts and arguments presented here,
AT&T has failed to demonstrate that Jefferson violated its duty as a common carrier or section
202(a) by entering into an access revenue-sharing agreement with an end-user information provider.
We express no view.on whether a different record could have demonstrated that the revenue-
sharing agreement at issue in this complaint (or other revenue-sharing agreements between LECs
and end user customers) ran afoul of sections 201(b), 202(a), or other staratory or regulatory
requirements.

V. ORDERING CLAUSES

i7.  ACCORDINGLY,IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(j), 4(j), 201, 202,
and 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(3), 154(j), 201,
202, and 208, that the above-captioned complaint filed by AT&T IS DENIED IN ITS ENTIRETY,
and this proceeding is TERMINATED WITH PREJUDICE.

18.  IT1S FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(i), 4()), 201, 202, and 208 of
the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), 154(j), 201, 202. and 208,
that Jefferson’s Motion to Dismiss (filed Fcbruary 18, 1997), Jefferson’s Motion to Compel {filed
May 6, 1997), and AT&T’s Motion to Compel (filed May 6, 1997) are DENIED.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

Magalie Roman Salas
Secretary

In light of all of the foregoing rulings, Jefferson's Motion to Dismiss, Jefferson’s Motion to
Compel, and ATRT’s Motion 1o Compe) arc denied as moot. ATLT Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Company,
Motion to Dismiss, File No. E-97-07 (filed Feb._ 18, 1997) (“Jeflerson’s Motion to Dismiss™); AT&T Corp. v
Jefferson Telephone Company, Motion to Compel, File No. E-97-07 (filed May 6, 1997) (“Jefferson’s Motion to
Compel”), AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Company, Motion 1o Comnpel. File No. E-97-07 (filed May 6, 1997)
(“AT&T's Motion to Compel™).

4
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Before the
FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of
AT&T Corporation,

Complainant,,

v. File No. E-96-36
Frontier Cornmunications of ML Pulaski, Inc.,
Frontier Commumications-Schuyler, Inc.,
Frontier Communications-Midland, Inc.,
Fronticr Telephone of Rochester, Inc., and
Global Crossing North America, Inc.,

S ' gt Sttt gt ot “at’ “upt et “wmpt ot “wgt’

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
Adopted: February 21, 2002 Released: February 27, 2002
By the Commission:

1. In this Memorandum Opinion and Order (“Order”), we deny a formal complaint
that AT&T Corporation (“AT&T™) filed against Frontier Communications of Mt. Pulaski, Inc.
(“Fronticr-MP”), Frontier Communications of Schuyler, Inc. (“Frontier-Schuyler™), Frontier
Communications-Midiand, Inc. (Frontier-Midland™), Frontier Telephone of Rochester, Inc.
(“Frontier Telcphonc™), and Global Crossing North Ametica, Inc. (“Global Crossing™)
(collectively, “Defendants™) pursuant to scction 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as
amended (“Act” or “Communications Act™).! AT&T alleges that access revenue-sharing
arrangements between Defendants and certain information providers to which Defendants
terminated raffic constituted unreasonable discrimination, in violation of section 202(a) of the

Act,” and breached Defendants’ common carrier duties, in violation of section 201(b) of the Act.

47U.8.C. § 208. AT&T Corp. v. Frontier Communications of Mi. Pulaski, Inc. et al., Verified
Complaint, File No. E-96-36 (filed July 15, 1996) (“Complaint™).

2 47U.5.C. §202(a). Section 202(a) of the Act makes it untawfuul “for any conmon carrier to make
any unjust or unreasonable discrimination in charges, practices, . . . facilities, or services for or in connection with
like communication service . . . or to make or give any undue of unreasonable preference or advantage to any
particular person.” 47 U S.C. § 202(a).
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The issues raised in this Complaint are identical to those raised and denied in AT&T Corp. v.
Jefferson Telephone Co? Thus, for the reasons explained theren, we conclude that AT&T has
failed to meet its burden of demonstrating that Defendants violated either section 202(a) or
section 201(b) of the Act,’ and therefore deny AT&T’s complaint in its entirety. Moreover, we
decline to reach three issues that AT&T raised for the first time in its briefs, because the tardy
raising of these issues renders the record insufficient to permit a reasoned decision.®

2 ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(i), 4(j), 201(b),
202(a), and 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(), 154(),
201(b), 202(a), and 208, that the above-captioned complaint filed by AT&T IS DENIED IN TS
ENTIRETY, and this proceeding is TERMINATED WITH PREJUDICE.

i IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(i), 4(). 201(b), 202(a), and
208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.8.C. §§ 151, 154(i), 154(j), 201(b),
202(a), and 208, that Frontier’s Motion to Dismiss, and Frontier’s Motion to Dismiss Supplement
to Verified Complaint are DISMISSED.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

William F. Caton
Acting Secretary

3 47 US.C. §201(b). Section 201(b) of the Act provides. in pertinent part, that “fa)ii .. . practices .
_in connection with such communication service shall be just and reasonable, and any such . .. practice . _. that is
unjust or unreasonable is hereby declared to be unlawful.” 47 U.S.C. §201(b).

¢ AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Co.. Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Red 16130
(2001) (“AT&T v. Jefferson™).

s See generally Hi-Tech Furnace Systems, Inc. v. FCC, 224 £.3d 781, 787 (D.C. Cir. 2000)
(affirming that the complainant in a proceeding conducted under section 208 of the Act bears the burden of proof).

¢ See, e.g.. AT&T v. Jefferson, 16 FCC Red at 16133 n.18; Consumer.Net v. AT&T Corp., Order,
15 FCC Red 281, 300, % 40 n.93 (1999) (declining to consider an argument raised for the first time in the briefs).
Cf., Building Owners and Managers Association International v. FCC, 254 F.3d 89,100 n_14 (D.C. Cir. 2001)
{declining to address an issue raised cursorily m the brief).
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Before the
FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of

AT&T Corporation,
Complainant,

File No. E-97-04

V.

Bechive Telephone Company, Inc.
and Beehive Telephone, Inc. Nevada,

Defendants.
-and -

Beehive Telephone Company, Inc.
and Beehive Telephane, Inc. Nevada,

Nt ot et Tt Sttt Nt Nt vttt gt s v’ vttt ‘vt st g e ' e gt s’

Complainants,
v. | } File No. E-97-14
AT&T Corp.,
Defendants.
MEMORANDUM OPINJON AND ORDER
Adopted: June 14, 2002 Released: June 20, 2002

By the Commission;
I. INTRODUCTION

1 Tn this Memorandum Opinion and Order (“Order”), we resolve two complaint
procecdings that we have consolidated for administrative convenience.! First, we grant in part

AT&T Corp. v. Bechive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, and Beehive
Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada v. ATS T Corp., Letter from Russell D. Lukas, Counse| for
Bechive Tetephone Co., to Thomas D. Wyatt, Associate Chief, Enforcement Division, Common Camier Burcau,
FCC, File Nos. E-97-04, E-97-14 (dated Jan. 21, 1998) (confurming that the parties agreed to the consolidation of
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and dismiss and deny in part a formal complaint that ATET Corporation (“AT&T") filed against
Beehive Telephone Company, Inc. and Beehive Telephone, Inc. Nevada (collectively, “Bechive”)
pursuant to section 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (“Act” or
“Communications Act”).’ Second, we dismiss and deny in its entm:ty a formal complaint that
Beehive filed against AT&T pursuant to section 208 of the Act?

2. In its complaint, AT&T alleges that Bechive exceeded its authonzcd rate of retumn
and engaged in various unlawful billing practices, in violation of sections 201(b)* and 203(c)’ of
the Act.® In addition, AT&T alleges that an access revenue-sharing arrangement between
Beehive and an information service provider to which Beehive terminated lmﬁic breached
Beehive’s common carrier duties, in violation of section 201(b) of the Act, and constituted
unreasonable discrimination, in violation of section 202(a) of the Act.® We grant AT&T’s claims
that Beehive violated section 203(c) of the Act by failing to comply with various billing -
requirements of Bechive’s effective tariff. We also grant AT&T's claims that Bechive violated
section 203(c) of the Act by failing to comply with its taniff’s requiremnents regarding billing
access charges based upon cal} attempts, but only as to liability and not as to damages. We
further grant AT&T"s claims that Bechive exceeded its authorized rate of return, but only as to
liability and not as 1o damages. Finally, on the basis of the facts and arguments presented in this
record, we deny AT&T’s claims regarding the access revenue-sharing arrangement between
Beehive and the information service provider, because AT&T has failed to meet its burden of
demonstrating that this arrangement violated either section 201(b) or section 202(a) of the Act.”

these complaint proceedings during a conference call held with Commission staff on January 9, 1998).

: 47 U.8.C. § 208. See AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone inc.
Nevada, Verified Complaint, File No. E-97-04 (filed October 29, 1996) (“AT&T Complaint™).

! AT&T Corp. v. Boehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone. Inc. Nevada, Cross
Complaint, File E-97- 14i(filed March 25, 1997) (“Bechive Complaint”).

! 47 U.8.C. § 201(b). Section 201(b) of the Act provides, in pertinent part, that “[a]il charges [and]
practices __ _in connection with such communication service shall be just and reasonable, and any such charge {or}
practice . . . that is unjust or unrcasonable is hereby declarcd 10 be unlawfu).” 47 U.8.C_ § 201(b).

i 47 U.5.C. § 203(c). Section 203(c) of the Act states that a carrier must provide communications
services in strict accordance with the 1erms and conditions contained in its tariff. 47 U.5.C. § 203(c).

i AT&T Complaint at 9-12, 1§ 28-47.

’ AT&T Complaint at 6-8, T} 16-23.

* 47 U.S.C. § 202(a). See AT&T Complaint at 8, ¥4 24-27. Section 202(a) of the Act makes it

unlawful “for any common carrier to make any unjust or unreasonable discrimination in charges, practices, . ..
facilitics, or services for or in connection with like communication service _ . . or to make or give any unduc or
unreasonable preference: or advantage to any particular person.” 47 US.C. § 202(a).

* See penerally Hi-Tech Furnoce Systems, Inc. v. FCC, 224 F .3d 781, 787 (D.C. Cir_ 2000)
{affirming that the complainant in a proceeding conducted under section 208 of the Act bears the burden of proof).
We also dismizs as moot AT&T's billing claims under section 201(b) of the Act, because they arc bascd on the same
facts, and seek the same relief, as the claims under section 203(c) that we gram.
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3 Inits coknplamt, Bechive alleges conditionally that, if (and only if) the
Commission grants AT&T’s claims that Beehive's access revenue-sharing arrangement was
uniawful, then the Commission must also grant Beehive's claims that certain of AT&T's billing
arrangements with customers violated sections 201(b), 203, and 228 (the Telephonc Dlsclosmc
and Dispute Resolution Act (“TDDRA™)) of the Act for precisely the same reasons.'” Beehive
also alleges that AT&T violated sections 1.17"' and 1.729(b)"? of the Commission’s rulcs by
failing to disclose certain information in the AT&T Complaint proceeding.'> Because we deny
AT&T’s claims that Bechive’s access revenue-sharing arrangement was unlawful, the condition
precedent pled by Beehive has not been satisfied, and thus we dismiss Bechive’s claims under
sections 201(b), 203, and 228 of the Act. In addition, we deny Beehive’s claims under sections
1.17 and 1.729(b) of the Commission’s rules, because Beehive has failed to meet its burden of
demonstrating that AT&T deliberately failed to disclose material information in the AT&T
Complaint proceeding.

II. BACKGROUND

4, At all relevant times, Beehive was an incumbent local exchanFe carrier (“LEC™)
located in rural Utahiand Nevada that served approximately 700 access lines.'* Beehive provided
local exchange service to end user customers, and exchange access services to AT&T and other

- interexchange carriers (“IXCS").'S

5. Priorto March 31, 1994, Beehive charged [XCs access rates at the levels
contained in the interstate access tariff filed by the National Exchange Carrier Association
(“NECA™) on behalf of its member companies.'® The NECA tariff specified a rate of

10 Beehive Complaint at 9-10, 12-13, §Y 3440, 54-61.

47 C.FR. § 1.17. Section 1.17 of the Commission’s rules forbids a carrier from making “any
misrepresentation or willful maierial orission bearing on any matter within the jurrsdiction of the Commission.” 47
CFR. § LI

(¥4

47 C.E.R. § 1.729(b) (1996). At the relcvant time, section 1.729(b) of the Commission's rules
required interrogatories to be answered “fully in writing under oath or affirmation.” Id That obligation now appears
in section 1.72%c) of our rules. 47 C.F.R. § 1.729(c) (2001).

" Bechive Complaint at 10-12, 1§ 41-53.

AT&T Complaint at 2-3, ¥ 2-3, 5; AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive
Telephone Inc. Nevada, Answier, File No. E-97-04 (filed December 18, 1996) at 1-2, 1§ 2-3, 5 (*Bechive Answer™);
AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Brief for Defendants, File No. E-
97-04 (filed Junc 5, 1997) at 3 (“Beehive Initial Brief”); Beehive Complaint at 1, 1Y {-2.

¥ ATZT Complaint at 2-3, 14 2-3, 5; Beehive Answer at 1-2, 1Y 2-3, 5; AT&T Corp. v. Bechive
Telephone Co., Inc. and Bechive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Initial Bricf of AT&T Corp., File No, E-97-04 (filed June
5,1997)m | (“ATET Initial Brief™).

e

“

AT&T Complaint &1 3, 16; Bechive Answey a1 2, §6; AT&T Initial Briefat |
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approximately $.07 peq tennmaung access minute.'” On March 31, 1994, pursuant to section
61.39 of the Commission’s rules,'” Beehive withdrew from the NECA tariff and filed its own
interstate access tariff (“Tariff") specifying a terminating interstate access rate of $.47 per
minute.'® That Tariff became effective on July 1, 1994.”° Although it contained its own access
rates, Beehive's Tariff explicitly incorporated the non-rate regulations, terms, and conditions for
access services set forth in NECA's Tanff F.C.C. No. S 21 As of July 1, 1995, Beehive reduced
its interstate access raie to $0.14 per terminating minute.”

6. In October, 1994, Beechive entered into an access revenue-sharing arrangement
with ch Enterprises, Inc. (“Joy™), an information service provider to which Beehive terminated
Initially, the compensation arrangement required Beehive to pay Joy $.04 per access
minute for cach long distance call terminated to Joy; eventually, in October, 1995, the
compensation was adjusted to a flat-rate of $84,000 per month.** Subsequently, in January,
1997, the amount was reduced 10 $42,000 per month. >

n AT&T Complaint at 3, § 6; Bechive Answer at 2, ¥6; AT&T Initial Brief at §-2,
47 C.ER. § 61.39 (permitting certain small local exchange carricrs to base their tariffed access
rates upon historic costs and revenues).

» AT&T Complaint at 3, 1Y 6-7; Bechive Answer at 2, 9 6-7; AT&T Initial Brief at 1-2; Bechive
Initial Brief at 3.

» AT&T Complaint st 3, 7 7; Bechive Answer at 2, § 7: AT&T Initial Bricf at 2.

2 AT&T Complaimt at 11, 144; Beehive Answer at 7-8, { 44; Beehive Initial Brief ot 23-24; AT&T
Initial Brief at 22. Bechive’s current Tariff is available on the Comsmission web site at bup://svartifoss2 fee.
QMQIQQMIQIM blic/scarch his.

z AT&T Complaint at 4,1 11; Bechive Answer at 3, 9 11; AT&T Initial Brief at 4. At about that
same titne, AT&T began ta refuse to pay some of all of Beehive’s interstate terminating access charges. Bechive
Answer at 34, § 12; Bethive Initial Bricf st 6. Five months later, on December 5, 1995, Beehive filed suit against
AT&T in federal district court in Utah secking to recover access charges allegedly withbeld unlawfulty by AT&T
(the “Utah Court Action”).: Bechive Answer at 3-4, ¥ 12; Bechive Initisl Brief at 6. On January S, 1996, pursuant to
Fed R.Civ.P. 12(b), ATRT filed, in licu of an answer, a motion to dismiss or stay the complaint on primary
Jurisdiction grounds. See AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Reply
Brief of ATET Corp., File No. E-97-04 (filed July 2, 1997) (*AT&T Reply Bricf") at Exhibits C, D. On April 29,
1997, the federal district court stayed the Utah Court Action pending a ruling by the Commission in this proceeding.
AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Télephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Lewer from Peter H. Jacoby,
Counsel for AT&T Corp., to Greg Lipscomb, Aromey, Formal Complaints and Investigations Branch, Enforcement
Division, Common Carrier Bureau, FCC, File No. E-97-04 (dsted May 6, 1997), Attachment; AT&T Reply Brief ar
14-15.

2

AT&T Complaint at 3-4, 9, Bochive Answer at 2-3, 9 9; AT&T Initial Bricf at 3.
Beehive Initial Brief at 4 n.4; AT&T Initial Brief at Exhibit 4 (Defendant’s Response to
Complainant’s First Set of Interrogatories), Response to Interrogatory No. 1.

B AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Reply Brief For
Defendants, File No. E-97.04 (filed July 2, 1997) s 6 (“Beehive Reply Brief”).

14
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oL DISCUSSION

A.  Bechive Violated Section 203(c) of the Act By Imposing Access Charges on AT&T
For Unsuccessful Call Attempts.

7. AT&T alleges — and Beehive admits — that Bechive charged AT&T for
terminating unsuccessful long-distance call anempts, i.e., calls that did not terminate to the end
user, due to cither a *no answer” or “busy signal” at the called number.”® AT&T maintains that
this practice contradicted the terms of Beehive’s Tariff, in violation of section 203(c).?” For the
following reasons, we agrec.

8. As the parties acknowledge, Beehive “was absolutely bound by section 203(c) . . .
to provide access services in exact accordance with its tariff.">* The parties also agree that
section 2.6 of NECA Tariff F.C.C. No. 5 governed whether Beehive could properly impose
access charges for terminating unsuccessful call attempts.” This Tanff section provided, in

pertinent part:

For the purpose of calculating chargeable usage, the termn * Access
Minutes’ denotes customer usage of exchange facilities in the provision of
interstate or foreign service. . . . On the terminating end of an interstate or
foreign call, usage is measured from the time the call is received by the
end user in the terminating exchange. Timing of usage at both originating
and terminating ends of an interstate or foreign call shall terminate when
the calling or called party disconnects, whichever event is recognized first
in the originating and terminating exchanges, as applicable.*®

|
» AT&'IlSmnplm at5, 11-12, Y 14, 43-47; Bechive Answer a1 4, § 14; Bechive Initia) Brief at 23-

24. See ATET Initisl B j f at 23-26; AT&T Reply Brief at 24-25.

L AT&T Complaint at 11-12, 944347, AT&T Initial Bricf a1 23-26.

» Bechive Initia) Brief at 11. See, ¢.g., Public Service Emerprises of Pennsylvania, Inc. v. AT&T
Corp., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 10 FCC Red 8390, 2407 ( 1995) (siating that “[s)ection 203 is intended
primarily to insurc that cariers file all mtes and yegulations in their tariffs and abide by them upon all occasions.™),
ted and remanded on other grounds, AT&T Corp. v. FCC, 86 F.3d 242 (1996). See also Philippine Long
Distonce Telephone v. World Communications, Inc., Ovder and Notice of Apperent Liability for Forfeitures, 8 FCC
Red 755, 759 .35 (1993), recon. granted on other grownds, Philippine Long Distance Telephone v. World
Communications, Inc., Order, 13 FCC Red 21520 (1998).

» See AT&T Complaint at } 1, Y 44; Bechive Answer a1 7-8, § 44; Beehive Initial Brief at 23-24;
AT&T Initial Brief at 22. We notc that AT&T failed to enter into the record section 2.6 of NECA Tariff F.C.C. No,
5. This did not violawe any existing rule, however. At the time the complaint was filed in this proceeding, section
1.720(h) of the Comnission’s rules merely encouraged parties to provide copies of any relevam ariff provisions. 47
C.ER. § 1.720(h) (1996). This rule has since been revised 0 require that parties provide copies of relevant anff
provisions. 47 CF.R. § 1.720{h) (2001).

* NECA TanfTF.C.C. No. 5, Section 2.6, Definitions, Access Minutes (cmphasis added). Because
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9. We interpret this Tanff provision to mean that usage for which Beehive may
impose access charges on AT&T docs not begin to accrue until a called party “receives” a call.
Under this provision, a called party does not “reccive” a call that goes uncompleted (generally
due to a no answer or busy signal at the called number); rather, a called party “receives” a call
only when that party;actually answers it. Our interpretation of the tariff term “receive” comports
with the common understanding of the word. For example, the dictionary definition of “receive”
is, in pertinent part: 1. take or accept (something offered or given) into one’s hands or
possession. . . . 3. accept delivery of (something sent).”’ A called party does not “take”, “accept”,
or “accept delivery of” a call until he/she answers it. Thus, under the pertinent tariff provision,
an uncompleted call generates no usage for which Bechive may impose access charges on
AT&T.

10.  To try to counter this reading, Beehive only points out that, under the Tanff, the
timing of usage “terminate{s] when the calling or called party disconnects. . . "*? Based on this
observation, Beehive argues that it can, in fact, charge for uncompleted calls, because a calling
party can “disconnect” a call cven when the called party never picks up.> This reading of the
Tariff fatally ignores the fact that the standard for determining when usage terminates does not
even apply unless and until the standard for determining when usage begins has been met. As
explained above, an uncompleted call does not meet that latter standard. Consequently,
Bechive's practice of imposing access charges on AT&T for terminating uncompleted calls
violated Beehive’s Tariff and, thus, section 203(c) of the Act.

11.  AT&T’s Complaint requests an order requiring Beehive “to refund AT&T all
amounts which [Beehive] has unlawfully charged [AT&T] in connection with” uncompleted
calls > However, AT&T has neither submitted evidence regarding the appropriate amount of
such a refund, nor sought bifurcation of this proceeding to make a complete damages showing in
a subscquent action.”® Perhaps this is because the parties have agreed to an arbitration
mechanism to resolve billing disputes, or because AT&T can assert these unlawful charges as a
claim or an offset in the Utah Court Action.”® In any cvent, based on this record, we find that

neither party submitied ink) the record the version of section 2.6 of NECA Tariff F.C.C. No. 5 that was effective
during the relevant period, we quote from the curently effective version of NECA Tadiff No. 5 (which is available

on the Comenission web site at htip.//svartifoss2. fcc.govicgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/ccb/etfs/webpublic/scarch.hits), and
atsume that the current version does not materially differ from the version in effect ot the relevant time.
M The Oxford American Dictionary of Current English (Oxford University Press 1999) at 665.
. Bechive Initial Brief at 23, quoting NECA Tariff F C.C. No_ 5, § 2.6 at 2-61 (emphasis added).
» Beehive Initial Bricf at 23-24.
M AT&T Complaint at 13.

» See 47 C.FR. § 1.722 (1996).
M Beshive Initial Brief at 22; AT&T Reply Brief a1 23-24; Bechive Roply Brief at 27.
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AT&T has established that Beehive's conduct regarding uncompleted calls violated section
203(c) of the Act but has not proven damages.*’

12.  Accordingly, we grant Count Ninc of AT&T’s Complaint as to liability, but deny
Count Nine as to damages.” We express no opinion, however, as to whether AT&T may pursue
a damages claim in the Utah Court Action or in the parties’ arbitration.”

B.  Bechive Violated Section 203(c) of the Act By Failing to Comply With Certain Other
Billing Requirements of Its Tariff.

13.  AT&T argues that Beehive violated section 203(c) of the Act by “consistently and
intentionally”™ submitting bills to AT&T for access services that were “seriously inaccurate,”™!
confusing, and non-compliant with the billing requirements of Beehive’s own Tariff.
According to AT&T, the most egregious problems were “inconsistent and overlapping time
periods contained in each bill and the intentionally deceptive manner in which Beehive identifies
the days on which wrmmaung usage accrued.”™* Specifically, AT& T maintains that Bechive's
bill dates varied, Beehive's billing periods ranged from three days to thirty-eight days, Beehive’s
bills often included charges for usage incurred outside the billing period, and Beehive billed
some days twice or not at all.* Moreover, AT&T assens that Bechive identified some of the
dates on its bills through the use of the Julian calendar, instead of the modern calendar, which is
known as the Gregorian calendar ** According to AT&T, the Julian calendar is approximately 13

7 Bechive allcges that the Filed Rate Doctrine bars AT&T’s claim of overcharges based on charges
for uncompleted calls. Beehive Answer at 8, 7] 50-52. This defense is patently meritless. To the extent that
Beehive billed AT&T in violation of its Tanif and the Act, the Filed Rate Doctrine provides no shehter. See, e.g.,
ATAT Corp. v. Business Telecom, Inc., Mcmorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Red 12312, 12317-18, 99
(2001).

» In addition, we dismiss as moot Count Eight of AT&T’s Complaint because, although based on
section 201(b) rather than section 203(c), Count Eight is identical in all other material respects 10 Count Nine.

» This is because this proceeding stems from a primary jurisdiction referval. See paragraph 24, infra.
‘o ATAT Lnitial Brief 1 19,

“ ATAT Initial Brief at 19.

2 AT&T Complaint at 5, 10-11, 1§ 13, 38-42.

© AT&T Initia) Brief at 19. See AT&T Complaint at 5,1 13.

AT&T Complaint at 5,4 13; AT&T Initial Bricf at 19-23; AT&T Reply Brief at 22-23.

AT&T Complaint at 5, § §3; ATAT Initial Bricf ut 20; AT&T Reply Brief at 23. The Julian
calendar was adopted by Juliug Caesar in 46 B.C.E. The Julian calendar closely resembles the Gregorian calendar,
a3 both devive from 365 days divided into twelve months. By the thineenth century, however, scholars realized that
the Julian calendar included a minor flaw, which resulted in the calendar siowly becoming out of sync with the solar
year. The flaw was this; urdder the Julian calendar, a year was 355 25 days long (i.¢., an cxwra day was inserted every
fw_rﬂ\ year, typically kmown as a “leap year"). This significantly differs from the “real” length of the solar year,
which is approximatcly 365.242199 days long. This error amounted to slightly more than 11 minutes per ycar. As a

43
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days ahead of the Gregorian calendar, and has not been observed since the 16™ century.*® As
evidence of all these practices, AT&T submits three bills it received from Beehive and an AT&T
staff analysis of alleged discrepancies in 173 Beehive bills ("AT&T Chart”).”

14.  As explained above, section 203(c) of the Act requires that a camier adhere to the
terms of its published tariff.** As also explained above, Beehive’s Tariff incorporated by
reference the non-rate terms and conditions set forth in NECA Tariff F.C.C. No. 5.° That Tariff
clearly specified that the minimum billing period would be one month; that Bechive would
establish a uniform bill date cach month that would not change exc;:&x upon sixty days’ notice to
AT&T:; and that Bechive would not double-bill for the same usage,” Beehive admits that it
failed to comply with the first two of these requirements.”’ Beehive explains that it could not
adhere to a standard billing cycle of at least one month because (i) it depended on data from US
West, which data ofien arrived out of sequence and overdue, and (ii) its billing systems
experienced problems.*? Even if factually correct, these explanations do not excuse Beehive
from the obligation to comply with its Tariff. Moreover, AT&T has submitted substantial

result, as the centuries passed, the Julian calendar became increasingly inaccurate with respect to the seasons. By the
16® century, the Julian calendar was running nearly two weeks late. To fix this growing problem, astronomers
proposed climinating ien days from the calendar and changing the rules regarding lcap ycars. Pope Gregory XiHl
adopted this proposal in: 1582, Thus, under the Gregorian calendar, “leap year” is skipped three times cvery four
hundred years. See “Calendar,” |5 ENCYCLOPEDIA BRITANNICA 432, (15" ed., 1991); Peter Meyer, “The
Jutian and Gregorian Calendars,” hup://serendipiry. magnet ch/hepmetic ud/cal an.htm; L. E. Doggett,
“Calendars,” hiip://astro.nmsu.cdw~fhuber/lcaphist.huml.

“ AT&T Complaint at 5, § 13; AT&T Initial Brief a1 20. AT&T is incomect. Although Pope
Gregory X1 jssued a popal decree establiching the Gregorian calendar in 1582, several nations continued to use the
Julian calendar for some time thereafter. For example, Britain (and the British colonies, such as America) continuod
10 use the Julian calendar until 1752, Other countries that continued (0 use the Julian calendar include Sweden
(switched in 1753), Japan (1873), Egypt (1875), the Soviet Union (1918), and Turkey (1927), to name just a few.
Alaska retained the Julian calendar until 1867, when it was transferred from Russia 1o the United States. See
“Calendar,” 15 ENCYCLOPEDIA BRITANNK A 432, 444-46 (1 5® ed., 1991); Peter Meyer, “The Julian and Gregorian

C-a

Calendars,” hitp//serendipity. magnet.ch/hermetic/cal_stud/cal_arthim.
v AT&T Reply Bricf st Exhibit I; AT&T Initial Bricf at Exhibit 3, Actachment A.
“ 47 US.C. § 203(c). See n.28, supra.
» See | 8 and n.29, supra.

» NECA Tariff F.C.C. No. 5, sections 2.4.1, 2.4.2 (appended to AT&T's Initial Brief at Exhibit 7).
Although no provision of the NECA tariff expressly prohibits double billing, this duty is implicd throughout section
2.4.1. For example, section 2.4.1(B) states that Beehive “shall bill on a curyent basis all charges incurred by and
credits due 10 the customer under this tariff . .. .” NECA Tanff F.C.C. Ne. 5, section 2.4.1(B).

o See AT&T Initial Brief at Exhibit 4, Response 1o Inferrogatory No. 10. For example, three
Bechive bills submitted into the record by AT&T indicse billing periods of six, five, and four days. See AT&T
Reply Brief at Exhibit 1.

=2 Beehive Reply Brief at 26.
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evidence of numerous and prolonged billing errors, which Beehive does not refute.® Thus,
AT&T has met its burden of proving that Bechive violated section 203 of the Act by committing
pumerous billing errors and by failing 10 adhere to a standard billing cycle of at least one
month.*

15.  We further find, however, that the record fails to support a finding that Bechive
committed anything more than a de minimus violation of either section 203(c) or 201(b) by
rendering access bills based upon the Julian calendar. The evidence submitted by AT&T is
underwhelming. There is no allegation (much less proof) that any of the three bills submitted by
AT&T into the record fails to properly identify the billing period based upon the Gregorian
calendar.”® Moreover, the AT&T Chart that purports to summarize errors discovered on 173 bills
indicates that almost all of those bills expressed dates based upon both the Julian and Gregorian
calendars * Finally, although Beehive admits that it submitted five invoices to AT&T between
February and May 1995 that referred only to Julian calendar dates, Beehive denies that this
practice continued thereafter,’’” and there is no evidence in the record to the contrary. Thus,
assuming, arguendo, that billing based solely on the Julian calendar would violate sections
201(b) and 203(c), we conclude that any such violations here were too trivial to warrant any
adverse Commission finding.”®

16.  In sum, we conclude that AT&T has met its burden of proving that Beehive
violated section 203 ‘with respect to all of the billing practices alleged, except the use of the
Julian calendar. Therefore, we largely grant and partially deny Counts Six and Seven of AT&T’s
Complaint accordingly.*® We note that AT&T neither requested nor sought to prove damages
arising from the billing practices alleged in Counts Six and Seven.

C. Beehive’s Access Rates Violated Section 201(b) by Generating Earnings Above the
Prescribed Rate of Return in 1994, 1995, and 1996.

17. AT&T alleges that Bechive's $.47 per minute and $.14 per minute rates for
terminating interstate access services violated section 201(b) of the Act, because they caused

3

See AT&T Initial Brief at Exhibit 3, Attachment A,

Because of this holding, we dismiss as moot AT&T’s claim in Count Seven that Bechive violated
section 201(b), based onthe same conduct.

» See AT&T Reply Bricf at Exhibit 1.
* See AT&T Initial Brief at Exhibir 3, Amachment A.
57 Beehive Answer at 4, Y 13.

34

» In order to minimize uncertainty and confusion in interstate access billing masters, we strongly

ENCOUrage carriers to use:the standard, generally accepted calendar,

) # Bethive alleges that the Filed Rate Doctrine bars AT&T's claims of unlawful billing practices.
Bechive Answer at 8, 9 50-52. This defense is patently meritless. See supra, v.37.
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Beehive to exceed its prescribed rate of return of 11.25% in 1994, 1995, and 1996.°° AT&T did
very little to seek or:submit in this proceeding’s record evidence to substantiate its allegations of
overearnings.” AT&T did eventually request, however, that we take official notice of Bechive’s
acknowledgment in another Commission proceeding that Beehive's interstate access charges
exceeded the prescribed rate of return in 1994, 1995, and 1996.%2 For the reasons explained
below, we accede to AT&T s request and, as a result, conclude that AT&T has met its burden of
showing that Beehive excoeded the prescribed rate of retum in 1994, 1995, and 1996.

18.  On August 5, 1997, pursuant to section 204(a) of the Act,*’ the Common Carricr
Bureau’s Competitive Pricing Division suspended the interstate access tariff that Beehive had
belatedly filed on July 22, 1997 for the 1997-1999 period (“Transmittal No. 6”).* In doing so,
the Suspension Order stated that Transmittal No. 6 raised “significant questions of lawfulness”
about, inter alia, whether it contained rates violative of section 201(b) of the Act® On
December 2, 1997, the Common Carrier Burean designated for investigation various issues
regarding Transmittal No. 6 and directed Beehive to provide to the Commission detailed
information concerning its costs and revenues during 1994, 1995, and 1996.%

19.  On December 15, 1997, in response to the Designation Order, Bechive submitted
to the Commission its “Direct Case” containing cost and revenue information for 1994, 1995,
and 1996.”” This information indicated that, for interstate services, Beehive had earned a 15.18%
ratc of return in 1994, a 62.60% rate of return in 1995, and a 67.95% rate of return in 1996, all

“ AT&T Cpmplaint at 9-10, 7Y 28-37; AT&T Initinl Bricf at 26-29; AT&T Reply Brief at 20-22;
AT&T Corp. v Beehive Telephone Ce., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Initinl Brief of AT&T Corp., File
Nos. E-97-04, E-97-14 {filed Apr. 20, 1998) a1 8-11, 24-15 (“"AT&T Supplemental Brief”); AT&T Corp. v. Beehive
Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Reply Brief of AT&T Corp., File Nos, E-97-0d, E-97-14
(filed May 4, 1998) at 7-13 (“AT&T Supplemental Reply Brief”). See Represcribing the Authorized Rate of Return
Jor Imersiate Services of Local Exchange Carriers, Order, 5 FCC Red 7507, 7509, 3 13 (1990) (prescribing a rate of
return of § |.25% for centain incumbent LECs, including Beshive).

“ See generally AT&T Reply Brief at 20-22 (acknowledging that, based on the record evidence at
that ime. the Commission could not be “completely certain” that Beehive had exceeded its prescribed rate of ratum).

o AT&T Supplemental Brief at 24-25; AT&T Supplemental Reply Brief at 3-11.

o 47 UB.C. § 204(a) (authorizing the Commission to suspend & taciff and to determine whether new
or revised charges contained in the tariff arc just and reasonable).

o Beehive Telephone Co., Inc., Tariff F.C.C. No. I, Transmittal No. 6, Suspension Order, 12 FCC
Red 11695 (Com. Car. Bur., Com. Pric. Div. 1997) (“Suspension Order™),

- Suspension Order, 12 FCC Red a1 11697, 6.

o Beehive Telephone Co., Inc., Tarf F.C.C. No. 1. Transmital No. 6, Order Designating Issues for
Investigation, 12 FCC Red 20249 (Com. Car. Bur. 1997) (*Designation Order™).

e Beehive Telephone Co., Inc.. Tariff F.C.C. No. 1, Transmittal No. 6, Direct Case, CC Docket No.
97-237 (filed Dec. 15, 1997) ("Direct Casc™).
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well above the prescribed rate of retum of 11.25%.% Two weeks later, on December 29, 1997,
Bechive filed another pleading in that proceeding acknowledging the accuracy of those excessive
rates of return.%

20. The Commission has broad discretion in its adjudicatory proceedings to take
official notice of factual issues “related directly to the agency’s expertise or relate{d] to certain
aspects of the parties” situation of which the commission has a good deal of prior knowledge ™™
The historic rate-of-return information submitted by Bechive in the Commission’s investigation
of Bechive’s Transmittal No. 6 falls well within such discretion.” Consequently, we agree with
AT&T that we should take official notice of Beehive’s acknowledgement in the Commission’s
proceeding investigating Beehive’s Transmittal No. 6 that Bechive exceeded its prescribed
interstate access rate of return in 1994, 1995, and 1996.

21.  Beehive proffers several reasons why we should refrain from considering AT&T's
overcarnings claims or taking official notice of Bechive's prior statements that Beehive exceeded
its prescribed interstate access rate of return in 1994, 1995, and 1996.” All of those reasons lack
merit.

22. Firsl,j Bechive argues that the two-year statute of limitations in section 415(c) of

o Direct Casc at 4, 7, 11.

“ Beehive Telephone Co., Inc., Tariff F.C.C. No. 1, Transmittal No. 6, Rebutal to Opposition 1o
Direct Case, CC Docket No. 97-237 (filed Dec. 29, 1997) at 13 (“Rebuial™). The Commission ultimately
determined that Bechive’s switching rates in Tranemittal No. 6 were excessive, and thus prescribed lower switching
rates and ordered refunds. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc., Tariff F.C.C. No. 1, Transmittal No. 6, Memorandum
Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Recd 2736 (1998) (“Refund Order™), modified on recon., Order on Reconsideration, 13
FCC Red 11795 (1998), off'd. Bechive Telephone Co., Inc. v. FCC, 180 F.3d 314 (1999). In so nuling, the
Commission determined that Bechive's rate of retum on switching alone was 12.2% in 1994, 111% in 1995, and
65% in 1996. Refund Order, 13 FCC Red 212741, 13.

» Aman & Mayton, Administrative Law § 8.4.8 8t 232 (West 1993). See 5 U.S.C. § 556(c); 47
C.E.R. §§ 1.361, 1.727(b); Fed. R. Evid. 201.

n See. e.g., Bochow/Coastel, LL.C. v. GTE Wireless of the South, Inc., Order on Review, 16 FCC
Red 4967, 4968-69, 1 $ (2001); In Re Applications of Chesapeake and Potomac Company of Virginia,
Memorandum Opinion and Order, 938 F.C.C. 2d 238, 239 n.4 (1984); Revision of the Processing Policies for
Waivers of the Telephone Company-Cable Television “Cross Ownership Rules,” Memorandum Opinion and Order,
82 F.C.C. 2d 254, 260-6) & n.6 (1980), recon. granted in part on other grounds, Revision of the Processing
Policies for Waivers of the Telephone Company-Cable Television “Cross Ownership Rules, ” Memorandum Opinion
snd Order, 86 FCC 24 983 (1981).

" AT&T Corp v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada,
Brief for Defendants in Filc No. E-97-04 and Initial Brief for Complamants in File No. E-97-14, File Nos, E-97-04,
E-97-14 (filed Apr. 20, 1998) a1 17-26 (“Beehive Supplemental Brief™); AT&T Corp. v. Baehive Telephone Co., inc.
and Beehive Telephore Inc. Nevada, Reply Brief, File Nos. E-97-04, E-97-14 (filed May 4, 1998) at §-12, 27-28
(“Beehive Supplemental Reply Brief”).
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the Act” bars AT&T’s claim regarding Beehive's $.47 rate, because AT&T knew or should have
known of the grounds for the claim when the rate took effect on July 1, 1994, more than two
years beforc AT&T filed its complaint on October 29, 1996.” Bechive argues that section 415
also bars AT&T s claim regarding Beehive’s $.14 rate, because AT&T knew or should have
known of the grounds for the claim when the rate took effect on July 1, 1995, more than two
years before AT&T submitted supporting evidence on July 2, 1997.” It is well established,
however, that the statute of limitations on a claim alleging overeamings docs not even begin to
run until the defendant carrier files with the Commission final information indicating that it did,
in fact, overearn during a particular period.”® The record contains no evidence that Beehive filed
such information with the Commission more than two years before AT&T filed the instant
complaint.”’ Thus, Bechive's statute of limitations defense fails.”

23.  Sccond, Beehive maintains that we should not take official notice of information
submitted in the Commission’s investigation of Transmittal No. 6, because such submissions
occurred after a statutory deadline for resolving AT&Ts claims in this procoeding had lapsed.”
Even assuming, arguendo, the validity of Beehive's premise, Beehive’s conclusion does not
follow. It is well established that the expiration of a statutory deadline for the Commission to act
does not divest the Commission of authority 1o continue moving toward resolution of a
proceeding.® Accordingly, we have authority to take official notice of information submitted in
thc Commission’s investigation of Transmittal No. 6, whether or not such submissions occusred
after a statutory deadline for resolving AT&T’s claims in this proceeding had lapsed.*" Thus,

n 47 u.;s.c, §415.

" Bechive Supplemental Brief at 17-20; Beehive Supplemental Reply Brief at 22.

» Bechive Supplemental Brief at 20-23.

7 See, e.g., MCI Telecommunications Corp. v. FCC, 59 F.3d 1407, 1416-17 (D.C. Cir. 1995), cert.

dismissed sub nom. BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. v. FCC, 517 U.S. 1129 (1996), cert. denied sub nom.
BeliSouth Telecommunications, Inc. v. FCC, 517 U.S. 1240 (1996); General Communication, Inc, v. Alaska
Communications Systems Holdings. Inc., et al., Memorandum Opimon and Order, 16 FCC Red 2834, 2560-61, 1§
67-68 (2001), appeai pending, ACS of Anchoroge, Inc. v. Federal Communications Commission, No. 01-1059 (D.C.
Cir., filed Feb 7, 2001)

n See generally 47 C.FR. § 65.600 (requiting local exchange cariers not subject 10 price cap
regulation to file with tHe Commission an annual rate-of-refurm monitoring report).

b For the same reasons, Bechive's laches defense also fails. Answer at 9-12, 11 57-71.
» Beehive Supplemental Brief at 20-23 (citing 47 U_S.C. § 208(b) 1)).

s See, e.g., Contract Freighiers, Inc. v. Dep't of Transporiation, 260 F.3d 858, 860 n_3 (8* Cir.
2001); Southwestern Bell Yelephone Co. v. FCC, 138 F.3d 746, 74950 (8. Cir. 1998); Gourleib v. Pena, 41 F.3d
730, 733-37 (D.C. Cir.1994); 800 Data Base Access Tariffs and the 800 Service Management System Tariff, Order
on Reconsideration, 12 FCC Red 5188, 5193-94, 1 15 (1997).

. Given this conclusion, we need 0ot and do not decide whether the submissions at jssue here
occurred afler a statntory deadline for resolving AT&Ts claims in this procceding had lapsed.
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Bechive's statutory deadline defense fails.

24.  Third, Bechive contends that scction 207 of the Act bars AT&T’s claims
regarding the lawfulness of Bechive’s rates, because AT&T previously alleged the unlawfulness
of Bechive’s rates as a defense in the Utah Court Action.® Section 207 provides, in pertinent
part, that “{a)ny person claiming to be damaged by any common carrier . . . may either make
complaint to the Commission . . . or may bring suit for the recovery of the damages for which
such common carrier may be liable . . . in any district court of the United States . . .; but such
person shall not have the nght to pursue both such remedies.™ Bechive overlooks the key facts,
however, that AT&T raised this defense in the context of a motion to dismiss or stay the matter
on primary )unsdncuon grounds,* and that ultimatcly the federal court essentiaily granted
AT&T's motion.® It is well estabhshed that section 207 does not apply in the context of a
primary jurisdiction referral * Thus, Beehive’s scction 207 defense fails.”

25.  Fourth, Beehive asserts that we should not look to the Commission’s investigation
of Transmittal No. 6 for any purpose here, because the procedural mules governing the
investigation were ad hoc and different from formal complaint procedures; the investigation
included ex parte presentations; the investigation proceeded on an unlawfully abbreviated
schedule; the investigation concerned Bechive’s 1997 interstate switching rates, not its 1994-
1996 overall access rates; and the investigation recotd contained Do ¢ data concerning Beehive’s
costs and demand in 1993.% Al of these assertions miss the point.*”” None of these assertions

o 47U.5.C. § 207. See Bechive Inigal Bricf at 15-16.
u 47U5.C. §207.
" AT&T Reply Brief at Exhibits D, C.

» AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Letter from Peter
H. Jacoby, Counsel for AT& T Corp., to Greg Lipscomb, Atiorney, Formal Complaints and Investigations Branch,
Enforcement Division, Common Carrier Burcau, FCC, File No. E-97-04 (dated May 6, 1997), Attachment. See
Bechive Initial Brief at 10;: AT&T Reply Bricf at 14-15.

1 See. e g., Allnet Communication Service, Inc. v. National Exchange Carrier Association, Inc., 965

F.2d 1118, 1122 (D.C. Cir. 1992).

v It is true that AT&T filed its complaint here perhaps a bit prermanmrely, a few months before the
federal court granted AT&T’s primary jurisdiction motion. At this point, however, long after the court has granted
AT&T's motion, dismissing AT&T’s complaint on that basis would unduly exalt form over substance. This is
especially true, given that Bechive has alleged no prejudice arising from AT&T's filing of the corpplaint in
anticipation of the court’s order granting refaaral. Indeed, section 207 might not even apply bere, because ATRT
raised the issue of ratc reasonableness in the context of 8 Role 12(b) motion, not in the context of an affirmative
defense or counterclaim. Nevertheless, we caution fuhure complainants that the mere filing of a primary jurisdiction
motion in court does not vitiate section 207 copcerns.

» Bethive Supplemental Brief at 23-26; Beehive Supplemental Reply Brief at 11-12, 27-28.

We note that the D.C. Circuit affimed the Comupission’s order concluding the investigation of
Transmittal No._ 6, which found that Bechive's interstate rate of retusn for local switching in 1994-1996 was
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changes the fact that, during the course of the Commission’s investigation of Transmittal No. 6,
Beehive itsclf submitted information to the Commission clearly indicating that Bechive exceeded
its prescribed interstate access rate of return in 1994, 1995, and 1996; and Bechive has shown
nothing in the investigation proceeding or in this proceeding that undermines the validity of
Bechive’s submissions. Thus, Beehive’s defense based on the nature and content of the
Commission’s investigation of Transmittal No. 6 fails.

26.  Finally, Beehive argues that AT&T cannot challenge the lawfulness of Bechive’s
interstate access rates in 1995-1996, because AT&T refused during that time to first pay all of the
charpes based on those rates.” Bechive’s argument fatally ignores the fact that its own Tariff
contemplates that a customer may withhold payment of disputed charges pending resolution of
the dispute.”’ Under the filed rate doctrine, therefore, Beehive’s argument fails.

27.  Insum, Bechive presents no valid argument why we should refrain from
considering AT&T’s overeamings claims and taking official notice of information submitted by
Bechive during the Commission’s investigation of Transmittal No. 6. Consequently, we take
official notice of the fact that, according to Beehive’s own records, Beehive eamned interstate
access revenues above its prescribed rate of return in 1994, 1995, and 1996. Moreover, nothing
in the record refutes this evidence. Thus, AT&T has met its burden of demonstrating that
Beehive’s access rates during those years were unjust and unreasonable, in violation of section
201(b) of the Act.”

excessive, and which rejected the “duc process” arguments raised here. Beehive Telephone Company, inc., Toriff
F.C.C. No. 1, Transmintal No. 6, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Red 2736 (1998), modified on recon.,
Order on Reconsideration, 13 FCC Red 11795 (1998), aff°d, Beehive Telephone Co., Inc., 180 F.3d 314 (D.C. Cir.
1999).

» Beehive Initial Brief at 16-17.

9 NECA Tariff F.C.C. No. 5, scction 2.4.3(D). Given this result, we need not decide whether
Bechive'’s defense has any other flaws.

n See. e.g., AT&T v. Central Office Telephone, Inc., 524 U 8. 214 (1998). Beehive also seems to
argue that the filed mate doctrine precludes AT T from challenging the reasonableness of Beehive's tariffed access
rates. Beehive Answer at 8, 1§ 50-52; Bechive Initial Brief at 16-17. That argument is patently meritless. 1t is well
established that the Commission has the authority to determine the reasonableness of a tariffed rate in the context of
a section 208 complaint proceeding. See, e.g., AT&T Corp. v. Business Telecom, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and
Order, 16 FCC Red 12312, 12317-20, 1§ 9-12 (2001).

b We misst assess the lawfulness of Boehive’s rates and camings in 1994 in combination with
Bethive's rates and eamiings in 1993. See 47 CF R, §§ 65.600(b), 65.702(b). See also Virgin Islands Telephone
Corp v FCC, 989 F.2d 1231 (D.C. Cir. 1993). Here, we conchudc that Beehive'’s rates in 1994 were unlawful
based, in pert, on an assumption that Bechive did not materially undercarn in 1993, This assumption is reasonable,
because Bechive knew that AT&T was wrging us to consider information regarding Beehive's ratcs and earnings in
1994, yet offered no evidence (such as monitoring reports) indicating that any overeamings in 1994 had been offsct
by undereamings in 1993. This assumption is especially appropriate because (i) Beehive participsied in the NECA
tariff during 1993 and half of 1994, and (ii) the record contains some evidence that Bechive actually overearned in
the 1993-94 period. See AT&T Reply Brief at Exhibit H (a Bechive preliminary report indicating that its interstate
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28 AT&T has not met its burden, however, of demonstrating the extent to which it
was damaged by Bechive's unlawful rates. Although the record contains some pertinent
information, the record does not contain everything needed to make a precise damage calculation.

Moreover, nowhere in the record does AT&T explain exactly how much it belicves we should
award due to these violations or precisely how it would calculate such an amount based on record
evidence. Thus, we grant AT&T s overzamings claims in Counts Four and Five of the
Complaint as to liability, but deny those claims as to damages. Again, however, we express no
opimon as to whether AT&T may pursue a damages claim in the Utah Court Action or in the
parties” arbitration.™

D. AT&T Has Not Demonstrated on This Record that the Access Revenune-Sharing
Arrangement Between Beehive and Joy Violated Section 201(b) or 202(a) of the Act.

29.  ATAT alleges in its Complaint that the access revenue-sharing arrangement
between Beehive and Joy breached Beehive’s common carrier duties, in violation of section
201(b) of the Act, and constituted unreasonable discrimination, in violation of section 202(a) of
the Act.” AT&Ts allegations and arguments arc identical o those raised and denied in AT&T v.
Jefferson® and AT&T v. Frontier.”” Thus, for the reasons explained in those orders, we conclude
that AT&T has failed on this record to meet its burden of demonstrating that Bechive violated
either section 201(b) or section 202(a) of the Act.”® Thercfore, we deny Counts One, Two, and
Three of AT&T"s Complaint.”

rate of return during 1993-94 would be 16.93%). Bechive moves us to strike this (and other) cvidence as untirmely
filed, AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, Letter from Russell D.
Lukas, Counse! for Bechive Telephone Co., to Greg Lipscomb, Attorney, Enforcement Division, Common Carrier
Burean, FCC, File No. E-97-04 (datcd Jul. 16, 1997), but we deny that motion, because Beehive had ample
opportunity in its briefs filed in 1998 1o respond to this (and other) evidence, which AT&T filed in 1997.

» See n.39, supra.

» AT&T Complaint ot 6-8, T4 16-27. See AT&T Initial Brief at 5-19; AT&T Reply Bricf a1 9-12,
15-20.

®  AT&TCorp. v. Jefferson Telephone Co., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Red 16130
(2001) (“ATE&T v. Jefferson™).

” AT&T Corp. v. Frontier Communications of Mt Pulaski, Inc. et ol , Memorandum Opinion and
Order, 17 FCC Red 4041 (2002) (“AT&T v. Frontier”™).

il See generally Hi-Tech Furnace Systems. Inc. v. FCC, 224 F.3d 781, 787 (D.C. Cir. 2000)
(affirming that the complainant in a proceeding conducted under scction 208 of the Act bears the burden of proof).
We note that, although AT&T suggests that Bechive™s corporate relationship with Joy was somehow improper, see,
e.g.. AT&T Initial Brief at 2, 5, AT&T asserts no claim on this basis.

” Moreover, we decline to reach two issues that AT&T raised for the first time in its briefs, because

the tardy raising of thesc issues renders the record insufficicnt to permit a reasoned decision. See, e g, AT&T v.
Jeffersan, 16 FCC Red at 16133 n.18; Consumer.Ne1 v, AT&T Corp., Ordet, 15 FCC Red 281, 300, 140 n.93 (1999)
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E. Bechive’s Complaint Lacks Merit.

30.  Inis/Complaint, Bechive alleges that, if (and only if) the Commission were to
find in this consolidated proceeding that its access revenue-sharing arrangement with Joy was
unlawful, then the Commission must also find that AT&T’s use of so-called Terminating
Switched Access Arrangements (“TSAAs”) with AT&Ts end user customers is unlawful '
Elsewhere in this Ordet, we find that, based on the record in this proceeding, AT&T has failed to
meet its burden omng that Beehive’s access revenuc-sharing arrangement with Joy was
unlawful.'® Therefore, the condition precedent pled by Bechive has not been satisfied, and
Beehive’s claims must fail.'" Accordingly, we dismiss the First and Second Causes of Action of
Bechive’s Complaint."

31. Beehive further alleges that, if (and only if) the Commission were 1o find in a
different pending proceeding that a similar access revenue-sharing arrangement between another
carrier (Total Telecommunications Services, Inc.) and an information provider was an unlawful
attempt to evade the requirements TDDRA, then the Commission must also find that AT&T’s

(declining to consider an argument raised for the first time in the briefs). Cf., Building Owners and Managers
Association Internagional v. FCC, 254 F.3d 89, 100 n.14 (DC. Cir. 2001) (declining to addregs an issue raised
cursorily in the brief). Specifically, in its briefs, AT&T maintains for the first time that the revenue-sharing
srrangemcnt between Beehive and Joy also violated section 201(b) by “evading the requirements” of TDDRA.
AT&T Initial Bricf at 14116; AT&T Reply Briefat 9-12. In addition, in its briefs, AT&T argues for the first time
that Bechive's practice of billing AT&T for traffic terminated to Joy violated the Comumission’s tariff regulations.
AT&T Initial Brief at 10:13; AT&T Reply Bricf at 8-9.

1o Beehive Complaint at 2, 9-10, 12-13, 995, 34-40, $4-61. See Bechive Supplemental Brief at 26-

30; Beehive Supplemental Reply Brief at 12-1 8; Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada v.
AT&T Corp., Opposition 1o Motion 1o Dismiss, File No. E-97-14 (filed June 4, 1997) a1 4-5.

o See section I1.D, supra.
Beehive filed a petition for reconsideration of a staff discovery ruling regarding information about
AT&T's TSAAs. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada v. A T&T Corp., Petition For
Reconsideration, File No. E-97-14 (filed Mar. 26, 1998); AT&T Corp. v. Bechive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive
Telephone Inc. Nevada, and Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada v. ATET Corp.. Letier
from Deena M. Shetler, Anomcy, Enforcement Division, Common Carviey Bureau, FCC, 0 Peter H. Javoby,
Counscl for AT&T Corp.; and Russell D. Lukas, Counse) for Bechive Telephone Co., File Nos. E-97-04, E-97-14
(dated Mar. 16, 1998): AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada, and
Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada v. AT&T Corp, Letter from Deena M. Shetler,
Atomey, Enforcement Division, Common Carrier Bureau, FCC, to Peter H. Jacoby, Counsel for ATAT Cormp., and
Russell D. Lukas, Counsel for Beehive Telephone Co., File Nos. E-97-04, E-97-14 (dated Mar. 24, 1998). As this
Order makes clear, such information was not Ecrmane to our resolution of any of the claims by cither party. Thus,
we dismiss Beehive’s petition as moot.

10 Bccauscwedismissﬁmechhnsonothugmmds,wemedno(machﬂnargmblymlaud:m
question whether these claims should be dismissed due to their conditional nature.

"2
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use of TSAAs constituted an unlawful evasion of TDDRA, as well.'® In Total
Telecommunications Services. Inc., and Atlas Telephone Company, Inc. v. AT&T Corp., we
rejected this TDDRA claim as moot,’” and AT&T did not raisc a TDDRA claim in its
Complaint here. Therefore, again, the condition precedent pled by Beehive has not been
satisfied, so Bechive's claim must fail. Accordingly, we dismiss the Fifth Cause of Action of
Beehive’s Complaint. '*

32 Finally, Bechive alleges that AT&T concealed material facts in this complaint
proceeding, in violation of sections 1.17 and 1.729(b) of the Commission’s rules.'”’ These facts
dcalt with the existence and details of certain of AT&T's TSAAs. Based on our review of the
entire record in this proceeding, we conclude that Beehive has failed to meet its burden of
proving that AT&T willfully withheld material information. Accordingly, we deny the Third and
Fourth Causes of Action of Beehive's Complaint.'®

iIV. ORDERING CLAUSES

13, ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(3), 4(3), 201(b),
202(a), 203(c), and 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(D),
154(j), 201(b), 202(a), 203(c), and 208, that the above-captioned complaint filed by AT&T IS
GRANTED IN PART AND DISMISSED OR DENIED IN PART to the extent described herein.

34, IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(), 4G), 201(b), 202(a),
203(c), and 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(i), 154(),
201(b), 202(a), 203(c), and 208, that the above-captioned complaint filed by Bechive IS
DISMISSED AND DENIED IN ITS ENTIRETY WITH PREJUDICE.

o Beehive Complaint at 1213, TY 54-61. See Bechive Supplemental Brief at 26-30; Beehive
Supplemental Reply Brief at 18-19.

10 Total Telecommunications Services, Inc., and Atlas Telephone Company. Inc. v. AT&T Corp.,

Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Red 5726, 5744 § 41 (2001), appeal pending, AT&T Corp. v. FCC, Case
Nos, 0)-1188, 01-120) (D.C. Cir., filed Apr. 20, 2001).

o Again, because we dismiss this claim on other grounds, we need not reach the arguably antecedent
question whether this ¢laim should be dismissed due to its conditional nature.

ot Bechive Complaint at 2. 10-13, 1§ 5, 41-53. See Bechive Supplemental Brief at 14-15, 30-32;
Bechive Supplemental Reply Brief at 6-8, 23-27.

1 Because we deny these claims on other grounds, we noed not reach the arguably antecedent

question whether alleged violations of scctions 1.17 and 1.729(b) of our rules — which govern carriers’ dealings
with the Commission, not their provision of telecommunication services — state a claim under section 208 of the
Act. In addition, because we deny Bechive's Complaint in its entirety, we also dismiss as moot AT&T"s Motion to
Dismiss Beehive's Complaint. See AT&T Corp. v. Beehive Telephone Co., Inc. and Beehive Telephone Inc. Nevada,
Mation 1o Dismiss, File No. E-97-14 (filed May 20, 1997).
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35.  IT1S FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to sections 1, 4(i), 4(), 201(b}, 202(a),
203(c), and 208 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151, 154(), 154(i),
201(b), 202(a), 203(c), and 208, that AT&T’s May 20, 1997 Motion to Dismiss, Beehive’s July 16,
1997 Motion to Strike, and Beehive’s March 16, 1998 Petition for Reconsideration are
DISMISSED as moot.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

Marlene H. Dortch
Secretary
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i Before the
' Federal Communications Commission
Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of

Qwest Communications Corporaties,
Complainant,

File No. EB-07-MD-001

V.

Farmiers and Merchants Mutual Telephone
Company,

- e et e wat et et et et eet’

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Adopted: October 2, 2007 C - Released: October 2, 2007

By the Commission:

L INTRODUCTION

1 This Memorandum Opinion and Order grants in part a formal complaint’ that Qwest
Communications Corporation (“Qwest”) filed against Farmers and Merchants Mutal Telephone
Company (“Farmers™) under section 208 of the Commmunications Act of 1934, as amended (“Act”).
Qwest alleges that Farmers violated section 201(b) of the Act’ by eaming an excessive rate of retum.
According to Qwest, this violation resulted from Farmers® deliberate plan to increase dramatically the
amount of terminating access traffic delivered to its exchange, via agrecments with conference calling
companies. Qwest also alleges that Farmers violated sections 203(c) and 201(b) of the Act' by assessing
switched access charges for services that were not, in fact, switched access.

2. As explained below, we agree with Qwest that Farmers camed an excessive rate of retumn
during the Tuly 2005 to Junc 2007 period (“Complaint Period”). However, we reject Qwest's contention
that the Farmers tariff then in effect should be denied “deemed lawful” status. Accordingly, Qwest may
pot recover damages from Farmers. In addition, we deny Qwest’s claim that Farmers acted unlawfully by

! Formal Complaint of Qwest Communications Cosp,, File No. EB-07-MD-001 (filed May 2, 2007) (“Complaint”).
1470U.8.C. § 208,
147 U.8.C. § 201(b).

* 47 U.S.C. §§ 203(c), 201(b). 47 U.5.C. § 203(c) prohibits camiers from imposing any charge not specified in their

tariffs (“no carrier shall . . . charge, demand, collect, or reccive a greater or less or different compensation ., than

the charges specified in the achedule then in cffect™. 47 U.S.C. § 201(b) requires that “ali charges, practices,

classifications, and regulations for and in connection with . . . comunusication scrvice shall be just snd remsonable,

m:nfy such charge, practice, classification or regulation that 1 unjust of unreasonable i3 hereby declared to be
ul.”
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imposing interstate awfss charges for the services at issue.
I BACKGROUND
A The Parties

3. Qwest provides interexchange (“IXC) service, also known as long distance service, to
customers throughout the United States.” Farmers is the incumbent local exchange carrier (“LEC™) in
Wayland, owa (population 838), serving approximatcly 800 access lines for local residents.” Farmers
provides local exchange and exchange access services pursuant (o tariffs filed with the Iowa Utilities
Board and this Commission.” Qwest purchases access service from Farmers, which enables Qwest's long
distance customers to terminate calls to customers located in Farmers’ exchange.!

B.  Access Charge Regime for Small Carriers

4. The Commission regulates access charges (which are contained in federal access tariffs)
that LECs apply 1o interstate calls.” To reduce the administrative costs and burdens of filing and
maintaining tariffs, the Commission provides small carriers the options of utilizing tariffs administered by
the National Exchange Carrier Association (“NECA”) or filing their own streambined “small-carrier”
tariffs.’”® Qualifying carsiers are permitted to participate in the traffic-sensitive cost and revenue pool that
NECA administers on béhalf of the vast majority of small telephone companies.”' NECA files tariffed
access rates that apply whenever an IXC uses any pool member’s NECA-tariffed access services.”? IXCs
making payments pursuant to the NECA tariff remit them directly to the camers providing the access
service, which in rurnireport receipts 10 NECA."® NECA then cormputes final settlements due to pool
members based upon the members’ settlement status with NECA."

5. NECA Pool members may submit company-specific monthly cost data to NECA to
calculate “settlements™ NECA pool members that choose not to file company-specific cost data operate
as “average schedule” carriers and receive settlements determined via formulas proposed annually by
NECA and approved by the Commission '* NECA develops the average schedule formulas to simulate
the revenue requirements and authorized rate of return of 8 sample of cost companics.” During the
Complaint Period, the prescribed rate of retm for interstate switched access rates charged by rate-of-

5 Complaint at 4, §4; Joint Statement, File No. EB-07-MD-001 (filed June 6, 2007) (“Joint Statement”) at 1, § 2.
* Joint Statement at 1-2, Y 4.

? Joimt Statement at 2, § 5.

® Joint Statement at 1-2) § 4.

Y47 CFR. §§69.1-692.

® Complaint at 6,4 8; Answer of Farmers & Merchants Mutual Telephone Company, File No. EB-07-MD-001
(filed May 29, 2007) ("Answer”) at 12,1 8.

Y See 47 CF.R. §§ 69.601-69.612.

2 Complaint at 6-7, §9; Answer at 12, 49; see 47 CFR_§ 69.3(d).

B Complaint at 6-7, 4 9; Answer at 12, §9; see 47 CF.R. §§ 69.604, 69.605.
¥ See 47 C.F R §§ 69.605, 69.606.

47 CFR. § 69.605(a).

" Complaint at 6-7, 19; Answer at 12,99. See 47 CF.R. § 69.606; In the Matter of National Exchange Carrier
Association, Inc. 2006 Modification of Average Schedules, Ovder, 21 FCC Red 6220 (Wireline Comp. Bur. 2006).

7 Joint Statement at 2,7 7; 47 C.F.R. § 69.606(x).
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retumn carriers was 11.25 percent.”

6. Asan alternative to participating in the NECA pool, the Commission established an
exception for cariers that want to file their own rates and are non-Bell Operating Companies with 50,000
or fewer access lines and;$40 million or less in annual operating revenues.”” These small cariers may
establish individual tariffirates based on the carricrs’ own historical costs and demand figures.™® Under
this option, the traffic sensitive rates for average schedule carriers, which do not Teport cost
figures, are based initially on the carriers’ most recent annual settlement from the NECA pool.™ In
subsequent tariffs, average schedule carriers’ rates are based on the settlements the carriers would have
received had they continued to participate in the NECA pool.? Small carriers filing tariffs under this
provision remain subject to the 1125 percent rate of return.®

C. Farmers® Access Tarifls and the Increase in Traffic

7. During the Complaint Period, Farmers qualified as a “small” carrier* Prior to July I,
2005, Farmers participated in the traffic-sensitive portion of NECA FCC Tariff No. 5 (“NECA Tariff)
Farmers thus received compensation based on the average schedule formulas approved by the
Conmﬁss;)gm and not on the basis of Farmers® actual costs, actual revenue from end users, or actual rate
of return.

8 Effective July 1, 2005, Farmers left the NECA pool and became an issuing carrier for
Kiesling Associates LLP Tanff F.C.C. No. 5 (“Kiesling Tariff”), which is govemed by Commission rule
61.39(b)2).”" The Kiesling Tariff contained separate switched access rates for Farmers.® Farmers’
interstate switched access service rates were filed on 15 days notice pursuant to section 204(a)3) of the

* Represcribing 1he Authorized Rate of Renurn for Interstate Services of Local Exchange Carriers, Order, S FCC
Red 7507, 7507, 11, 7532, 4 216, 7533, Y231 (1990), recon. granted on other grounds, 6 FCC Red 7193 (1991),
aff d sub nom. llinois Befl Telephone Co v, FCC, 988 F.2d 1254 (D.C. Cir. 1993); AT&T Corp. and AT&T of the
Virgin Islands, Inc. v. Virgin Islands Telephone Corp., Memorandum Opition and Order, 19 FCC Red 15978,
15979.93 (2004), rev'd on other grounds, Virgin Islands Telephone Corp. v. FCC, 444 F.3d 666 (D.C. Cir. 2006).
47 CF.R. § 61.39; Regulation of Small Telephone Companies, Report and Order, 2 FCC Red 3811, 3812, 911
(1987) (“Small Carrier Toriff Order”). See Complait at 8,9 11; Answer at 3, § 11, During the Complaint Period,
cmiemw:remqnimdwﬁkmmiﬂsulnummytwommbonghdwywmpemﬁmdmﬁkm
tariffs mose often. See generally 47 C.F.R. § 61.39.

= Sa 47 C.ER. §§ 61.3%a), 69.602(a)(3). A camricr may also establish individual tariff rates based on the carrier’s
Progected costs and demand under section 61.38 of the Commission's rubes. 47 C.F.R. § 61.38(b).

47 CFR. § 6139(b)2Xi).
2471 CFR. § 61.39bX2)Xii).
® Small Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red 1 3813, 4 18,

a"Com;;lninut1(1»11,11‘6;AnswcralI5,116. In addition, a« the independent incumbent LEC in its scrving area,
mea“dwﬁmm'wﬁamddmefmmﬁmdtoﬁlcudﬂ‘s. See 47 CF.R. § 6131, The Commission has
forborne from tariffing requircments for non-dosinant carriers. See In the Matter of Policy and Rules Concerning

the Interstate, Interexchonge Marketplace Detariffing Order, Second Report and Order, 11 FCC Red 20730 (1996).

* Joint Statement ar 2, 1 6.
* Joint Statement at 2, 4 6.

" 41 C.F.R. §61.30(b)2). See Joint Swement at 3, §8. Complaint, Exhibit B, Declaration of Lisa Heansley Eckert
at 8, 18 (referencing Complaimt Exhibit 9, Kiesking Tariff).

# Complaint at 11, § 18; Answer at 15, ¥ 18. See Joint Statement at 3,4 8.
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Act?

9. During the time period relevant to the Complaint, Farmers entered into 2 number of
commercial arrangements with conference calling companies as a means lo increase its interstate
switched access traffic and revenues ** Farmers, in turn, paid the companies money or other
consideration in certain circumstances.’

10.  The Complaint alleges that Fasmers “pursued 2 premeditated plan 1o inflate its sccess-
charge revenues by enfering into agreements with [conference calling companies] resulting in vastly
increased usage of Farmers’ network, af or about the same time that Farmers exited the NECA access
pool.™? Discovery confirmed this assertion. [Redacted confidential information regarding Farmers’
business relationships with conference calling companies.}

11.  As aresult of these arrangements with conferonce calling companies, the number of
minutes delivered to the Farmers exchange increased dramatically.” [Redacted confideatial information
regarding Farmers' interstatc access minutes of use and bills for various months during the Complaint
Period.] This sharp increase in the number of MOUs was pot anributable to an increase in the number of
lines serviced by Farmicrs, but rather to the significant amount of traffic delivered to the conference
calling companies.**

12.  Section 61.39(z) of the Commission’s rules would have required Farmers to revize its
tariff in June 2007 if it wanted to continue to file its own access tariff based on traffic for the two prior
years (which would necessarily result in lower rates).” Rather than updating its individual access tariff
rales pursuant to rule 1.39, however, Farmers elected to operate again as an issuihg camicr in the traffic-
sensitive portion of the NECA Tariff, effective June 30, 2007,

D. The Complaint
13, Faced with soaring monthly access charges, Qwest ccasod paying Farmers’ mvoices in

full,” and it filed the Complaint with the Commission on May 2, 2007. In Count I, Qwest alleges that,
beginning July 1, 2005, Farmers earned a rate of return far in excess of the prescribed maximum, and that

™ 47U.S.C. § 204(aX3); Joint Statement a1 4,1 10.

 Joint Statement at 4,9 13.

¥ Joim Statement a1 4, Y 13.

2 Complaint at 18, § 33 (emphasis sdded).

¥ Joint Statement at 4, 4 13,

™ Joint Statement at 4, § 12.

¥ 47 CFR. §§ 61.3%(a), 61 39(bX2N4); see alse Small Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red at 3812, 4 12.

* Joint Statement at 5, ¥ 15. Although Farmers® individual access 1ariff mo longer is in effect, a ruling addressing
whether Farmers eamned an unlawfully high rate of return through its efforts to enhance access charge revenue will
provide important guidanee to the telecommunications indusay. See Bell Adantic-Delaware, Inc. v. Global NAPs,
Inc., Order on Reconsideration, 15 FOC Red 5997, 6000, § 8 (2000) (the Commission's “adjudication of cases
gencrates precedents and clarifics the law, providing benefits to the public at large™), petition for review denied,
Global NAPs, Inc. v. FCC, 347 F.3d 252 (D.C. Cir. 2001). See also MC] Telecommunications Corp. v. Southern
Bell Telephone and Telegraph, Memomndum Opinion and Onder, 4 FCC Red 8135, 8136, Y7 (1989) (holding that
revision of a contested lanff did not render moos a formal complaint challenging the reasonableness of the wariff).

¥? See Joint Statement at 9, ¥ 35; Initiad Brief of Farmers and Merchants Mutal Telephone Company, File No. EB-
07-MD-001 (“Farmers” Opening Bricf”) at 13 & Exhibit J, Declaration of Rex McGuire (*McGuire Opening Bricf
Declaration”) at 3, § 7; Qwest Communication Cosporation’s Reply Bricf, File No. EB-07-MD-001 (filed July 24,
2007) (“Qwest’s Reply Brief”) at 4-5 n.22.

17976



Case 1:07-cv-00861-WHP  Document 32-5  Filed 03/14/2008 Page 6 of 17

Federal Communications Commission FCC 97-178

|
Farmers’ access rates wéc thetefore unjust and unreasonable in violation of section 201(b) of the Act.™
Qwest further contends that Farmers’ tanif rates are nok entitled 1o “deemed lawful” protection, because
Farmers’ actions “smack of a deliberate, bad-faith plen to increase duunﬁml&y”l?azm' access revenues
and 1o cam a rate of return vastly in excess of the Commission’s prescription. According to Qwest,
Farmers® rates should be declared void ab initio, and Farmers should be held liabie for retrospective
damages in an amount to be proven during a subsequent proceeding.®® Altemnatively, Qwest contends that
the traffic at issue is nil ﬁmninatingwccss"ﬂatﬁcnsdefmdinﬂwtmiﬁ',andthaﬂmviolawd
section 203(c) (Count IT) and 201(b) (Count JII) of the Act, by applying cherges not consistent with 1ts
mm‘l

L  DISCUSSION

A Fam#n’ Access Rates During the Complaint Period Are Subject to Rate of Returs
Review.

14.  Qwest argucs that, during the Complaint Period, Farmers’ interstate switched access rates
resulted in retums exceeding the maxiroum allowable retum for the rate category inchuding rates for Line
Termination, Intercept, Local Switching, Transport, and Information, dnd/or exceeding the maxinmum
allowable return for interstate access charges overall.” According to Qwest, the vast increase in demand
that Farmers experienced after itlcﬁtlmNECABool in July 2005 and established its own tarifl was not
accompanicd by an equivalent increase in costs.” In Qwest’s view, this fact establishes that Farmers’
intersiate switched access rates exceed the authorized rate of retumn “many times over. ™ Qwest further
contends d:sax rates exceeding the authonzed rate of retm are per se vnlawful and violate section 201(b)
of the Acl.

15.  Farmers maintains that it is not required to calculate its interstate access rates on the basis
of its own costs or to cakculate an individual rate of return, because it is an average schedule company.*
According to Farmers, subjecting it to individual rate of retum review is inconsistent with its average

" Complaint at 20-22, 4 37-41.

3 Complaint at 18,4 33.

© Complaint at 22, 141. Qwest initially argued that the Commission should ordes Farmess to contipue to offes its
own tariff relying on “company specific rates reflecting recent vohume figuses is its new tariff, rather than rectering
the NECA pool.” Reply at4. See Cooplaint at 27, § 60 (asking the Commission to “direct[] Farmers to
immmediately amend its tariffs to reflect its current demand and costs™). Qwest subsequently withdrew that
request. Qwest's Reply Brief at 4 n.21.

¥ Complaint at 22-26, T4 42-55.

“ Complaint at 1-2, 6,97 & n.3, 15,426, 20-21, 7§ 33-39; Complaint, Exhibit A {Legal Analysis in Support of
Qrwest Commimications Corp_'s Complaint ["Qwest's Legal Analysis™]) at i, 3-6, 11-17; Roply of Qwest
Commmunications Corp., File No. EB-07-MD-001 (filed June 1, 2007) (“Reply™) at 2; Qwest’s Opening Briefat 9.

* Complaint at 2, 14-15, 1§ 24-26, 21, 4 38; Qwest’s Legal Analysis at i, 3, 12-13; Reply at 2; Qwest’s Opening
Briefat 7.

 Complaint al 21, 7 38; Qwest’s Legal Analysis at 14,

* Complaint at 2, 20,  38; Qwest’s Legal Analysis at 5, 7; Reply at 9; Qweat’s Opening Brief at 9. See Global
Crossing Telecommunications, Inc. v. Metraphones Telecommunications, Inc., 127 $. C1. 1513, 1519-20 (2007);
Virgin Islands Telephone v. FCC, 444 F 3d 666, 669-70 (D.C. Cir. 2006), MCI Telecommumications Corp. v. FCC,
59 F.3d 1407, 1414 (D.C. Cis. 2005).

*® Answer at iii, 2-3, 12,97, 23,439, 30, 1 60, 32. See also Answey, Exbibit E (Legal Anatysis of Farmers and
Merchants Mutual Telephone Company (“Farmers® Legal Analysis™]) at 7-8; Fasmers’ Opening Brief at 5; Farmers’
Reply Brief at 7. ‘

17977



Case 1:07-cv-00861-WHP  Document 32-5  Filed 03/14/2008 Page 7 of 17

Federal Communicstions Commission FCC 07-115

schedule status.” Farmers contends that “individua) rate of return regulation” applies “10 only
‘companies electing to use the historical cost approach,”” and that Farmers is not such a company beeause
it uses the “historical average schedule seitlement approach set forth in Section 6).3%b)(2) [of the
Commmission’s rules],” ather than the “historical cost approach set forth in Section 61.3%(b)(1) [of the
Commission’s tules].” Farmers also contends that, going forward, the Commission’s regulalory regtme
will cause Fanmers’ rates to decline in subsequent tariff filings.” Thus, Farmers maintains that it has
“fully complied with the authorized rate of retm by calculating its access service rates on the basis of the
average schedule formulas approved by the Commission 1o earn the authorized rate of retun, ™

16 F * average schedule stats does not immunize it from rate of retumn review. As
explained above, ;Tgumiuim in 1987 adopted rules permitting small camriers to establish their access
rates based on the priar year’s costz and demand or theit NECA scttlements. Those rules were designed
to “reduce federal regylatory burdens on small telephone companies,” while simultaneously eliminating
“incentives for small ies 10 file access tariffs producing excessive returns.”™ To further the lanter
goal, the Commission clarified that small carriers “remain subject to the [established] rate of retum,” and
that the Commisgion retains the right 1o “enforce its rate of reurn prescription by appropnate action,
including the imposition of refunds.™ Thus, if the use of historical figures proves ot to be “rate
neutral,” the Commission “may request that carricr to submit the data specified by the data filing
provisions in the Commission’s Rules . .. 1o monitor that carrier's earnings.”™ This allows the
Commission to “assess the need for corrective action.™ The Commission's rules accordingly require
small carriers to adhere to the prescribed rate of retrn and, upon request, to submit to the Commission
information necessary 10 monitor the carrier’s earnings. **

17.  Farmers’ contention that it is rot a company that employs the “historical cost approach”
(and, thercfore, is not subject to rate of return review) is unfounded. The phrase “historical cost
approach™ that appears in footnote 27 of the Smalf Carrier Tariff Order refers to the Commuission’s

7 Answer at 3, 12,97, 22,4 38; Farmers® Legal Analysis at 8; Farmers’ Opening Brief at 5.
* Farmers® Opening Brief at 5 (quoting Small Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red at 3813 n.27).
* Answer at 18,4 26.

* Answer a1 3, 12,97, 23,9 39; Farmers’ Legal Analysis at 9. See Answer at 16,720, 18,926, 22, § 38. Farmers

also disputes Qwest’s purporicd contention that Farmers “should have calculated its access rates based on demand

projections.” Answer a14,24-25, 41, 32; Fanmers” Legal Analysis at 8; Farmers* Opening Brief at 7. In its Reply

Brief, however, Qwest dlarified its position that Farmers had three choices in the face of its plan to increass traffic

volumes: “(1) remain in the NECA pool, (2) rely on projections pursuant fo section 61.38, of (3) seck Commission

guidmcc on how best to account in its filing for its knowlcdge that volumes were about to skyrocket.” Qwest's
¢ply Brief at 3.

5\ Small Carrier rarmrcj,wa,z FCC Rod at 3811-12, 941, 7.

*? Small Carrier Tariff Qrder, 2 FCC Red at 3813, 18. In 1987, the Commission could order a caricr that over-
eamed to pay refunds. Since the passage of section 204(a)(3) of the Act, the Commmission cannot award refurnds in
connection with tariffs that are “deemed lawful ™ See discussion at paragraph 20, below. Howcver, that does not
prectude the Commission from awanding propective relief in 2 complaint proceeding. Id. See Smati Carrier Tariff
Order, 2 FCC Red at 3813, 113 n.23 (noting that rates under a section 61.39 tarifi “would, of course, be subject to
challenge in a Scction 208 complaint proceeding™).

» Small Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Rod 5t 3813, 1 18.

* Smalt Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red at 3813, 1 18,

S 47 C.F.R. § 61.3%(c) (“The Commission may require any carricr to submit . . . information if it deems it necessary
to mopitor the carrier’s eamings. However, ratcs must be calculaiod based on te local cxchange carrier’s
prescribed rate of return applicabic to the period during which the ratcs are effective.”). See alto 47 C.F R,

§ 61 3'8(3) {stating that the Commission may require any carrier that has submittcd a teriff filing under ruke 61.39 o
submit such information as may be necessary for 2 review of a tariff filing™).
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decision to allow small cariers to use historical cost figures, rather than projections, to calculate rates.”
The Commission did not. draw a distinction between cost carriers’ use of historical cost figures and
average schedule carriers’ use of historical settlement data. Indeed, rule 61.39 discusses both types of
carriers.

18.  Fammers correctly notes that casriers participating in the NECA pool do not prepare cost
studies and are not subject to individual rate of retrn scrutiny.” That is not the case, however, for
carriers that have left the NECA pool. At that point, a carries’s receipis are pot calculated pursnant to
Commission-approved settiement formulas (although its prior years” settiements arc used as a proxy for
its costs), and its rates jare subject to company-specific review, For that reason, Farmers’ repeated
relisnce on a Commission Order approving NECA-proposed modifications to average schedule formolas
is inapposite, ™ because, during the relevant period, Farmers did not pasticipate in the NECA pool.”

19.  The Commission has investigated and invalidated access rates charged by a carnier
pursuant to a section 61.39 tariff  Specifically, in 1998, the Commission invalidated access rate increases
proposed by Beehive Teiephone Company, Inc. of Nevada (*Bechive™), a LEC, which had filed its own
tariff under section 61,39 but had failed to demonsirate increased capital- or business-related costs.” The
Commission found that Bechive had eamed an excessive rate of retum, prescribed new rates for
prospective application based in part on costs for the services at issue, and ordered Bechive to pay
refunds.®’ In 2002, the Commission in a section 208 complaint proceeding determined that Bechive’s
access rales (sct under section 61.39) for a period preceding the rates at issuc in the above-described tariff

% See Small Currier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red a1 3812, § 13 (“We conclude in this Order that penmitting small
carviers to file access tarjffs using historical cost and demand data to set rates appropniately rednces the

burdens faced by these companics.”) (emphasis added); id. at 3815, 33 (“We have determined in this Order that the
reduction of the administrative and regulatory burdens on small tclephone companies is warranted . .. The rules
adopted hercin reduce the frequency of required filings and provide small companies the option of choosing to file
interstate access tariffs tased on Aistorical cost and demand data, or 1o participate in NECA’s pooling
armangements.”) (cmphasis added).

51 See July I, 2004 Annual Access Charge Tariff Filings, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 19 FCC Red 23877,
23878, 12 n.4 (2004) (“The pool revenucs of average schedule companies are determined on the basis of a series of
formatlas ., . For qualifying small companies, the average schedule option avoids the expense of preparing cost
studies.”).

** See Answer at 7, 12, 7, 22, 1 38; Fasmers™ Legal Analysis at 8 (citing National Fxchange Carrier Ass'n, Inc.
Proposed Maodifications|to the Interssate Average Schedules, Memorandum Opimion and Order, 8 FCC Red 4861,
4863, 417 (1993) (rejecting MCT's assertion regarding the possibility of overeamings by individual average
schedule companics participating in the NECA pool and noting that requiring individual companics to produce a
cost study “would be inconsisient with the purposc of having interstate average schedule formmlas™). Farmers’
reliance ou the Commission’s decision in the Joint Cost Reconsideration Order similasly is mapposite. Farmers®
Legat Analysis at 7-8. See Seporation of Costs of Regulated Telephane Service from Costs of Nonregulated
Activities Amendment of Part 31, the Uniform System of Accounts for Class A and Class B Telephone Companies to
Provide for Nonregulated Activities and 1o Provide for Tremsactions berween Telephone Companies and Their
Affifiates, Order on Reconsideration, 2 FCC Red 6283 (1987) (“Joint Cost Reconsideration Order™). There, the
Commission declined 10 roquire average schedule casriess 10 separate theit nonregulated costs from their regulated
costs because it “would be a meaningless exercise, .. . would create an unnccessary regulatory burdenf, and] . . .
wouid have no resulting impact on interstate rmes,” Joint Cost Reconsideration Order, 2 FCC Red a1 6300, § 155,
In that rulemaking proceeding, the Commission was not addressing the scenario contemplated by rule 61.3%(c) —
promulgatcd that same year - where & particular carrier ‘s earnings are at issue.

* Joint Statement at 3,9 8.

* Beehive Telephone Company, Inc., Tariff F.C.C. No. 1, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 13 FCC Red 2736
(1998) (“Beehive I"), modified on recon., 13 FCC Red 11795 (1998), aff d, Beehive Telephone Co.. Inc. v. FCC, 180
F.3d 314 (1999).

*' Bechive 1,13 FOC Red ot 274246, '3 17-26.
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investigation were unjust and unreasonable.* The Commission found that “Beehive had eamed 2 15.18
percent rate of return in 1994, a 62.60 percent rate of return in 1996, and a 67.95 percent rate of retum in
1996, all well above the prescribed rate of return of | 1.25%.

20, In addition, Farmers asseris that section 204(a)(3) of the Act (enscted i 1996) results in
its triffod access rates being “decmed lawful” as a matter of law and, therefore, that no claim for
overcharges can be brought against it based on statements in the Small Carrier Tariff Order (released in
1987).% Farmers is incorrect with respect to prospective relief. “[Slection 204(a)3) does not mean that
taniff provisions that are dectned lawful when they take effect may not be found unlawful subsequently in
section 205 of 208 proceedings.™ L other words, the Commission retains its ability “to find under
section 208 that a rate will be unlawful if charged in the futwre.™’ And, in such circumstances, the
Commission “may prescribe a ncw rate to be effective prospectively.”™ The D.C. Circuit has upheld
these principies in the;coptext of section 208 complaint procoedings.” Consequently, the rate of return
review discussed by the Commission in the Small Carrier Tariff Order is entirely consistent with 2
prospective review of rates deemed lawful under section 204(2)(3)- Indeed, as notcd above, rule 61.3%c),
which provides for sth review, remains infact,

B.  Farmers Earned an Unlawful Rate of Reture Durbeg the Complaiat Period.

21.  Qwest argucs that Farmers earned revenues greatly in excess of the Commission-
prescribed ratc of retym.” In this litigation, Farmers chose not 1o produce its actual cost detaor a

 AT&T Corporation v. Beehive Telephone Company, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 17 FCC Red 11641 -
(2002) (“Bechive IT).

** Beehive Il, 17 FCC Red at 11650-51, 19.

“ Answer at iii, v, 5-6, 14,9 14, 18,926, 22,138, 23, %39, 24, 141, 30,9 60, 31; Farmers’ Legal Analysis at $-9.
See also Fanmers' Opening Bricf at 3-4 (arguing that, because Farmers filed its tariff rates pursusnt 1o section
204(a)3) of the Act, lhky “are, as a malter of law, ‘just and reasonable’ within the meaning of 47 U.S.C. § 201(b)”
and that “Jejven a very high rate of return does not staic a cognizable cause of action under Section 201(b) if the
rates are just and reasonable™). Farmers disputes the relevance of the Beehive decisions, discussed above, on this
basis, because the tariffs af issue in those cases were not filed under scction 204(aX3). Reply Brief of Farmers and
Merchants Mutual Telephone Company, File No. EB-07-MD-001 (filed July 24, 2007) (“Farmers' Reply Brief™) at
5.

* See discussion at parpgraph 27, below, regarding retrospoctive relief.

“ Implementation of Section 402(b)(1)(A) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, 12 FCC Red 2170, 2183, 421
(1997) (“Sweamlined Tariff Order”).

% Streamlined Tariff Order, 12 FCC Red at 2183, 121 (cmphasis added). Id a1 2182, § 19 (" Wle do not find,
however, that the wsion is prechuded from finding, under section 208, that a rate will be unlawful if  casrier
continues to charge it duting a future period or from prescribing a reasonable rate as to the future under scetion
205.™).

& Implementation of Section 402(b)(1)(A) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Order on Reconsideration, 17
FCC Red 17040, 17043, § 6 (2002) (42002 Deemed Lawful Order™).

“ See Virgin Islands Telephone Corp, v. FCC, 444 F.3d 666, 669 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (holding that, under the “deemed
lawful” regime, “{rlemedics against carriers charging tawful rates Inter found unreasonable must be prospective
only”™); id. at 671 n.4 (*The Commission may still impose its own remedy for overearnings during 1998; this
remedy, if any, must be prospective rather than retrospective.™); ACS of Anchorage, Inc. v. FCC, 290 F.3d 406, 411
(D.C_ Cir. 2002) (“ACS of Anchorage™) (holding that, even with respect 1o a rate deemed lawful under section
204{a)(3), prospective remedics are available if “lates examination shows™ the rate “to be uwnicasonsble™). Ser also
2002 Deemed Lawfil Order, 17 FCC Red at 17042, 6 (“The [ACS of Anchorage] court’s holding was limited to
the question of refund fiability for rates that were *deemed lawful”; it in fact acknowledged that the Commission
might order prospective relief *if a later reexamination shows them 0 be uprcasonable. ™).

™ Qwest's Opening Bricf at 11-12.
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calculation of its rate of retum as established by Commission rles. Instead, Farmers provided NECA
settlement figures in licu of actual cost data.” Consequently, to cstimate Farmers' rate of return, Qwest
argues that we should compare Farmers” interstate switched access bills during the Complaint Period
(which represent its revenues) and Farmers’ revenue requirements had it remained in the NECA pooln
{which Qwest argnes serves as a useful surrogate for Farmers” costs plus a reasonable rate of return.)
[Redacted confidential information comparing Farmers' total interstate switched access bills for the
Complaint Period with Farmers' aggregaie traffic-sensitive revenue requirement had it remained in the
NECA pool for the same period.]

22.  Fammers disputes the propriety of relying on the NECA average schedule formuia in
assessing its rate of return.” According to Farmers, although average schedule carriers participating in
the NECA 1ariff are compensated and regulated on the basis of NECA’s formuls,™ these companies do
not calenlate a rate of retum and are not required to perform the cost studies that would be necessary to
calculate a rate of retum.” As shown above, Farmers did not produce actual cost data that could be used
to calculate a rate of retwn, but instead provided NECA settlement figures.™ In adopting rule 61.39, the
Commission recognized that average schedule fornmla settiements could be used by average schedule
companies insiead of actual costs in setting rates.” As such, although it might not be appropriate to
compare Farmers’ earnings with the results of the settiement formula when determining refund liability,™

™ As noted above, under rule 61.3%(¢), a carrier may be requited to submit information the Commistion deems
neccasary to monitor the cxtrier's carnings. 47 C.F.R. § 61.39(c). Farmers objected to providing actual cost data in
response to Qwest’s discovery requests. See Farmers & Merchants Mutuat Telephone Company’s Objections to
Complainant’s Interrogatories and Document Requests, File No. EB-07-MD-001 (filed May 14, 2007) at 7-9.
Consequently, Farmers was given the option of responding (0 Qwest’s discovery requests targeted al Farmers® costs
by providing: (1) thc amount that Farmers® NECA settlement would have been had Farmers participated in the
NECA traffic-sensitive switched access pool for the month at issuc; or (2) its actual cost and demand figures for the
month at izsue as a surrogate for its expenses. See Letier from Lisa B, Griffin, Deputy Division Chief, EB, MDRD,
FCC, to David H. Solomon, Counsel for Qwest, and James 1. Troup, Counse) for Farmers, File No. EB-07-MD-001
{dmted Junc 14, 2007). Farmers chose option I. See Farmers’ Discovery Response at 3-4, Exhibit B.

™ Qwest's Opening Brief at 14,
7 Farmers’ Reply Brief at 7-9.

" See Nanional Exchange Carrier Association, Inc. (NECA) Proposed Modifications to the 1997 Interstate Avcrage
Schedule Formulas and Proposed Further Modifications to the 1997-98 Intersutte Average Schedule Formulas,
Order on Reconsideration and Order, 13 FCC Red 10116, 10118, 14 (Com. Car. Bur. 1997) (“*Cost companics’
scttie with NECA on the basis of their sctual intcrstate costs of service. *Average schedule companics® use formulas
to estimate the average costs of service and sette with NECA on the basis of those estimated costs. The average
schedule formulas are designed to simulate the disbursements that would be received by cost companies that are
representative of avernge schedule companics.”). See also 47 CFR. § 69.606 (“Payments [to average schedule
companics] shall be made in accordance with a formula approved or modified by the Commission. Such formula
shall be designed 1o producc disbursements to an average schedule company that simulate the disbursements that
would be received pursuant to § 69.607 by a [cost] company that is representative of average schedule companies.™).

™ Farmers™ Reply Briefat 7-8.
" See paragraph 21 supra.

"' See Smal) Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red at 3814, § 25 (directing cost companies to base rates on a cost study
but permitting average schedule companies to rely on previous years' NECA sctticments as a ssrrogate for cost
swudics).

™ We also note that the average schedule formulas never contempleted the extaordinary increases in demand
brought about by arrangemcnts such as those Farmers entered into with conference calling companics. See /n the
Marrer of Investigation of Certain 2007 Anmual Access Tariffs, Order Designating Issucs for investigation, 2007 WL
3416323 26,9, 11, Y1 24-25 (Wircline Comp. Bur. 2007) (“2007 Access Tariff Designation Order”). When »
camier such a8 Farmers experiences significant increases in its MOUs, the NECA average schedule formala likely
oversates such carrier's revenue requirement and thorcfore understates its rate of rotum. Cf, In the Matter of
(coutiwued ...)
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such a comparison is appropriate for the limited purpose of determining whether Farmers overcamed
during the Complaint Period. Thue, we do not use the average schedule formula 1o establish a specific
rate of return for Farmers.

23. Fammsdoanotdenyu\autsdmnanddunngmccomnmwmodfarcxceededns
historical demand used to calculate its individual tariff rates at the time it left the NECA pool.”
According to Farmers; however, its revenues predictably rose as a result of i ipcreases i in traffic volume. In
addition, Farmers maintains that its costs also increased, to some unspecificd extent® Further, Farmers
contends that: (1) Qwiest has not properly calculated Farmers* revene requirement (because Qwest
excluded settlement amounts for common line and SS7 services);” (2) Qwest improperly commingled
information for two different monitoring periods (.., that any analysis of the 2005-2006 and 2007-2008
monitoring periods would have to take into account any under-camings in 2005 and 2008, respectively);?
and (3) Farmers’ rates are reasonable “when compared 10 the rates that the large price cap carricrs
charge for conferencing services.”

24 We r¢ject Farmers’ assertions. First, Qwest presented persuasive expert testimony
demonstrating that Farmers” costs did not rise by nearly the same proportion as its access revenues.
Although Farmers submitted with its Reply Brief a declaration of its General Manager attesting that
Farmers incurred greater costs as its traffic volume expanded, the declaration is not sufficiently deuuled
or probative to counter the specific testimony and supporting analysis presented by Qwest’s expert™
Second, contrary 10 Farmers’ contention, Qwest properly excluded common line and SS57-related costs
from the revenue requirement, because such costs are recovered via a rate element not at issuc here. In
any event, excloding the costs works in Farmers' favor, because they are excluded from the total revenue -
figure as well. Third, Farmers gets litle mileage from its contention thar Qwest’s calculations ought 1o
include potential under-earnings that Farmers allegedly experienced while in the NECA pool. Farmers’
camings during the Complaint Period are subject to company-specific review. Because section 61 .39
(Contiwued from previeus page)

Establishing Just and Reasonable Rates for Local Exchange Carriers, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 07-176
at 12,725 (rel. Oct. 2, 2007) ( “Access Stimulation NPRM”) (*We tentatively conclude that the average schedule
formulas can only yield reasonable estimates of an average schodule canvier's costs when the demand is within the
range used to develop the formulas. When an average schedule carrier experiences a significant growth in demand
that takes it outsile the ed range of demand vsed 1o cstablish the average schedule formulus, the process of
running the mcmnseddqmnddauﬂnughl}m formulas produces what appear to be extreme increases in costs for

the carrier. This i sppears to be inconsistont with the efficiencies carviers would be expecied to realize as
access demand increases.”™)
 Farmers” Discovery . Exhibit A. When Farmers left the NECA pool, its individual wriff rates were

calculated based upon its historical denvand as calculated by the NECA settlement formula Joint Statement at 3,
n7s

" Farmers® Reply Bricfat 8. Farmers argues, for instance, that it made “substantial investments in additional
facilitics,” and incurred the cost of markevng fees. Furmers® Reply Brief, Exhibit A, Declaration of Rex McGuire
("McGuire Reply Brief Declaration™) af 2, 1 4.

*! Farmers’ Reply Bricf at 8 n.25.
" Farmers* Reply Brief ot 8-9.
® Farmers' Opening Brief at 6.7,

™ See Complaint, Exhibit C, Declaration of Peter Copeland (“Copeland Declaration™). Mr. Copeland’s testimony
shows that the remendons cxpansion in Farmers” traffic was not accompanied by a similar increase in access lincs.
Copeland Declaration at 4, ¥ 7. According to Mr. Copeland, under the NECA settlement formulas, when a carrier
such as Farmers experiences a substantial increase in access traffic volumes, buf that increase is not accompanied by
;;i:marriu in access line counts, its costs rise at a much slower pace than its receipts. Copeland Declaration at 13,

" Compare Copeland Declaration witk McGuire Roply Bricf Declaration.

17982



Case 1:07-cv-00861-WHP  Document 32-5  Filed 03/14/2008 Page 12 of 17

Feders! Communications Commission FCC 07-175

carriers are exempt from the monitoring period requirements of section 65.701 of the Commission’s
rules,™ we find that the two year period that Farmers was owt of the NECA raffic-zensitive pool is a
reasonable time frame over which to measure and evalnate Farmers® eamnings. Finally, the rates that
Qwest charges for its conference calling services simply are not relevant to determinations of whether
rates for Farmers™ access scrvice — an entirely different service — are just and rcasonable and whether
Farmers exceeded the permissible rate of retum.

25,  Insum, given Farmers’ failure to produce actual data regarding its costs, we agree with
Qwest that it is appropriate to use the results of applying the NECA. average schedule formula for the
purpose of determining whether Farmers overearned. Moreoves, we find that Qwest persuasively has
demonstrated that Farmers’ revenues increased many fold during the period at issue, withont a
concotnitant increase jn costs. As a result, the conclusion that Farmers vastly exceeded the prescribed
rate of rewrn is incscd[pablc.

C.  Although Farmers Earned an Uslawfal Rate of Return During the Complaint
Period, Qwest Is Not Entiticd to Damages.

26.  Qwest asks the Commission to depart from the prohihition against awarding retrospective
relief in conjunction with “deemed lawfl™ tariffs, because Farmers engaged in a “deliberate, bad-faith
plan” to vastly increase its access revenues and earn an unlawfully high rate of return.”’ Specifically,
Qwest maintains that, at the time Farmers filed new rates to be effective July 1, 2005, Fanmers already
had entered mito a contract with a conference calling company {Redacted confidential information
regarding the terms of Farmers® contract with a confercnce calling company]. Qwest argues that Farmers
nonetheless based its new rates on much lower historical volume figures.® Qwest contends that section
204{a)(3)’s “deemed lawfil” provision does not apply in such circumstances, and it seeks a declaration
that Farmers” tariffed rates are “void ab initio,” thereby entitling Qwest to a damages award.”

27.  We decline to nule as Qwest requests. As an initial marter, Qwest contends that factual
statements Farmers made 10 the Commission in support of ils tariff filing were “incomect”™ and/or
“misleading,” in violation of Commission rule 1.17(aX1) and (2),® because Farmers failed to disclose its
purported plan to increase inlcrstate access volumes.” Under the Commission’s rules, Farmers was
tequired to report its historical cost and demand figures, which the Commission determined arc “likely to
be a close and unbiased substitute for prospective data.”” In fact, the Commission specifically declined
to include a requirement that casiers provide any projected densand data or combine such future
projections with historical data.™ In this case, Fasmers reported its historical data accurstely. Farmers
was not required to opine on whether its historical volume figures were an accuratc proxy for fusture

*47CER §61.3%c)..

n Complaint at {8, 33: See also Complaint a1 2, 18-20, 1§ 33-36; Qwest’s Legal Analysis at ii, 4, 17-21; Qwest’s
Opening Brief at 16 (“Fasmers achicved these grossly excessive revenues throngh implementation of 2 pre-plansed,
mtentional scheme 10 abuse a perceived loophole in the Commission’s rules.™).

™ Qwest’s Opening Brief at 16.

hid Complaint st 2, 22, Y41, 27, § 60; Qwest's Legal Analysis at i, 4, 17-21; Qwest’s Opening Brief at 16-18;
Qwest’s Reply Brief at 2-3.

P47 CER § LI1NaK1). (2).
* Qwest’s Opening Bricf at 17.

% Small Carrier Tariff Order, 2 FCC Red 5t 3812, 912 n.22. See Furmers’ Reply Brief at 7 (“Section 61.39(b) of
the Commiasion’s rules does not require supporting data to be filed with the tariff, and Section 61.3%(b)2) probibits
the ute of projected demand in liew of historical desand. Farmers therefore believed that the Commission would
not have been interestcd in the contracts that Farmers had with conferencing companies.™).

¥ See Small Carrier Tariff Ovder, 2 FCC Rod a1 3813, Y 15-16.
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volume figures. As it turns out, the historical data was not 2 good substitute for prospective data, and
Farmers overcamed. Under the existing rulcs, however, Farmers® statements are not untawful.™ Nor do
we consider Farmers” failure to disclose its future plans to be a “case of a carrier that furtively employs
improper accounting techniques in a tariff filing, thereby concealing potential rate of return violations. ™
Although Qwest characterizes Farmers® actions as “undcrhanded,” and we agree that Farmers
manipulated the Commission’s rules to achieve a result unintended by the rules, Qwest does not idenufy
any “improper accounting techmques™ employed by Farmers.”" Finally, Qwest has not alleged that
revenue-sharing armrangements between Farmers and the conference calling companies violate section
201(b) per se. Consequently, the prior Commission decision relied on by Qwest (finding that certain
conduct by an IXC toward a compelitive access provides (“CAP”) was permissible when the CAP was
established as a sham entity) is not dispositive.”

D. We Depy Farmers’ Request for » Ruling Regarding Qwest’s Alleged Self-Help.

28.  Farmers asserts that Qwest has only made partial paymeats for the terminating access
services Farmers provided.” According to Farmers, “{ejach time that Qwest has withheld payment of
Farmers's tariffed charges, it has violated Farmers's tariff and engaged in unlawful self-help.”'® Farmers
asks the Commission to find that “Qwest’s self-help is unlawful and a continuing violation of Sections
201(b) and 203(c) of the Act and Farmers's federa) tariff.”'®'

29.  We decline to rule as Farmers requests. To begin, Farmers® request is tantamount to a
“cross-complaint,” which the Commission’s formal complaint rules expressly prohibit."? Morcover, any
complaint instituted by Farmers to recover fees allegedly ewed by Qwest would constitute a “collection

™ We similarly see no grounds to rely on gencral equitable principles such as “unclean hands™ 1o award Qwest
damages. See Qwest's Legal Analysis at 21 (A decision to declare Farmers’s access raics void ab initio would also
be consistent with other lcgal principles designed to prevent wrongdoers from relying on deception to retain ill-
gotten gains ); Qwest’s Opening Brief at 18 n.66 (same).

* Complaint at 22, § 41 (citing ACS of Anchorage; 290 F 3d at 413); Qwest’s Legal Analysis af 20 (samc); Qwest's
Opening Bricf at 17-18 (same).

* Qwezt’s Opening Bricf at 18,

*" Although we do not grant the retrospective relief Qwest requests in his complaint proceeding, the Commission in
the future will examine closcly conduct that manipulates the historical volume and pricing rules and may wel) find
that such conduct violates section 201(b) of the Act. Indeed, we currently are considering the Iswfulness of such
amangements in other proccedings. Access Stimulation NPRM. In addition, we arc considering whether payments
made 10 the provider of a stimulating activity under such agreements may be included in a camicr’s revenuc
requirement for purposes of eetting rates. 2007 Access Tariff Designation Order 3t 7, 14 13-14.

* Qwest's Legal Amalysis at 20 (citing Total Telecommunications Serv., Inc. v. ATAT Corp., Memorandum Opinion
and Order, 16 FCC Red 5726 (2001) (“Total v. AT&T™)). We cxpress no view on whether a different record could
have demonstrated that the deemed lawful provision docs not apply or thai the conduct at issue ran afoul of any
other statutory provisions.

% Joint Statement at 9, § 35; McGuire Opening Bricf Declaration at 3,9 7.
" Farmers® Opening Brief at 13. See also Answer 8t 10; Farmers® Legal Analysis at 1, 11-12.
"' Farmers’ Opening Bricf a1 2, 14.

wa 47 CF.R. § 1.725 (“Cross-complaints seeking any relief within the jurisdiction of the Commission against any
carrier _that is a party (complainant or defendant) to that procecding are expressly prohibited. Any claim that yight
othcrwise meet the requirements of a cross-complaing may be filed 85 a separate complaint in sccordance with

§§ 1.720 through 1.736. For purposes of this subpart, the term ‘eross-complaint” shall include counterclaims.™).
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action,” which the Commission repeatedly has declined (o entertain '®

E. Fa Did Not Violate Sections 203 or 201(b) of the Act by Imposing Terminating
Access Charges on Traffic Bound for Conference Calling Companies.

30.  Qwest alleges that Farmers violated sections 203 and 201(b) of the Act by imposing
terminating access charges on traffic that Farmers does not, in fact, terminate.'™ Qwest argues that traffic
delivered 10 the conference callin§ companies does not tenminate in Farmers” exchange, but mercly passes
through it to terminate clscwhere.'” We find, however, that Farmers does terminate the traffic at issue,
and therefore we deny Counts H and Il of the Complaint.

31. Qwest correctly notes that only a carrier whose facilities are used to originate or
terminate a call may impose access charges '™ The Commission has generally used an “end-to-cnd”
analysis in determining where a cal) terminates.'”’ As Qwest points out, the Commission has focused on
the end points of the communications, “and consistently has rejected attempts to divide communications
at any intermediate points of switching or exchanges between carriers.”'™

32.  Qwest argues that calls to the conference calling companies are ultimately connected to—
and terminate with — users in disparate locations.'” According to Qwest, when a caller dials onc of the
conference calling companies’ telephone numbers, the communication that he or she initiates is not with
the conference calling company, but with other people who have also dialed in to the conference calling
company’s number."'® Qwest argues that such calls terminate at the locations of those otber callers, and
that Farmers is providing a transiting service, not termination. Farmers’ view of the calls, however, is
that users of the conference calling services make calls that terminate at the conference bridge, and arc
connected together at that point.'’’ We find Farmers® characterization of the conference calling services

' See U.S. Telepacific Corp. v. Tel-America of Salit Lake City, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Osder, 19 FCC Red
24552, 24555-56, 1 8 (2004) (citing “long-standing Commission precedent” bokding that the Commission docs not
act 24 a collection agent for carriers with respoct to unpeid tariffed charges, and that such claims should be filed in
the appropriate state or federal courts). ’

184 See Complaint at 22-26, Counts 1§ and I11.

" See Complaint at 22-23 (arguing that ipwosition of lerminating access charges violates sections 201(b) and 203
of the Act); Qwest's Legal Analysis at 21-30 (zame); Reply at 14-19 (same). See olse Qwest's Opening Brief ot 23-
24; Qwest’s Reply Brief st 6-7.

1% Qwest’s Lega) Analysis at 21 (noting that section 3(16) of the Act defines exchange access 25 “the offering of
access 1o telephone exchange services or facilities for the purpose of origination or termination of telephone 1wl
services”) (emnphasis added).

™ Bell Adanric Tel. Cos. v. FCC, 206 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (“Bell Atlantic v. FCC™).

" Bell Atlantic v. FCC, 206 F.3d at 4.

'” Complaint at 23; Qwest's Legal Analysis a1 24; Reply at 14-15; Qwest’s Opening Bricf at 23-24; Qwest's Reply
Brief at 6-7. Qwest initially agserted that calls boond for the conference calling companies do not terminate at
Farmers’ exchange because at least some of the traffic “appears 1o be” iransposted to equipment owned by the
conference calling companies and located outside the exchange. Qwest's Legal Analysis a1 24; Reply at 14.
Farmers, howcver, stated that the traffic at issue is all routed 10 conference bridges located in Farmers® exchange.
McGuire Opening Brief Declaration at 3. Jn it Opening Brief, Qwest indicated that it was no kwger relying on this
point. Qwest's Opening Brief at 23 1.90.

"% Qwest’s Legal Analysis at 22; Qwest’s Opening Brief at 23-24; Qwest’s Reply Brief at 6-7.
"™ Answer at 26. Farmers’ Opening Brief at 9-10.
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1o be more persuasive than Qwest’s.'"?

33.  Qwest’sview of how 1o treat 3 conference call leads to anomalous results. For instance,
suppose paries A, B, C, and D dial in to a conference bridge. According to Qwest, A has made three
calls, one termunating with B, one with C, and one with D. But in fact, B, C, and D have actually initiated
calls of their own in order to communicate with A. 'What Qwest calls the termination points arc actually
call initiation points. Moreover, under Qwest’s theory, the exchange carriers serving B, C, and D would
all be entitled to charge termimating access. In fact, each of those carriers would be entitled 1o charge
lerminating access three times - B's carrier could charge for terminating calls from A, C, and D, and so
forth. This conference call with four parncipants would incur terminating access charges twelve times.
Qwest has not addressed this logical consequence of its theory, nor has it offered any evidence that
conference calls are treated as terminating with the individual callers for any purpose beyond the
circumstances of this case,''

34, Qwest trics to analogize this case to cailing card platform cases in which the Commission
applied an end-to-end analysis and found that calls dialed in to a calling card ?latfonn and then routed on
10 another party terminated with the ultimate called party, not at the platform."* In other words, the
Commussion found that there was one call (from A to B via the calling card platform), not two (A to the
platform plus platform to B). This argument is circular, however. It assumes that the calls at issue are
routed on to another party, when the very issue to be decided bere is whether that is the case. The calling
card cases merely address the issue of whether the call terminaics at the platform if, in fact, it is routed on
to another party beyond the platform.'"

""" The parties argue about whether Qwest would assess terminating access charges in this situation, but the record
does not answer the question, According to Farmers, Qwest has admitted that it also bills terminating access for
calls to a conference bridge. Farmers’ Opening Bricf at 2 (citing Response of Qwest Communications Corporation
to Interrogatories, File No, EB-07-MD-001 (filed July 10, 2007)). Qwest, however, indicates that conference call
providers gencrally use 3 different service configuration, relying on special access and 800 service, and states that
Qwest has no knowledgr of any end user providing a conference bridge service in the same manner as the
conference calling companics that entered agreements with Farmers. Qwest Response 10 Interrogatory No. 1.
Qwest does state that in the rare case that a conference call provider did interconnect in the same manner as the
conference calling complamics in this case, Qweat would assess terminating access charges. In its Reply Brief,
however, Qwest says that it would do so only to the extent that it had no reason 1o know that its customer was 8
conference calling company. Qwest’s Reply Briefat 7. Qwest gives no indication of what it would do if it knew
that the customer was & conference calling company. Because the partics have not identified any specific instance in
whk:thcstncmallydiddmge—ordmm!mchﬂgc—mﬁmingm for calls 1o & conference bridge, we
find the record inconclusive on this point. I any event, what Qwest would hypothetically charge under similar
circumstances is not dispositive here.

'™ Newton’s Tclecom Dictionary’s definition of a “conference bridge” also seems consistent with Farmers’ view,
speaking of the callers beingcomccwdbydncbcidgc.mdmﬂmdem‘bingthehﬁdgeumningdwcsnsonﬁnm
onc caller to another. Newton’s deseribes 3 conference bridge as “Ja] telecommunications facility or service which
permits callers from several diverse locations 1o be connevted together for & conference call™ H. Newton, Newton's
Telecom Dictionary, at 260 (2006).

' Qwest’s Legal Analysis at 25-26 (citing AT&T Corp. Petition for Declaratory Ruling Regarding Enhanced
Prepmd Calling Cord Services, Ovder and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 20 FCC Red 4826 (2005), and
Regulation of Prepaid Calling Card Services, Declaralory Ruling and Repont and Onder, 21 FCC Red 7290 (2006)).

' We also find inapposite a number of cases cited by Farmers to suggest that the Commission has already found
that it is lawful to impose access charges for the type of service al issue here. See Farmess® Legal Analysis at 10
(citing AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Telephone Co., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Red 16130 (2001);
AT&T v. Frontier Communications of Mi. Pulaski, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 17 FCC Red 404§
{2001); Beehive 11, 17 FCC Red at 11641). In those cases, the issue of whether access charges were appropriate was
never addressed. The partics and the Commission simply assumed that the LECs involved were providing access
service, and the dispute was about the Iswfulness of their rates.
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35.  In addition fo its argumcnt about where the calls at issue terminate, Qwest also argues
that Farmers’ tariff does not allow Farmers to assess lerminating access charges on calls to the conference
calling companies. Farmers® tariff provides that terminating access service allows the customer “to
terminate calls from a customer designated premises to an end user’s premises.”''® Qwest asserts that the
conference calling companies are not end nsers, and that thercfore delivering calls to them does not
constitute terminating access service. The record indicates, however, that the conference calling
companies are end users as defined in the taniff, and we therefore find that Farmers’ access charges have
been imposed in accordance with irs tariff.

36.  Farmers’ tanff dcfives “end user™ as “any customer of an interstate or foreign
wlecomnmnications service that is not a carrier,” and in tum defines “customer” as any entity “which
subscribes to the services offered under this tariff.™""’ Qwest asserts that the conference calling
companies do not subscribe to services offered under Farmers” tariff, and are therefore neither customers
por end users. Thus, Qwest concludes, delivery of traffic to the conference calling companies cannol
constitute tenninating access under the taniff.

37. Farmers asscrts that the conference calling companies are customers because they
purchase interstate End User Access Service and pay the federal subscriber line charge.’® Qwest,
however, argues that the conference calling companies nevertheless do not “subscribe” to Farmers’
services “under any meaningful definition of that term.”"** Qwest asserts that “subscription” requires the
payment of money, ” but that the conference calling companies effectively pay nothing for Farmers’
service becanse all of their payments are refunded to them in another form - the marketing fees.

38.  We find that Farmers’ payment of marketing fees to the conference calling companies
docs not affect their status as customers, and thus end users, for purposes of Farmers® tariff ! Qwest
offers scant support for its assertion that one cannot subscribe o a service without making a net payrent
10 the service provider.'” For this pivotal proposition, Qwest cites nothing in the tariff itself, but only
Black’s Law Dictionary’s definition of “subscription™ as a “written contract by which one engagesto . . .
contribute a sum of money for a designated purpose . . . in consideration of an equivalent to be rendered,
as a subscription to a periodical, a forthcoming book, a serics of entertainments, or the like.”'™ Another
dictionary, however, defines “subscribe™ as merely “to enter one’s name for a publication or service,”™*
and we note that offers of “free subscriptions™ are quite common. We reject Qwest’s premise that the
conference calling companies can be end users under the tariff only if they made net payments to’

"'® Farmets’ wariff incorporates the NECA wiiff"s texms with respoct to switched access services. See Complaint,
Exhibit 9 (Kiesling Tariff) a1 § 6. The quoted kanguage appears in the NECA Tarifl. See Complaint, Exhibit §
(NECA Tayiff) a1 § 6.1.

""" Complaint Exhibit 8(NECA Tariff) at § 2.6.
" Complaint at vii, 27.
% Qwest's Lepal Analysis at 27.

" Qwest cites only w the Black’s Law Dictioary definition of “subscription” for this proposition. Qwest's Legal
Analysis at 27.

"' We express no view on whether the conduct at issue ran afoul of any other statulory provisions not raised by
Qwest.

"2 Qwest complains that Farmers has not offered suthority 1o support the altevnative view, Qwest’s Reply Bricf at 5,
but Qwest bears the burden of proof bere.

1 Qwest’s Legal Analysis at 27.
" Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, G. & C. Merviam Co., 1981, p. 1152,

17987



Case 1:07-cv—00861‘-WHP Document 32-5  Filed 03/14/2008 Page 17 of 17

Federa) Communications Commission FCC 07-175

Farmers. ' The question of whether the conference calling companies paid Farmers more than Farmers
paid them is thus irrelcvant to their status as end users. The record shows that the conference calling
companies did subscribe, i e., enter their names for, Farmers” tariffed setvices.'™ Thus, the conference
calling companies are both customers and end users, and Farmers’ tanff therefore allows Farmers to
charge terminating access charges for calls terminated to the conference calling companies.

39.  Qwest has failed to prove that the conference calling company-bound calls do not
terminate in Farmers’ exchange, and has failed to prove that Farmers’ imposinon of terminating access
charges is inconsistent with its tariff. We therefore deny Counts I and Ill of the Complaint.

IV. ORDERING CLAUSES

40.  Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to sections 4(i), 4(), and 201, 203, 206, 207,
208, and 209 of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 154(i). 154(), 201, 203,
206, 207, 208, and 209, that Count | of the Complaint IS GRANTED IN PART and IS OTHERWISE
DENIED, as discussed above.

41.  ITIS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to sections 4(i), 4(), and 201, 203, 206, 207, 208,
and 209 of the Commmmications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. §§ 154(i), 134(5), 201, 203, 206,
207, 208, and 209, that Counts 1l and II} of the Complaint ARE DENIED.

FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

Marlene H. Dortch
Secretary

'3 We also note that Qwest has failed to prove that the conference calling companies do not pay Farmers for service
bamml{:cmmtcﬁngfescamlomﬂ:mﬁpaymems. Qwest cites a District Court decision concerning the filed
rak doctrine to arguc that the Commission must comsider related transactions in analyzing the amount paid for
wriffed services. Qwest Corp. v. Public Service Comm n of Utah, 2006 WL 842891 (D. Utsh Mar. 28, 2006) (in
determining whether AT&T was paying Qwest the full tariffed rate for a private line, court considered payments
ﬁmegsl!oAT&TﬂorOw'soccumm use of the line). As the judge in that casc recognized, however,
umhu.dmmnmadwdtlmoppositcmﬂtonnnmm. See Qwest Corp. v. Minnesota Public Service
Comm 'n, 2005 WL 1431652 (D. Minn. Mar. 31, 2005) (once AT&T lcased the private Jine, the transaction was
complete, and the anff was no longer relevant o what price was paid for the tariffcd service). Qwest offers no
argument as to why we should find the Utah decision more persuasive than the Minnesots ruling,

% Coe Answer at vii.
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, Before the
' FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of )
)
Establishing Just and Reasonable Rates for )  WC Docket No. 07-135
Local Exchange Camers )
COMMENTS OF AT&T INC.

Pursuant to Section 1.1415 of the Commission’s Rules (47 C.F.R. §1.415), AT&T Inc.
(“AT&T”) respectfully submits these comments in response 1o the Commission’s Notice of
Proposed Rulemaking in this proceeding.'

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

The Commission should promptly adopt modest rule changes to put a stop, once and for
all, to the concerted and ever-expanding campaign being waged by a small minority of rapacious
LECs to abuse the existing rules to bilk hundreds of millions of dollars from their customers.
The many variants of these “traffic pumping” schemes include offers on Intemet websites of
“tree™ or very low cost chat lines (often with pornographic content), conferencing services,
voicemayl, and international calling. The schemes depend on using the promise of service at
little or no charge to entice callers across the country (and the world) to place millions of long-
distance calls to telephone numbers assigned to rural LECs with exwaordinarily high access
charges (falscly premised on assumptions of the low traffic volumes typical in such rural arcas),

with the LECs and their calling service pariners sharing the access charges paid by AT&T and

' Establishing Just and Reasonable Rates for Local Exchange Carriers, WC Docket No. 07-135,
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 07-176, released Oct. 2, 2007 (“NPRM"), published at 72
Fed. Reg. 64179 (Nov. 15, 2007) (“NPRM™).
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other 1XCs for supj)oéed “termination” of those calls. The enormous public interest harms

associated with these patently unreasonable practices are well known and indisputable.

Initially, wraffic pumping was confined to a relative handful of unscrupulous small [LECs,
but in the past two years both the number and the magnitude of schemes has mushroomed.’
Encouraged by the success of these scams, dozens of small ILECs with visions of traffic
pumping riches sought to exit the NECA traffic sensitive access pool in the most recent annual
tariff filing. It took a Commission order suspending those taniffs to stop them: faced with the
need to disclose their plans for vastly increasing the traffic to which their propesed rates wonld
be applied, those ILECs either returned to the NECA pool or agreed to tariff language that would
trigger automatic mid-course rate corrections in response 1o any substantial traffic increases.”
But even in the face of the Commission’s subsequent decision in a formal complaint procecding
finding that waffic pumping schemes lead 10 unjust and unreasonable rates,’ traffic pumping
activities continue -to grow, and morc fundamental rule changes plainly remain urgently

necessary.

The industry and the Commission should not and cannot continuc o rely exclusively on
case-by-case suspensions, investigations and Litigation to combat this problem. History teaches

that small ILECs inclined to such misbehavior and the cotene of brokers, consultants and fly-by-

? See AT&T Corp. v, Beehive Tel. Co,, Ine, 17 FCC Red 11641 (2002); AT&T Corp. v. Frontier
Communications of Mt. Pulaski, Inc. .17 FCC Red 4041 (2002); AT&T Corp. v. Jefferson Tel.
Co., 16 FCC Rcd 16130 (2001); Total Telecoms. Services, Inc. v. AT&T Corp., 16 FCC Rcd
5726 (2001) aff'd in part, rev'd in part and remanded sub nom. AT&T Corp. v. FCC, 317 F.3d
227 (D.C. Cir. 2003).

* See July 1, 2007 Annual Access Charge Tariff Filings, WCB/Pricing No. 07-10, Order, DA 07-
2862 (rel. June 28, 2007).

' Owest Communications Corp. v. Farmers and Merchants Mut. Tel. Co., File No. EB-07-MD-
001, Memorndum Opinton and Order, FCC 07-175 (rel. October 2, 2007), petition for

reconsideration pending.
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night Internet-based communications service providers that secek to share in the spoils are
remarkably creative, and it is inevitable that, absent rule changes, they will continue to develop
and deploy new schemes that make a mockery of the Commission and its core Communications
Act mandates. The Commission should attack the problem at its source, and enact modest rule
changes that will eliminate those aspects of the current rules that have inadvertently encouraged

these schemes.

Equally important, however, even as recent Commission attention has caunsed some
ILECs w0 scale back their traffic stimulation activities, “rural” CLECs — most of which’ are
operated solely 1o exploit the Commission’s rules and do not serve any actual rural customers ~
are rapidly expanding their traffic pumping activities. CLECs now account for more than three
quarters of the traffic pumping minutes being hilled 10 AT&T. The access charge rules
governing CLECs, however, make it far more difficult for the Commission to prevent CLEC
traffic pumping through individual tanfl suspensions and investigations. Nor will exclusive
reliance on after-the-fact enforcement stop these CLEC schemes, because (in contrast to ILECs)
it is very easy for these tricksters to start new CLECs to replace those whose traffic pumping

operations have been exposed and halted.

A few relatively modest rule changes would largely end these schemes. For both ILECs
and CLECs, two types of rule changes are necessary. First, the Commission’s current rules do
not provide sufficient mechanisms for carly detection and deterrence of schemes to stimulate
traffic to levels inconsistent with the LEC’s tanffed rates. To address these deficiencies, the
Commission should adopt targeted reporting and certification rules that will improve
transparency and clanfy the consequences of misbehavior, including loss of the ability to shield

unreasonable rates and retumns behind “deemed lawful” status when the LEC’s conduct is
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inconsistent with the promises upon which the Commission relies i accepting its streambined

tariff filing without ‘puspension. Second, 10 reduce LECs' underlying incentives and ability to
engage in traffic slmimlation schemes, given the inevitable long lag between inception of a raffic
pumping schemne and any judicial or Commission action shutting down the scheme, the
Commission should jimplement rule changes that will require prompt, automatic tariff filings and

rate reductions once|the existence of a traffic pumping scheme becomes apparent.

Accordinglyr the Commission should adopt the following specific rule changes for ILECs
and CLECs. First, (hc Commission should requirc 1LECs filing under Rules 61.38 and 61.39 and
CLECs that seck toibcnchmark 1o a rural ILEC rate or to take advantage of the rural exemption:
(1) 10 report their a&ccss traffic quarterly (and rural CLECs should also report their access lines);
(2) to certify upori the filing of a tanfT that they will not enter into any waffic pumping
arrangement (as deﬁned below); and (3} to include in all tariffs a commitment to revise the tanff
and reduce rates IT the event traffic cxceeds specified thresholds (and to make appropriatc
refunds to access c*’ustomcrs injured before the reduced rates become etfective). 1f an ILEC's
traffic exceeds those specified thresholds (measured in percentage growth in terminating
switched access minutes) in any given quarter, the Commission’s rules should require the ILEC
to file new tariffcd rates within 45 days under Rule 6138, If a CLEC’s traffic patierns
(measured by access minutes of use per access line) exceed the specified thresholds, the
Commission’s mle?s should require a new tarff filing within 45 days subject to special ILEC
benchmarks (i.¢., CLECs operating in non-rural JLEC's rural areas would lose the rural
exemption, and CLECs operating in a rural ILEC’s area would benchmark to the lowest NECA
rate (Band 1)). And, as explained below, the Commission should also (i) declare access revenue

sharing arrangements, in which the LEC s a net payor of money 1o its purported “customer,” o
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be an unreasonable pfactice under Section 201(b); (ii) declare unjust and unreasonable the
increasingly common small LEC practice of inflating access charges by designating an
interconnection point with a centralized equal access provider that 1s scores or hundreds of miles
away from the LE(f’s actual physical interconnection with the centralized provider; and (in)
prevent small LECTE from attempting to evade rule changes designed to discourage wraffic
pumping by elcctilfg pricc cap treatment, declare that no small LEC may elect price cap

|
treatment without ptior Commission approval.

The vast majority of responsible, law-abiding ILECs and CLECs that have nothing to do
with these schemes would be almost entirely unaffected by these rule changes. For example, the
rule changes proposed here would not change any of the procedural options available to small
ILECs opting into the NECA tariff or Rules 61.38 and 61.39; they would merely add modest
reporting, certification and mid-course taritf-filing requirements that would not have any impact
on an ILEC unlcs"p it experienced truly extraordinary traffic growth. AT&T has carcfully
analyzed historicalfdata on ILEC traffic fluctuations, and it has proposed traffic thresholds here
that would far exceed historically observed traffic growth from seasonal variations or cven from
rapid population growth. Similarly, AT&T’s proposed rule changes would not climinate any
procedural tariffing option available today to CLECs; again, they would merely add certification
and mid-course tariff-filing sequirements that would never havc any impact unless a CLEC’s
actna) traffic patiems demonstrated that the assumptions underlying the gencrally applicable
benchmark “‘safe harbors™ are inappropriate for that CLEC and that special benchmarks should
nstead apply. In short, thesc rule changes would, with negligible burdens, deter the most
egregious instances of traffic pumping, and the Commission should promptly adopt these rules in

advance of 2008 annual access tanff filings.
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ARGUMENT

L THE LECs’ WIDE VARIETY OF ACCESS STIMULATION SCHEMES IS WELL
DOCUMENTED.

The traffic pumping schemes AT&T has identified vary in their specific details, but they
generally share cerﬁain characteristics: An unscrupulous ILEC or CLEC (1) establishes high
terminating access Tharges (typically based on false pretenses), (2) enters into traffic pumping
kickback armangements with pornographic chat-lines or other calling services that agree to
advertise the service on Internet websitcs and other media and to route the millions of calls
associated with their nominally “free” services through the LEC's exchange, and (3) bills
terminating access charges to interexchange carricrs for these calls berween non-residents of the
rural commumtics they serve and shares those spoils with the calling service partners that
directed the traffic (‘:o or through the LEC’s exchange. AT&T has uncovered an endless vanety
of such schemes, i{r which ILECs or CLECs combine these thrce basic clements to generate
€enormous volumc; of traffic and exorbitant terminating access charges to intercxchange
customers. And while 11LECs have historically been the worst offenders, CLEC traffic pumping

schemes are now growing faster than ILEC schemes and represent the most pressing problem

going forward.

These traffic stimulation schemes, and some of the most commeon variations, are
described in detail m the declaration of Adam Panagia. Associate Director - Network Fraud
Investigations for AT&T (attached hereto). For example, one of the most prolific methods of
artificial traffic stimulation are “chat lines” - many of which offer “adult” or sexual subject
matter’ — that allow as many as 270 callers simultaneously to conduct conversations over a single

line, generally with the capability for callers 1o access a “back room™ to conduct one-on-one

> See Panagia Decl. 4 12.
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conversations.” ihé month of November, 2007 alone, 2,160 such chat lines generated over
47.4 million minutes of calling over AT&T’s network, with an average call duration of 20
minutes.’

A variant of ‘chat lines are “frec” teleconferencing services, which like “chat lines” make
use of conference bridges but are primarily geared fo on-demand conferencing use by small
businesses and individuals. Hundreds of simultaneous conversations may be conducted on a
single access line.i‘1 In November, 2007, AT&T transported and terminated over 22.6 million

minutcs to just 99 pFnicular conference lines that are associated with traffic pumping schemes.’

Another scheJPe that has been heavily used by traffic pumpers is “free” jntemmational
calling service. In this arrangement, callers who reach a platform by dialing a telephone number
at a LEC with high access charges may then input a telephone number for a sct of foreign

destinations, and that traffic is then carried to the international calling points via wholesale

C1d 1L
.
*1d 913

% Id. By contrast] AT&T’s conference bridges are associated with 4ESS and SESS switching
systems within its own network; the specific locations that are seiected for the switching systems
and the associated bridges are determined solely by considerations of efficient nctwork
management, such as trunking capacity, and not by the terminating access rates applicable to
calls to those locations. See id. 9§ 13, n.2. Moreover, AT&T chaiges its end user customers for
such services, and to the extent AT&T charges an access rate, the access rates merely reflect the
low “target rate” for such charges cstablished by the Commission’s CALLS Order (because all of
AT&T’s conference bridges are situated in locations where the CALLS Order governs access
rates). See Access Charge Reform, et al., Sixth Report and Order, 15 FCC Red 12962 (2000)
(“CALLS Order”). See id. AT&T does not pay calling service providers to stimulate traffic on
AT&T’s network. See id.
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arrangements the calling service has made with other carriers at no additional charge to the
calling party.'®

There is really no limit to the ingenuity of some LECs 1n concocting these schemes. One
of the most egregious schemes that AT&T recently uncovered was one where a LEC appeared to
be using autodialing equipment to place tens of thousands of calls to wireless and wireline
customers that entice customers in various ways (e.g., offering free commercial credit cards) to
call a telephone number in the LEC’s local exchange, and when such customers place those calls,
the LEC charges terminating access to the IXC that carried the call.'' There are undoubtedly

myriad other traffic pumping techniques that AT&T has yet to uncover.

These schemes are increasing in popularity because participating 1LECs believe their rates
will be “‘deemed lawful” under 47 U.S.C. § 204(a)(3), freeing them to bill millions of additional
dollars to IXCs for access services with no fear of ever having to pay damages if the scheme is
later challenged and the patently unjust and unreasonable rates associated with these huge calling
volumes are declared unjust and unreasonable. Because the perpetrators operate m very rural
arcas with only a fe;pv hundred or at most a few thousand access lines, they historically generated
only a few 1housanq minutes per month of terminating access. Based on these historical demand
figures, small ILECs file tariffs with the Commission with terminating access rates that are very

high, usually several cents per minute, and sometimes as high as 10 or more cents per minute. '’

' Panagia Decl. ] 14.
"! See Panagia Decl. 1 15-20.

2 As discussed below, some traffic pumping LECs also have begun to implement schemes to
further artificially increase terminating access rates even beyond setting such rates based on
demand that does not reflect enormous demand generated by traffic pumping.  For example,
certam LECs, through amengements with an intermediary centralized equal access carrier
armangements approved by the Commission to reduce access charges (typicaily centralized
providers owned, in part, by these sume LECs) are shifting the locations where the LECs claim

8
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Becausc the Commission’s rules permit these TLECs to set ratgs based on historical demand
figures, the Commission typically does not suspend or investigate these tariffs. While the tariffs
assume very low traffic volumes, however, the ILECs secretly cnter into traffic pumping
agreements which are not disclosed to the Commission. These schemes typically result m
millions of additional calls to the ILEC’s exchange, and consequently these ILECs’ access bills
to AT&T and other y:IXCs typically increase from thousands of dollars per month to millions of
dollars per month virtually overnight. The ILEC and its traffic pumping parnner then share the
millions of dollars of profits from the scheme. Indeed, as discussed further below, once the
ILEC has reached the number of access minutes on which its rates are based, that LEC has fully
recovered 1ts revenue tequirement, and every additional access minutc charged to its IXC
customers is almost entirely windfall profit. The additional minutes associated with the traftic
pumping schemes thus allow the ILEC to eam returns that vastly exceed those on which its
tariffs are based. These JLECs then argue that their tariffs’ “deemed lawful” status shields them

from having to pay retroactive damages even though their rates and practices arc patently

unlawful. }

\

|
to “interconnect” with the intermediary camer in order to grossly inflaie the “transport”
componemt of their access charges. For example, one LEC has established a new
“Interconnection™ point with an intenmediary carrier that is more than two hundred miles from
the local exchange served by the LEC (and the LEC’s actual physical interconnection with
centralized facilities, thereby inflating the transport component of the access charges from tenths
of a cent to several additional cents per minute. These LECs do not appear to have constructed
any new facilities, and the actual physical routing of calls from AT&T to the LECs remains
unchanged; yet on the basis of its paper change in “interconnection™ points, the LECs claim
entitlement 1o several cents more for each minuie of traffic they supposedly tcrminate in
connection with the traffic pumping schemes in which they are engaged. See, e.g., Application
of Indiana Switch Access Division, | FCC Red. 643, 1 5 (1986) (granting operational authority to
centralized facilities provider, but warning “our decision permitting {Indiana Switch] to proceed
should not be interpreted as unbounded authority on the part of [independent LECs), or their
atTihates, to determine points of interconnection with IXCs™).
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The CLECs’ schemes are even easier to implement. CLECs typically exploit onc of two
soft spots in the Commssion’s current CLEC access charge rules: they either (1) “enter” the
rural areas of non-nural ILECs (i.e., the RBOCs), which allows them to establish a token
presence using below-cost UNE arrangements while simultaneously using the rural exemption to
charge high access ¢harges benchmarked to the highest NECA rate, or (2) gravitate to (and may
be affiliated with) ‘;ra! ILECs in extremely high-cost rural arcas that have left the NECA pool,
thus allowing the CLEC to “benchmark™ to the ILEC’s extremely high access charges. The

1
CLEC then cngageé in a traffic pumping scheme, resulting in traffic volumes that far exceed
those on which the benchmark ILEC’s rates are based (or the traffic on which the highest NECA
rate is based), and thus earns cxtraordinary returns. Because these CLEC rates are m tariffs filed
on a streamlined basis, the CLEC argues that even if its conduct, rates, and returns are later
determined 10 be urillawful, it is shielded from paying refunds by the “deemed lawful™ status of

its tariffs."” 1

These ILEC|and CLEC traffic pumping schemes arc being implemented in multiple rural

areas of multiple statcs, AT&T alone has identified schemes by such LECs in lowa, Minnesota,

and South Dakota, among other states. AT&T has filed lawsuits against many of these ILECs

and CLECs, which remain pending in federal courts. But these lawsuits will not adequately

address the problem because LECs are becoming more and more creative in the methods they are

'* Nor are CLEC going to be willing voluntarily to commit to the safeguard mechanisms the
Commission has imposed on ILECs. Recently, AT&T began receiving invoices from a new
CLEC in South Dakota that appeared to reflect a pattern of traffic pumping. AT&T comtacted
the CLEC and requested that the CLEC confirm that it had not entered into any agreements to
pay compensation, or provided anything of value, to any entity improperly to stimulate traffic,
defining “improper stimulation of traffic” as including, but not limited to, “any arrangement by
thc CLEC 1o pay a communications service provider or other entity to direct calls to or through
the CLEC’s exchange that can be expected over the life of the arrangemcent to produce net
payments from the CLEC to such entity.” The CLEC summarily rejected AT&T’s request.

10
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using to maximize their returns from such schemes and to avoid detection. Many holding
companies own several ILECs, and they simply sotale traffic pumping among the subsidiary or
affiliate ILECs, closing down the traffic pumping scheme for a particular ILEC upon the
expiration of its mfiff (or being caught) and shifting the activities to another subsidiary or
affiliate ILEC. In oiher instances, ILECs have sought to carve out their most rural areas, set up a
“new” ILECs serving only those very rural areas, file tariffs for those ILECs with very high rates
based on very low d;cmand, and then implement a traffic pumping scheme that increases volumes
from thousands of minutes a month to millions of minutes per month. ILECs are also apparently
creating CLEC subsidiaries through which they implement their traffic pumping schemes."*
When these CLEC subsidianies are caught engaging in traffic pumping, the ILEC can merely
shift the tratfic to other, sometimes newly created, CLECs. Similarly, CLEC holding companics
create CLECs to en;gage in traffic pumping activities, and when they are caught, they simply re-

direct the stimulatetil traffic to a new CLEC.
\

1

Although tﬂ‘vese schemes have their antecedents in abuses by only a few carriers, more
and more LECs ha\};c been entering into such schemes, and the annualized harm 1o customers and
the public has alre;ady mushroomed to hundreds of millions of dollars per year. Moreover,
although the Commission has recently taken action aguinst some ILECs — e.g., by suspending the

tariffs of the TLECs that exited NECA and sought to file their own tariffs in July 2007 — much of

' An early example of this phenomenon is Bechive Telephone Company, a rural ILEC that
serves sparscly populated areas of Utah and Nevada. Within the past two years, however, no less
than three CLECs have commenced operations within Beehive’s service termtories, apparently
providing service through the purchase of unbundled service from the incumbent. Thesec CLECs
are operating “free” chat and conference lines and charging interexchange carriers at Bechive's
high access rates under the guise of comphiance with the Commission’s “benchmark™ rates for
such rural CLECs. Given the paucity of legitimate subscribers in Bechive's operating area, it
comes as little surprise that evidence suggests these “competitive” carriers have ties to the 1LEC;
for example, the attorney who incorporated one of the CLEC:s is a dircctor of Beehive.

11
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the problem has simply shifted to the CLECs, which can evade Commission oversight more
easily than ILECs. Indeed, CLECs today account for about three quarters of all waffic pumping
minutes being billedito AT&T.

As the Com Eission points out, the extraordinary returns derived from these traffic
pumping schemes ajirc mot remotely offset by the litde, if any, incremental costs of carrying that
additional traffic. ENPRM 9 14 (when “demand increases significantly, a [traffic pumping]
carrier’s increased rcvenues generally will exceed any cost increases™). Indeed, in Qwest v.
Farmers, the Commission exptessly agreed with the analysis in the declaration of Peter B.
Copeland (submitted in support of Qwest’s formal complaint against Farmers and Merchants
Mutual Telephone Co. (“Farmers”)), which shows that the enormous increascs In access minutes
associated with Farmers® traffic pumping activities were not accompanied by a proportional
increase in office switching costs and tandem transport costs. AT&1’s own extensive analysis
has confirmed that Mr. Copeland’s analysis applies generally to all of the traffic pumping ILECs
and CLECs that expericnce similarly enormous increases in access minutes — it is an indisputable
fact that a LEC’s q":ostg do not increase materially with the erormous traffic volume increases

associated with tmifﬁc pumping.”

5 AT&T also has confirmed that Mr. Copeland’s Farmer’s-specific evidence using the average
schedule formula approved by the Commission extends generally to all traffic pumping LECs.
AT&T has identified several LECs whose traffic during the past three years has increased by at
least 100% during any year. The average level of monthly traffic for thesc LECs in 2004 was 1.3
million minutes per month. AT&T then computed the average schedule settlement associated
with a 30%, 100%, and 1000% increase in minutes {see NPRM § 16), and the results show that
the traffic-sensitive settlement per minute associated with these increases declined on average by
only 18.6%, 43.3%, and B88.9%, respectively, notwithstanding that the formula was never
designed to address volume increases of this magnitude and greatly overestimatcs associated cost
increases.

12
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Finally, the ¥PRM asks for details regarding any agreements between the traffic pumping
LECs and the web-based (and other) partners that help implement these schemes. Although
AT&T gencrally is not privy to the details of these agreements, it has attempted to obtain such
information and has éeveloped data that provides some limited insight into the compensation
arrangements between traffic pumpers and their parters.'® Clearly, the best sources of any
information on the terms, conditions and payments that support these schemes are the traffic
pumping 1.ECs themselves, but those LECs and their partners have been working hard to conceal
such information.'” There can be no genuine dispute, however, that those schemes are funded
through sharing of the LECs’ access revenues with the entities that offer “free” chat lines,
conferencing and Olhicr services. This practice has become so blatant that the owner of one

notorious traffic pumping ILEC in Iowa and the provider of the “free” conferencing service with

'® For example, one of the lowa LECs engaged in traffic pumping prepared form agreements
with other entities that were expected to generate traffic for the “free” conferencing and other
traffic pumping schemes that the LEC offered in conjunction with other service providers. The
form agreements offered those parties a “marketing fee” of $0.007 per minute for generating up
to 2 miltion minutes of monthly inbound usage, and $0.013 per minute for generating such traflic
above 2 million minutes monthly. Panagia Decl., 1Y 7-8. In another case, a traffic pumping
provider offered oq\er entities a ticred fee arrangement, ranging from $ .005 per minute for up to
one million minutes to as high as $ .01 per minute for four million or more minutes, 10 generate
traffic tor its services. See id.

' For example, in a recent complaint filed by Qwest with the Commission against one of these
traffic pumping LECs, Qwest argued that the traffic pumping calls were not acwally being
“terminated™ by the raffic pumping LEC to its traffic pumping partners, because those websites
were not “customers” within the meaning of the LECs’ tariff. The defendant LEC submitted
bills to the Commission purporting to show that the traffic pumping partners were in fact
purchasing services from the LEC, and thus were customers, and the Commission rclied on those
documents in rejecting Qwest’s arguments. But the LEC subsequently admitied that those bills
were created during the litigation and backdated to make it appear as though the LEC’s wraffic
pumping partners were actually LEC customers. Moreover, the LEC has since resisted efforts to
submit more complete documentation of these backdated contracts to the Commission. In an
lowa Utilities Board’s investigation of traffic pumping, the defendant LEC appears to have
submitted more detailed information subject to protective order about the true relationship with
their waffic pumping partners.  When Qwest sought permission from the 1UB to submit those
same documents to the Commission notwithstanding the 1UB’s protective order, the defendant
LEC opposed disclosing these documents to the Commission.

13
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which the LEC was allied actually boasted about the success of their scheme in a recent
interview published in The Wall Street Journal'® The fact that these LECs and their partners
have no compunction about admitting their activities underscores the need for Commission

action to bring an end to these abuses.

. THE COMNHSSION HAS AMPLE AUTHORITY TO MODIFY ITS RULES TO
END THE UNLAWFUL TRAFFIC PUMPING SCHEMES.

The Commission not only has ample authority to modify its rules to prevent ILECs and
CLECs from effectively implementing traffic pumping schemes — it has a duty to do so. The
Communications Act gives the Commission broad authority to regulate interstate
communications seryices and to adopt tariff filing rules that ensure that rates for such services
arc just and rcasonﬂljplc.m This broad authority inchudes the power to establish a system of rate-
of-return regulation, and to specify under such a system tariff filing and other requirements.”’

The Commission tth has used this authority to adopt rules governing mandatory tanifi-filing

. ; Lo L . . ) .
periods,”’ submission of data for monitoring purposes,” mandatory certifications,” authorized

'* See Dionne Searcey, “How 2 Guys’ lowa Connection Took Big Telecoms for a Ride,” The
Wall Street Journal, Oct. 4, 2007; see also Panagia Decl. § 6 (discussing the article).

'* Permian Basin Area Rate Cases, 390 U.S. 747, 776 (1968) (“legislative discretion implied in
the rate making power necessarily extends to the entire legislative process embracing the method
used in reaching the legislative determination as well as that determination itself”).

* See, e.g., Nader v. FCC, 520 F.2d 182, 203-04 (D.C. Cir. 1975); Regulatory Reform For Local
Exchange Carriers Subject To Rate Of Return Regulation, 8 FCC Red. 4545, § 25 (1993),
Regulation of Small Telephone Companies, 2 FCC Red. 3811, 14 20-21 (1987) (“Small Carrier
Order™); 47 1.S.C. § 154(i).

I See, eg., Regulatory Reform For Local Exchange Carriers Subject To Rate Of Return
Regulation, B FCC Red. 4545, § 25 (1993) (selecting two-year rather than one-year mandatory
tariff filing interval is “a lawful exercise of our statutory discretion to tailor our regulatory
systems™).

* See, e.g., Small Currier Order, 2 FCC Red 3811, 9 18 (*we have modificd the proposed rulcs
to clanfy that the Commission may request . . . carrier{s] to submit the data specified by the data
filing provisions in the Commission’s rules”).

14
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returns,”’ and procedures for “streamlined” tanff filings under § 204(a)(3) of the Act.” The
Commission also has ample authority to declare practices to be “unreasonable™ under Section

201(b).*°

The Commission has already acknowledged its authority to modify its tariffing rules at
issue here. The tariffing rules being exploited to implement traffic pumping schemes were
adopted by the ('_.‘omjmission to ease the administrative burdens on rural LECs by allowing small
ILECs 1o rely on historical demand data in sctting rates and to avoid submitting various types of
data supporting its rates, and by allowing CLECs to benchmark their rates to rural ILEC rates.
The Commission also recognized, however, that there could be uncxpected conscquences that
could require modiﬁcations of these rules, and, accordingly, the Commission emphasized that it
“stand[s] ready to undertake necessary comective measures” in such circumstances.”’ As the

Commussion has elsewhere acknowledged, it has “an affirmative duty 10 re-evaluate our policies

P See, e.g., Regulation of Prepaid Calling Card Services, 21 FCC Red. 7290, 9 31 (2006) (*We
find that certam ceritfication and reporting requirements are necessary to ensure compliance with
our existing access charge rules. . . . As with any other service subject to the Commission’s
rules, if . . . providers do not comply with these rules they will be subject to the Commission’s
enforcement authority, including complaints and forfeitures”),

™ See, e.g., Represcribing the Authorized Rate of Return for Interstate Services of Local
Exchange Carriers, Order, 5 FCC Red. 7507, 99 1, 216, 231 (1990) (prescribing an 11.25%
retumn for rate-of-retum carriers).

2 See, e. g.. Implementation of Section 402(b)(1) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, 12 FCC
Red 2170, (1997).

** Order on Reconsideration, Business Discount Plan, Inc. Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, 15
FCC Red. 24396, 1 8 (2000) (“Congress gave the Commission broad authority over unjust and
unreasonable practices *for and in connection with communication services.” In enacting section
201(b), Congress did not enumerate or otherwise hmit the specific practices to which this
provision applies. Instead, it granted us [the Commission) a more general authority to address
such practices as they might arise in a changing telecommunications marketplace™).

' Small Carrier Order 5 14,

15



Case 1:07-cv-00861-WHP  Document 32-6  Filed 03/14/2008 Page 19 of 44

{

in light of changed circumstances, to be alert to the consequences of our policies and stand ready

. .- nw2§
10 alter our rule if necessary to serve the public interest more fully.

These traffic pumping schemes present an especially clear-cut case warranting prompt
corrective action. These schemes are being implemented by more and more ILECs and CLECs,
and they are patently unlawful, for they are designed for only one purpose: to allow 1ILECs and
CLECs to charge excessive rates and to cam returns that far exceed just and reasonable jevels in
violation of Section 201(b) of the Act. The Commission has already reached preciscly this
conclusion. Owest v. Farmers, 11 1-2 (agreeing with Qwest’s allegations that “Farmers violated
section 201(b} of the Act by earning an excessive tate of reurn” from its waflic pumping
activities); see also NPRM §Y 14-15 (access stimulation often results in “unjust and
nnreasonable” ratesi in violation of Section 201(b) of the Act for ILECs operating under Sections

61.38 or 61.39 of the Commission’s rules and for CLECs operating under Section 61 26).

These Commission findings are manifestly correct. For an ILEC, the per-minute access
rate it may charge under Sections 61.38 and 61.39 of the existing rules is the ILEC’s revenue
requirement for access services — i.e., the total amount required (o recover the 11.EC’s access cost
plus a reasonable retumn — divided by the number of access minutes. Once the ILEC has reached
the number of access minutes on which its rates are based, that ILEC has fully recovered its

revenue requirement. The massive additional traffic volumes generated by access stimulation

2 Inquiry into Section 73.1910 of the Commission’s Rules and Regulations Concerning
Alternatives to the General Fairness Doctrine Obligations of Broadcast Licensees, 3 FCC Red
2050, 9 7 n.11 (1988) (cmphasis added); see also FCC v. WNCN Listeners Guild, 450 U.S. 582,
603 (1981); American Trucking Associations, Inc. v. Atchison, Topeka & Sania Fe R. Co., 387
U.S. 397, 416, reh’g. denied, 389 U.S. 889 (1967); Implementation of the Telecommunications
Act of 1996: Telecommunications Carriers’ Use of Customer Proprictary Network Information
and Qther Customer Information; IP-Enabled Services, 22 FCC Red. 6927, 9 37 (2007) (*While
we realize that this is a change in Comunission policy, we find that new circumstances force us to
reassess our existing regulations™).
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schemes are nearly all proﬁt,w and therefore such additional minutes increase the actual rewmn
carned by the ILEC far above the prescribed retumn. In the schemes at issue here, ILECs
typically are selling, tens of millions of access minutes in excess of the volumes on which their

rates are based, rendering those rates grossly unjust and unreasonable.

Likewise, tﬂe CLEC traffic pumping schemes are designed solely to exploit Section
61.26 of the Commission’s rules to allow CLECs to charge unjust and unreasonable rates and to
camn unjust and unreasonable returns. The Commission adopted that rule in response to a
showing that CLEQs were abusing their terminating access monopolies, and the Commission’s
mtent was 16 permﬂt CLECs to tariff their rates only when they were no greater than the rates
charged by the competing incumbent LEC in the same service area. The Commission assumed

" and the Commission’s

that the ILEC’s raqe would be “presumptively just and reasonable,
benchmark rule is based on the assumption that a CLEC offering service in any particular
ILEC’s service area would have a network and customer base similar to that of the ILEC’s.
Thus, a CLEC cntering an extremely rural area is assumed to have operations similar to the
“competing” rural ljl,t'c - an assumption that was critical to the Commission’s conclusion that
“if operation in these [rural] areas justifics higher access rates for the regulated incumbents, we

™1 That assumption

conclude that it justifies equivalent rates for any competitor in the area.
plainly does not hold true, however, for the traffic pumpers: if the new entrant CLEC’s traffic
volumes are much higher than the historical demand on which the incumbent LEC’s rates are

based, that fact is a clear indication that the CLEC’s operations are fundamentally different than

29 . . . . !
As noted, any additional costs associated with the increased traffic volumes do not remotely
nise in proportion 1o the increases in traffic associated with traffic pumping schemes.

¥ Access Churge Reform. et al, Seventh Report and Order, 16 FCC Red 9923, § 41 (2001)
("CLEC Access Charge Order™).

Jd 951
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the rural ILEC’s, and that the Commission can no longer simply assume that the benchmark rate
is an appropriate proxy for a reasonable CLEC rate. Thus, as the Commission notes in the
NPRM (f 34), where a CLEC’s demand substantially exceeds that of the benchmark LEC, then

the CLEC’s retum will necessarily exceed just and reasonable levels.

In addition to imposing millions of dollars in access overcharges on 1XCs, all of these
schemes cause significant harm to the public interest, competition, and consumers. In many
cases, they involve the marketing and provision of pomographic materials that can be accessed
by children - indeed, they directly advertise the phone numbers on the Intemet and provide no
safeguards to prevent children from dialing them or to allow parents (0 plock them — thus
circumventing myriad; Commission policies aimed at preventing such conduct. Moreover, the
perceived loopholes in the Commission’s rules are also distorting proper investment incentives,
Rather than upgrading their facilities and making other investments to provide the best possible
service 1o their customers, the traffic pumping ILECs and CLECs are mvesting their resources in
kickback arrangements and other inefficient activities, and IXCs are investing millions of dollars
to detect and address these practices on a casc-by-case basis. In addition, these traffic pumping
and other activitics, if left unchecked, will inevitably result in increased long-distance prices
throughout the country because the Commission’s geographic averaging rules will require IXCs
to recover the increascd costs associated With these activities from all of their customers, not
only those located in the areas where this unlawful conduct takes place. If these schemes are
allowed to continue, both IXCs and their customers will end up subsidizing these renegade LECs
and their partners in otherwise unsupportable business plans. On this record, there is no question
that the Commission promptly should adopt the modest rule changes described immediately

below to end traffic pumping.
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lﬂ. THE COMMiSSlON SHOULD ADOPT MODEST CHANGES TO ITS RULES TO
PREVENT THE SIGNIFICANT PUBLIC HARMS CAUSED BY ILEC AND
CLEC ACCESS STIMULATION SCHEMES.

The Commission can deter and prevent small ILECs and “rural” CLECs from engaging
in illegal traffic stimulation schemes with targeted modifications to its rules to climinate the
incentives and abilitics LECs have to engage in such conduct. dccord NPRM { 11 (“we must
revise our tariff rules so that we can be confident that tariffed rates remain just and reasonable
even if a carrier experiences or induces significant increases in access demand”). Two general

types of changes are necessary.

First, under th‘e Commission’s existing rules, the Commission cannot adequately detect
these unlawful schemes at the time the LEC files its tariff because, as the Commission points out,
“Itthe type of increaj'cd demand” at issue “occurs after the tariffs become effective.” NPRM

9 11. Therefore, the Commission should adopt mechanisms at the tariff-filing stage that will

deter LECs from trying these traffic pumping schemes.

Second, even if it later becomes obvious that a LEC is engaging in traffic sumulation that
renders 1is rates unlawful, under the current rules it can take months or even years to obtain a
Commission or court ruling in that regard, and even then, such a ruling may have only
prospective effect due the possible applicability of “deemed lawful” status for such tariffs. Thus,
the Commission should also adopt rule changes that will trigger immediate rate reductions once
the existence of a traffic pumping scheme becomes apparent and that will deny deemed lawful

status 1o tariffs that are filed under false pretenses.

To accomplish these twin goals and address shortcomings in the rules, the Commission
should promptly modity its access charge rules for both ILECs and CLECs by adopting the

following interrelated requircments:
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(1) requirements that certain ILECs and CLECs report their quarterly access trafﬁc,. to
provide transparency that will both deter traffic pumping schemes and cnable quick
discovery of schemes that do develop;

(2) requirements that certain ILECs and CLECs submit certifications with their tanffs
that they will not enter into IMproper access revenue sharing arrangements and that
their traffic will not experience increases of specified percentages, with loss of
“deemed lawful” status if the promises made in the certifications are not kept; and

(3) requirements that will trigger prompt reductions in tariffed rates in _lhe event any of
these ILECs or CLECs do experience cxtraordinary imncreases in traffic above
specified benchmarks.

These modest changes to thc Commission’s rules, described in greater detail below,
should go a long way toward climinating the significant incentive and ability unscrupulous LECs
have today to game the system, while at the same time keeping to a2 minimum the burdens on

honest LECs.™

A. Quaﬂerly Reporting Requirements.

The first step towards deterring and preventing unscrupulous LECs from engaging in
unlawful traffic stimulation schemes is to implement measures that enable the Commussion and
customers to detect and cxpose such schemes. Accordingly, it 15 critically important the
Commission adopt requirements to file publicly quarterly reports with the Commission of the

number of access minutes and, for certain CLECs, the number of access lines served.”

Specifically, any small ILEC that files its own tanff should be required to file a quarterty
report with the Commission stating the number of access minutes scrved in the past quarter. In

addition, during the first year that these new rules are effective, all small ILECs that file taniffs

2 As to CLECs, traffic-pumping is largely attractive because the Commission’s benchmarking
rules — the rural exemption in Rule 61.26(e) that allows a CLEC operating in rural areas of an
RBOC’s service area to tariff the highest NECA rate and the opportunity for CLECs that operate
in rural ILEC areas t0 benchmark to the rural ILEC rate — allow a traffic-pumping CLEC to
charge a very high access rate. The most simple solution to CLEC traffic pumping, therefore,
would be to revisit the CLEC Access Charge Order and eliminatc CLECs’ ability to freely rely
on these ILEC and NECA benchmarks.

33 See NPRM Y 21 (asking whether “any additional or revised reporting is necessary”).
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under Rules 61.38 or 61.39 also should be required to submit their prior year’s quarterly volumes

so that the Commission can assess the degree lo which such ILECS’ current volumes have

increased relative to the year-ago penod.

Similarly. all CLECs that take advantage of the rural exemption to the Commission’s
benchmarking rulcs, or that benchmark to a rural ILEC’s rate, see 47 C.FR. §61.26, should be
required to file qua terly reports with the Commission of the number of access lincs they serve,
as well as the quartefly access minute totals in the same manner as AT&T has proposed for small

|
ILECs.

The Commis#sion and access customers could then use these reports to quickly identify
significant increases in LEC demand, and such traffic reporting will facilitate the additional
remedial measures sFt forth below. These reporting requircments would place only a very small
additional burden oj‘l the LECs, which already compile this same data for their own purposes,

including to 1ssue bitkis to their IXC customers.**

B. Man#a(ory Certifications.

The Commission should also adopt a cenification requirement, which should help to
deter most LECs from attempting to game the Commission’s rules with traffic stimulation
schemes. As with the reporting requirements, this certification requirement would apply to small
ILECs that file their own tariffs pursvant to section 61.38 or 61.39 and also to CLECs that take

advantage of the rural exemption or that benchmark to a rural ILEC’s rate.

* Further, NECA already reports monthly traffic volumes to the Commission for Tier 1 and Tier
2 (Tier 2, subset 2) LECs but currently reports only aggregated data for Tier 3 LECs. Quarterly
reporting will not only obviate claims of undue burden on the part of these small carriers, but
will better control for vanations in monthly data that AT&T has observed in its own access
billings from LECs.
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Specifically, the Commission should require that these carriers submit in connection with
any switched access tanff filing a statement by an executive officer of the LEC certifying that the
LEC is not currently stimulating traffic and it will not do so during the tariff period. The ILEC

certification should state:

I hereby certify that {name of LEC] has not entered into, and will not enter into
during the term of this tariff, any agreement or arrangement that: (i) directly or
indirectly compensates a third party or third parties, including any entity affiliated
with [name :of LEC], for stimulating calls to or through [name of LEC)’s
exchange(s), and results in compensation (0 such third parties that exceeds the
revenues [name of LEC] receives from the customers to which it terminates the
calls stimulated by the arrangement, or (ii) has the effect of incrcasin% the amount
of access traffic terminated by the [name of LEC] by more than [X] 5 percent in
any quartes comparcd to the amount of access traffic terminated by [name of
LEC] during the same quarter in the prior year.

The CLEC certification should state:

I hercby certify that (i) [name of LEC] has not entered into, and will not enter into
during the term of this tariff, any agreement or arrangement that directly or
indirectly compensates a third party or third parties, including any entity affiliated
with [name . of LEC], for stimulating calls to or through [name of LEC]’s
exchange(s) and results in compensation 10 such third parties that exceeds the
revenues [name of LEC] receives from the customers to which it terminates the
calls stimulated by the arrangement, and (if) [name of LECY’s monthly average
terminating minutes per active access line shall not exceed 2,000 minutes during
the term of this tariff.

The Commission should state in its order adopting this proposal and in its implementing rules
that if a LEC subject to the certification requircment fails to submit such a certification with a
streamlined tariff application, the Commission will cither reject the tariff or suspend the tanft

and set it for investigation, thus eliminating the “deemed lawful” status of the taniff.

% As described below, the applicable benchmark would vary depending on the size of the carrier:
for carriers reporting up to ten million MOUs annually, the specified percentage would be 100
percent; for carriers with between ten million and 50 millon MOUs annually, the specified
percentage would be 75 percent; and for carriers reporting more than 50 million MOUs annually,
the specified percentage would be 50 percent.
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i
Farther, to add_hess the problem of CLECs that are not subject to periodic tariff filing

requirements and that bnay already be engaged in traffic stimulation activities that render their
rates under existing tariffs patently unjust and unreasonable, the Commission should require such
a certification from all CLECs with existing taniffs that take advantage of the rural exemption or
that benchmark to a rural 1LEC’s rate. Any such CLEC that is unable or unwilling to submit
such ccrtifications sHould be.prohibited from continuing to rely on those benchmarks (i.e., under
the Commission’s rules, there would be mandatory detariffing for thesc CLECs’ access services
unless they filed new tariffs at the lower benchmarks that should be established for CLECs

engaged in traffic stimulation as detailed below).

These certification requirements are necessary because unscrupulous LECs are tempted
by the possibility that their tariffed rates will be “deemed lawful” and shielded from any
damages liability, even when a more complete analysis of the LECs’ business practices would
show that there is nothing lawtul about the rates, because the carriers expect that their traffic
volumes will increase substantially and the rates bear no relationship whatsoever to legitimate
costs. ‘I'he certification requirements can act as a partial substitute for more searching review of
these LECs’ tarifts. Where an officer of the LEC has certified that the LEC will not engage in
traffic stimulation activities, the Commission and access customers can more comfortably
believe that the taniffs fited on a “streamlined basis” in fact contain rates that are likely to be
reasonable and thus truly deserving, of “deemed Jawful™ status. And where the conditions in the
certification upon which deemed lawful status is premised are violated duning the tanff period,
the Commission will be on solid legal ground in refusing to accord the rates deemed lawful

status.
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Indeed, the Commission has ample authority under Section 204(a)(3) to deny by rule
“deemed lawful” status for tariffs supported by false certifications. The language, structure, and
purposes of § 204(a)(3) and the Communications Act all confirm that intentional concealment of
material information can preclude a rate from obtaining “deemed lawful” status. First,
§ 204(a)(3) permits a LEC to file tariffs “on a streamlined basis,” but the Act does not define
these terms and thus;}Congrcss has left the previse meaning and implementation of this phrase to
the Commission. lgt has always been understood that the Commission, in interpreting and
implementing § 204, may prescribe the precise forms of support that a carrier must file so that
the Commission can perform its own functions under § 204 - i.e., to review and, if neccssary, 10
suspend (he carrier’s rates. The statute certainly cannot be read as protecting a carrier s right to
choose unilaterally \?vhm supporting information it will provide and what it will withhold. And
since the initial ﬁ]inig is even more important under the streamlined procedures of § 204(a)(3),
the Commission cowijld reasonably interpret the statute as imposing a heightened standard of
candor reparding expected costs and traffic volumes for tanffs filed “on a streamlined basis.”
Accordingly, the Commmssion has the statutory latitude to conclude that a carrier has not made a
anffl filing that satsfies this requirement of § 204(a)(3) if it has intentionally concealed

information that establishes the unlawfulness of the proposed rates.”®

As the Commission notes (1 28), the D.C. Circuit has already recognized that such

withholding of material information can result in a forfeit of “deemcd lawful” status: 1 4CS, it

3 Indeed, the statute already imposes a duty of candor on those secking regulatory benefits from
the Commission. RKQ General, Inc. v. FCC, 670 F.2d 215, 232 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (statuie gives
the Commission “an affirmative obligation™ to perform certain tasks in “the public interest,” and
“la]s a result, the Commizsion must rely heavily on the completeness and accuracy of the
submissions made to it, and its applicants in turn have an affirmative duty to inform the
Commission of the facts it needs in order to fulfill its statutory mandate” (emphasis added)); see
alvo FCCv. WOKQ, Inc., 329 U.S. 223 (1946).
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upheld the Commissidn’s position that when rates are filed under the streamlined procedures,
they are “deemed lawful” and arc pot subject to damage awards, but 1t made clear that 1t was not
“addres{sing] the casc@ of a carrier that furtively employs improper accounting techniques na

tarift filing, thereby iconcealing potential rate of return violations.™’

This interpretation is also fully consistent with the Commission’s recent holding in Qwes?
v. Farmers, as the Commission recognizes both in that order and in the NPRM. The
Commission’s decision in that case to recognize the “deemed lawful” status of Farmers™ tariff
turned entirely on the Commission’s interpretation of the existing access charge rules —
specifically, the Commission’s conclusion that the Rule 61.39 procedures do not currently
contain an explicit or implicit duty to make represcntations about future traffic gmwth.38 The
Commission acknowledged in the Qwest order that a LEC might be liable under different facts,”
and with a change in the tariff-filing rules, a false certification would clearly involve the sort of
“improper accounting techniques” that the D.C. Circuit has said would lead to negation of a
carrier’s “deemed lawful” siatus. And in the NPRM itself, the Commission states that “{wle
contemplate that a finding that a carricr had failed to disclosc any required information could be

the basis for denying deemed lawful status to the carmer’s rates.”™

A certification requirement would thus close a gap in the Commission’s rules and should
deter most LECs from even trying access stimulation schemes. This fact was dramatcally
proven earlier this year when thirty-eight fLECs left NECA, most of which with the obvious

intention of entering into tratfic pumping schemes. The Commission suspended therr tariffs —

37 ACS, 290 F.3d 403, 413 (D.C. Cir. 2002).
3 Owest v. Farmers § 27.

* See id

 NPRM 9 28.
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thus denying them deemed lawful status — and all of the ILECs jumped at the chance the
Commission gave them either to re-enter NECA or to amend their tari{fs to require new rates if
their traffic increased. Moreover, to the extent that a LEC executive executes a false
centification, the executive may be subject to addition civil or criminal penalties, which will
further deter unscrupulous LECs from engaging in illegal traffic stimulation schemes. The
Commission has laikcn this approach in other areas where there is a significant potential for

unlawful behavior, such as universal scrvice and prepaid cards.*!

While this certification requirement would significantly reduce the incentives of LECs to
engage in traffic pumping schemes, such a requirement would impose only very minimal
burdens on honest LECs. For them, it requires only the preparation of onc additional document.
Honest LECs rarely, if ever, will experience such extraordinary increases in total traffic volume
(in the case of ILECs) or terminating minutes per line (in the case of CLECs). And to the extent
that that an honest L.EC does for rcasons beyond its control experience such unusual increases,
then its existing rates would be rendered unjust and unreasonable and it would be entirely
appropriate to allow customers to obtain refunds for cxcessive charges and to require the LEC to

submit a new tariff that reflected the increased demand.*

W See, e.g., Regulatian of Prepaid Calling Card Services, 21 FCC Red. 7290, 4 31 (2006). A
certification requirement would be superior to a rule that simply treated existing tanff filings as
an imphcil representation to the same effect. There is significant value in forcing the executives
of these carriers 1o focus on and sign a statement - potentially on pain of even cripinal
punishment — that the carrier will not engage in a traffic pumping scheme during the term of the
tariff.

* Further, the Commission retains its ability to grant waivers of these centification rules when
the LECs subject to the requirements demonstrate good cause why the certification is
unnecessary due to particularized circumstances.
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|
C. Benchmarks That Trigger Reduced Rates.

As discussed apovc. even afier it is clear 1o a customer that a LEC is cngaged in an
unlawful traffic stimulation scheme, it often can take months or even years (o litigatc such issues
and to obtain a prospective finding from the Commission or a Court that the LECs’ rates are
unjust and unreasonable. As a result, access customers continue to be subject to millions of
dollars in excessive :}charges every month for months or even years after it is clear that a LEC’s
rates are unlawful. To eliminate this lag, and thereby protect customers from the unlawful
effects of any schemes that are in fact implemented, the Commission should adopt rules that
require LECs subjcot to the reporting and certification requirements to reduce rates immediately
when specified traffic stimulation benchmarks are met. The benchmarks would be easily

calculated from the data that, as described above, these LLECs will be required to rcport.

Specifically, for small ILECs that file tariffs pursuant to scction 61.38 or 61.39, the
Commission should promulgate a rule requiring such LECs to file updated tarifls, with revised
rates based on updated data and traffic volumes, within 45 days after the end of any quarter in
which the LEC’s traffic in fact incrcased by more than a specified percentage compared to the
same quarter a year ago. AT&T has conducted an extensive, multi-year analysis of annual traffic
volume changes for small ILECs of various sizes 1o determine appropriate percentage riggers
for three “tiers” of these LECs. In particular, for all 61.38 and 61.39 ILECs, AT&T has
examined year-over-year quarierly growth rates in access minutes for the past ten years. These
data show that year-over-year growth rates in access minutes for these ILECs are often negative

and, in any event, arc generally well below 20 percent.’ However, the data show that the

** These findings are illustrated in the attached Appendices A-1 (61 38 ILECs) and A-2 (61.39
ILECs), depicting the January 2005 through June 2006 data. The significant growth rates in
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variation in year-over-year quarterly access minutes is greatest for ILECs with fewer than 10
million access mimites per quarter, and smaller for ILECs with between 10 million and 50
million access minutes per quarter, and the smallest for ILECs with more than 50 million access
minutes per quarter* Accordingly, to account for the larger variations m year-over-year annual
growth rates for smaller ILECs, and lower variations for larger ILECs, AT&T suggests that the

Commission adopt the following percentage triggers for three categories of small ILECs (defined

by thc LEC’s number of access minutes per year):

”_ffﬁt_éé_c_)ﬁ_af LEC by Annual Minutes | Year-Over Year Quarterly Growth Rate Trigger

10 million MOUs oriless 100 percent

10 million MOUs to|50 million MOUs | 75 percent |
| 50 million or more MOUs .1 50 percent

As shown in Exhibits A-1 and A-2, these suggested triggers are set far above the natural
variations in traffic that have historically been observed for ordinary, non-traffic-pumping LECs,
and they are set at levels that make it very unlikely that natural variations in traffic will trigger a
tariff filing. These triggers also recognize the mathematical proposition that a LEC with

|
relatively larger derﬁand may engage in significant traffic pumping without necessarily achicving
a 100 percent growth level, and mitigate the potential that affihated LECs may engage in “traffic

management” 1o allocate their additional demand from traffic pumping among those carriers to

avoid tnggering the need for refiling the taniff of any one of thosc entities.

Concomitantly, AT&T suppons a slightly revised version of the Commission’s proposal
to require all LECs that file their own tariffs under Section 61.38 or 61.39 to include the

following language in their tanifs:

year-over-year access minutes for the known traffic pumping LECs are highlighted in red, and
they all far exceed the 1anff filing triggers proposed in the table below.

W See id,



Case 1:07-cv-00861-WHP  Document 32-6  Filed 03/14/2008 Page 32 of 44

t

If quarterly Iocal switching minutes of the issuing carrier exceed [insert applicable
percentage from the above table] of the local switching demand of the same
quarter of the preceding ycar, the issuing carrier will file revised local switching
and transport fariff rates pursuant to Commission Rule 61.38 to reflect this
increased demand within 45 days of the end of that quarter. The issuing carrier
will issue refunds to Customers equal to the difference between the local
switching and transport charges paid by the customers under the existing tariffs
and those contained in the revised tariffs for each day from the first day of the
quarter in which increased waffic volumes triggered the new tariff filing
requirement to the day on which the revised local switching and transport tariff
ratcs become effective.

The rcquirement that any new tariffs be filed pursuant to Rule 61.38 is entirely
appropriate. If a LEC’s demand has increased by the enormously high percentages in the
proposed triggers, that LEC’s traffic has strayed extremely far above the zone in which it would
be reasonable to assume that the LEC’s historical demand for switched access minutes is a
reasonable proxy fo?- future demand or that the average schedule formula will accurately predict
costs.™ Accordingly, Scction 61.39 is not a Jegitimate method for computing new rates triggered
by such massive increases m demand, and such LECs therefore should be required comply with

the Section 61.38 requirements with respect to its mid-course tariff filing."®

* As the Commission recognizes, the average schedule formulas “can only yield reasonable
estimates of an average schedule carrier’s cost when the demand is within the range used to
develop the formulas” and “when an avcrage carrier experiences a significant growth in demand
that takes it outside the observed range of demand used to establish the average schedule
formulas, the process of running the increased demand data through the formulas produces what
appear to be extreme increascs in costs for the carriers.” NPRM 4 25.

% In subscquent voluntary filings (or when the next two year filing is made), such LECs,
however, should be permitted to again file tariffs pursuant to the Section 61.39 requirements. In
such circumstances, however, the Commission should modify its rules to require LECs to submit
iformation with their tariff filings demonstrating that compliance with Section 61.39 is hkely to
produce just and reasonable rates. Cost schedule companies should, therefore, be required to
submit data showing that their 12-month historical demand is a reasonable proxy for future
demand.  Further, average schedule companies should be required to submit data showing that
their demand falls within the rage of demand used to develop the average schedule formula und
which they seek 10 compute rates.
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For CLECs,|the Commission would modify its existing rules so that CLECs could not
rely on the rural exemption or benchmark to a rural ILEC’s rate where their traffic pattems
exhibit clcar indicia of traffic pumping. Unlike ILECs, however, a CLEC’s traffic levels,
particularly in the Iirst couple of years that it operates in an area, may vary considerably year
over year, and CLECs frequently enter and leave particular service areas. Consequently, year
over year monthly traffic comparisons could be a poor proxy for separating traffic pumping
CLECs from the herd. Instead, the Commission should adopt a tngger based on the number of
access minutes per line. Where a “rural” CLEC’s per line traffic is multiples of the minutes per
line experienced by rural ILECs (other than those that are themselves engaged in twaffic
pumping) - whose rates serve as the CLEC’s rate benchmark ~ there can be no question that the
CLEC is engaged in traffic pumping, and not the true competition for rural customers that the

benchmarking rules were mntended to foster.

The Chart in Appendix B, attached hereto, shows the total number of access lines and
minutes that rate of return TLECs reported to the Commission in 2006. These data show that the
monthly average per line access minutes for all such ILECs is 2185, and that out of 1400 small
ILECs there are only 21 (less than 2%) with per line access minutes that exceed 1,000, virtually
all of which are documented traffic pumpers. Based on these ILEC data, AT&T proposes a rural
CLEC tngger of 2,000 access minutes per line. This trigger is very conservative and provides
substantial latitude for CLEC growth through legitimate business practices, but would trigger the
obligation for refiling by entities that clearly seek to inflate their access demand through traffic
pumping. Under this proposal, therefore, a rural CLEC that exceeds the specified benchmark of

2,000 minutes per access line, by Commission rule, would no longer be able to file a tariff that
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relies on the rural cxcnz_‘hption or benchmarks 1o a rural ILEC’s rate.” Such CLECs would have
the following options: ?oﬂ”cr services on a mandatorily detariffed basis (as is true now of CLECs
that want to offer services above the Commission-specified benchmark rates) or file new tariffs
with a benchmark that would become either (1) the competing ILEC’s rate, if the CLEC is using
the rural exemption,or (2) the NECA band 1 rate, if the CLEC is benchmarked to a rural ILEC"s

rate.

Requiring new CLEC tariff filings in these circumstances is fully consistent with, if not
compelled by, the rationale behind the CLEC Access Charge Order. One of the premises of the
benchmarking rule was the assumption that a CLEC could match the higher rates of the
“competing ILEC.” S'(,e CLEC Access Charge Order, 16 FCC Red. 9923, 1 51 (“If operation in
these [rural] areas justifies higher access rates for the tregulated incumbents, we conclude that it
justifies equivalent rates for any competitor operating in the area”) (emphasis added). If a CLEC
is engaged in traffic pumping instead — generating enormous waffic through relatively few lines —
the CLEC clearly has very different operating structure than the ILEC that js actually serving
these rural communities. If the frigger has been met, permitting the CLEC to continue to
benchmark 10 the NECA band 8 rate in the case of CLECs operating in RBOC territory or the
rural ILEC rate in the case of CLECs operating in rural ILEC territory would be inappropriate

because it would necessarily lead to unjust and unreasonable rates.

These modestrule changes strike an appropriate balance between the interests in stopping

unlawful traffic stimulation schemes and minimizing any potential additional burdens placed on

*” To ensure that CLECs do not circumvent this triggering mechanism by artificially reducing
their per line access minutes by giving away access lines or otherwise cxpanding the number of
access lines used in the denominator of this per line trigger, the Commission also should prohibit
rural CLECs from providing access lines at prices lower than the subscriber line charge
associated with such access lines.
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honest LECs. The threshold triggers are set high enough to catch only traffic stimulation
schemes. Most honest ILECs, which already serve most of the customers in their service areas,
will rarely, if ever, experiencc such large annual percentage increases in demand (or minutes per
access line), and thus will not be caught up in these rules. In the unlikely event that an honest
LEC does experiencie such extraordinary increases in demand, it would be entirely appropriate to

require that LEC to #;ubmit new tariffs that account for those demand increases.

IV. THE COMMISSION SHOULD ISSUE DECLARATORY RULINGS THAT
CERTAIN } TRAFFIC PUMPING LEC PRACTICES ARE UNJUST AND
UNREASONABLE.

Finally, the; Commission should 1ssue declaratory rulings that (1) any LEC revenue
sharing arrangement 1n which the LEC becomes the net payor of the customer is an unreasonable
practice under Section 201(b); (2) the practice of manipulating interconnection points Lo
artificially inflate access charges is an unreasonable practice under Section 201(b); and (3) no
small LEC may oq;t into the Commission’s current price cap rules absém express permission

from the Commission.

Revenue Sharing Agreements. The Comunission should adopt its tentative conclusion
(NPRM 17 18-20) that it is an unreasonable practicc in violation of Section 201(b) for a LEC to
enter into an access revenue sharing agreement in which it becomes a net payor to an end user
customer. AT&T has previously defined the kickback schemes that should come within this
declaratory ruling as “any LEC arrangement to pay a communications service provider to direct
calls to or through a LEC’s exchange that can be expected over the life of the arrangement to

A8

produce net payments from the LEC to its communications sefvice “customer.™ It is well-

™ See NPRM 9 20 n.49.
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settled that the Commission may declare a practice to be unreasonable.”” and any LEC agreement
that meets this definition would be unreasonable because there are no circumstances in which

such schemes can serve a lawful purpose.

As the Commission’s experience has abundantly confirmed, any arrangement in which
the LEC is paying more to the end-user from access revenues than the end-user is paying to the
LEC for local servi&e makes economic sense only if the LEC is earing exorbitant returns on
access services — i.e., such amrangements’ only function is to facilitate traffic pumping schemes.*’
There are no circumstances in which a LEC could “reasonably” use its access revenues to pay an
end-user for the privilege of serving that end-user, nor has any party to these proceedings
identified any legitimate basis for such revenue sharing agreements that is consistent with the
LEC’s obligations to charge just and reasonable access rates. The Commission should therefore

declare the practice to be per se unreasonable.”!

In the NPRA{? (7 19), the Commission also asks whether such arrangements would be
unreasonable if the TLEC included the revenue sharing or other compensation amounts in its

revenue requirement.  Explicitly including such amounts in the revemue requirernent would

* Order on Reconsideration, Business Discount Plan, Inc.; Apparent Liubility Jor Forfeiture, 15
FCC Red. 24396, 9 8 (2000) (“Congress gave the Commission broad authority over unjust and
unreasonable practices “for and in connection with communication services.” In enacting section
201(b), Congress did not coumerate or otherwise limit the specific practices to which this
provision applics. Instead, it granted us [the Commission] a more general authority to address
such practices as they might arise in a changing telecommunications marketplace.”™).

50 S . . . . .

This is just simple arithmetic: such agreements necessanly assume that the LEC will gencrate
relms on its access services that will be enough to cover the costs of both the LEC’s access
business and is website parmer’s separate calling business.

i addition, the Commission should declare that LECs must exclude from the definition of
their tariffed access services, waffic associated with revenue-sharing arrangements, and that
LECs are therefore subject to damages for revenues derived from such traffic because those
revenues would not be protected by the “deemed lawful” provisions of the Act.
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unquestionably violate Section 201(b), because as the Commussion notes, such payments are
unrelated to the provision of exchange access.”” Indeed, it is well-settled that access charges
may not recover costs that are unrelated 10 - i.e., not “used and useful” for  the provision of
exchange access.” Inlight of the ever-growing patiem of abuse facilitated by these agreements,

. .54
however, the time has now come to declare such all agrecments 10 be an unreasonable practice.

Manipulating Points of Interconnection To Artificially Inflate Access Charges. The
Commission should,also declare as unreasonable practices under section 201(b) certain schemes

52 See id.
33 See. e.g., American Telephone and Telegraph Co., 38 FCC 2d 213 (1972), aff’d sub nom.,
Naderv. FCC, 520 F.2d 182 (D.C. Cir. 1975); American Tel. & Tel. Co. (Phase 11}, 64 FCC 2d 1
(1977), recon. in part, 67 FCC 2d 1429 (1978); Amendment of Part 65 of the Commission’s
Rules to Prescribe Components of the Rate Base and Net Income of Dominant Carriers, 2 FCC
Red. 269 (1987), recon. 4 FCC Red. 1697 (1989). In the past, certain ILECs and CLECs
engaged in traffic pumping schemes erroneously have argued that that Commission has held
revenue sharing schemes to be lawful under § 201(b). As the Commission recognized in its
recent Qwest v. Farmers and Merchants decision, that is not true. Rather, the Commission has
held only that access sharing arrangements do not necessarily violate a LEC's duty as a common
carnier to hold one’$ services oul indifferently. Beechive, 17 FCC Red. 11641, 9 29; Frontier,1?
FCC Red 4041; Jefferson Tel. Co., 16 FCC Red. 16130, 1 7-15 (“based on the record in this
case, in which AT%(T argucs that Jefferson's access revenue-shanng airangement with IAN
violated section 201(b) solely because it allegedly breaches common carriage duties, we
conclude that AT&T has not met its burden of demonstrating that Jefferson's practice here is
unjust and unreasgiable"). The Commission merely found “based on the record” developed in
those cases that the] LEC had not acted contrary to a common camier — i.e., the LECs there had
delivered calls indifferently to all customers and had not attempted to steer traffic to any
particular customer. The Commission “emphasiz¢[d] the narrowness of [its] holding™ in those
cases, see Jefferson Tel. Co., 16 FCC Red. 16130, § 16, and acknowledged that such
arrangements might be violate § 201(b) or be otherwise unlawful for other reasons.

** In addition to being clear violations of Section 201(b) of the Act, there are serious questions as
10 whether some or all of these revenue sharing schemes - which use traditional POTS telephone
numbers and sometimes 8YY numbers — violate the very important policies underlying 47
U.8.C. § 223 and the Telephone Disclosure and Dispute Resolution Act (TDDRA) (47 U.S.C, §
228). Many of the revenue sharing schemes involve the transmission of “adult”™ pomographic
conient to the caller, but have no safeguards to protect against children making such calls and
receiving the content. These schemes thus significantly subvert the important policies
underlying these provisions of the Act, and as such the Commission can and should use Its
Section 201 authority to declare these schemes unlawful,
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whereby LECs seck to manipulate the points at which they interconnect with an intermediate
centralized access provider in order to substantially inflate the mileage-based charges that apply

to these transport access services,

In many states, access traffic is initially terminated by an IXC to an intermediate
centralized access provider, which has built a transport ring around a state to aggregate traffic
from numerous end offices, and then handed off to the terminating LEC at an intcrconnection
point on the centralized equal access ring designated by the terminating LEC. The terminating
LEC then charges the IXC a transport charge to camry the traffic from the designated
interconnection point to the LEC’s end office. As the Commission found when it initially
authorized these centralized facilities, the “aggregation of traffic should reduce the access
charges [the LEC] assesses IXCs.™ In an increasing number of cases, however, certain LECs
are turning the purposes of these centralized facilities upside-down, and using them to increase
access charges for iransport services. These LECs manipulate the interconnection point to
designate a very distant location far removed from their actual physical interconnection with the
centralized provider’s ring, and then assess 1XCs an exorbitant mileage-based charge for

transport from that point.

In one variant of these schemes, the terminating LEC changes its interconnection point so
that calls from an IXC are handed off to a centralized intermediate access provider that is located
in an entirely different state, many hundreds of miles away from the terminating LEC. For
cxample, AT&T has leamned that Aventure, 8 CLEC in Jowa, has specified that calls destined for
lowa customers be handed off 10 a centralized access provider in Minnesota, even though AT&T

directly connects with another such centralized provider, lowa Network Services (INS), that has

“Eg., Application of lowa Network Access Division, 3 FCC Red. 1468, 9 14 (C.C.B. 1988).
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an interconnection poiht in the very town in which Aventure’s switch is located. To make
matters worse, the traffﬁc is then routed from Minnesota through South Dakota, and then from
South Dakota to lowa, .and only then to Aventure’s facilities in Jowa. As a result of this highly
circuitous and entirély unnecessary path from Minnesota to South Dakota and then to lowa,
Aventure bills AT&T for more than 230 miles of transport charges, notwithstanding that
Aventure could charge only a few miles of transport if it designated its interconnection point
efficiently at the ncarby INS interconnection point. Further, although as a CLEC, Aventure may
choose to dehiver long distance traffic to AT&T outside the LATA in which it onginates, it
should not be able tl' charge AT&T the cost of moving traffic to its chosen inefficient point of
dclivery in order to inflate its revenues. Similarly, AT&T should not be compelled to deliver
traffic destined for a carrier’s customers through an inefficient, and overly expensive route solely

to support a carrier’s|desirc to impose excessive charges on AT&T.

In another variant of the scheme, the LEC utilizes the centralized access provider in 11
own state, but rathpr. than designate the closest interconnection point on the cenuralized
provider’s ring, the ?.EC designates the most distant interconnection point on the ring as its
“official” intcrconneétion point with the centralized provider, often the exact location where
IXCs deliver therr traffic to the centralized provider. The LEC’s actual physical interconnection
remains, of course, at the closest interconnection point, and the actual routing of the call remains
over the centralized provider’s ring to that actual physical interconnection point. But through the

paper change of designating the distant “official” interconnection point, the LEC then claims the
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i
|
|

right to charge the IXC up to hundreds of miles of transport (in addition to the transport charges

the IXC pays the cenuialized provider for transport anywhere on the ring).*
i

By way of cxa%mple, Readlyn Telephone Company of Iowa 1s located in Readlyn, lowa,
only 1 miles from the INS ring. Yet, Readlyn designates Des Moines - necarly 50 miles further
away and the very point where AT&T interconnects with INS — as Readlyn’s official
interconnection point with INS, thereby nearly doubling the per-minute terminating access
charges it claims are due. Of course, Readlyn’s facilities, in fact, connect to the INS ring at the
nearby interconnectio:iT point, not in Des Moines. Many LECs in Jowa and elsewhere are now
engaging in this palc%mly unreasonable practice which is designed solely to inflate access

charges.

In cach case, these LECs’ manipulations of interconnection points are patently unlawful,
and result in manifestly unreasonable charges for access services. These LECs have asserted
b

|
that, when the Conjmiission and state regulatory agencies approved these centralized access

arrangements, the LECs were allowed complete discretion in selecting an interconnection point

with the centralized providers, but this is flatly wrong. In one of the very first decisions

approving these centralized access arrangements, the Commission allowed the LECs some

control over the locatipn of nterconnection points, but it expressly declined to “authoriz[e] a
|

blanket policy” and cautioned that its approval of these facilities “should not be interpreted as

lf
% AT&T believes that these modifications are the result of LECs leasing facihities from
centralized equal access providers that originally provided, and billed, AT&T for the same
transpont services. Further, while some LECs modified the point at which they take waffic from
the mtermediate carrier simultancously with beginning traffic pumping, the onslaught of traffic
pumping also revealed that some LECs apparently instituted the modifications much earlier, and
that AT&T only identified the change when traffic levels increased substantially.
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unbounded authonity oh the part of [LECs] to determine points of interconnection with IXCs.™’

In particular, the Commission determined that a LEC should not propose “significant| } increases
[in] IXCs® operating costs” with no corresponding improvements in service or otherwise

»® That is precisely what is

“unreasonably designate[] points of interconnection with IXCs.
occurring here with the current schemes of these LECs. They have not offered any legiumate
basis for why the transport services are being routed and billed in the manner described above.
The reality is that these interconnection points and call routing mechanisms have been devised
solely to increasc the mileage-based charges that these LECs impose on IXCs. The Comnission

should use its broad authority under Section 201(b) and promptly declare such practices 10 be

unjust and unreasonable.

Participation In Price Cap Regulation. Finally, because the current price cap rules would
be patently inapproppiate if applied to small and mid-sized ILECs, the Commission should issue
a declaratory ruling r;naking clear that no ILEC is permitted to opt into the Commission’s currcnt
price cap rules absent express permission from the Commission. Allowing mid-sized and small
LECs w opt in (o the current price cap regime would be inappropriate because the Commission
has made many changes to the price cap rules over the years — such as the elimination of the
sharmg requirement — on the assumption that those rules apply only to large I.LECs. The most
significant of these changes was the CALLS Plan, which was an industry agreement in which

most of the then-exssung price cap carriers agreed to specific and very low rate levels for

*! Application of Indiana Switch Access Division, 1 FCC Red. 634, 9 5 (1986),
58
*1d.
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switched access services, and a 6.5% X-Factor as a mechanism for transitioning to those agreed

upon rate‘s.“'9

Although a small ILEC with legitimate customers would have no reason to opt in to the
current price cap rules, that regime as written could tempt traffic-pumping LECs to opt in. Those
LECs could leave NECA, establish very high switched access charges, and then opt into price
caps, which would result in application of the price cap formula set out in the rules - i.e., a 6.5%
X-Factor applied to:switched access each year until the switched access target rates are reached,
which in the case of the traffic pumping LECs could take many years. In the intervening years,
howeyver, the rules would permit these ILECs to earn astronomical retarns from traffic pumping,

because the price cap regime does not regulate returns.

The Commigsion has already tentatively concluded that the CALLS plan rules are not

available to any LE*’, ;Iha: was not already a pricc cap carrier at the time of CALLS:

The debate over incentive regulation is often clouded by uncertainty as to whether
the CALLS plan contemplated that additional study arcas would enter that plan
during its five-year term. Three years have passed and no rate-of-retum carrier
has sought entry. To chiminate the uncertainty, we tentatively conclude that the
CALLS plan was not designed to be open 1o new carriers or study areas. The
CALLS plan 'began as a voluntarily negotiated agreement among price cap
carriers and certain IXCs that addressed pricing and untversal service concems as
a package, without consideration of possible participation by carriers that were
then under rate-of-retwrn regulation. That CALLS was not intended to
accommmodate additional entry 1s most clearly indicated by the fact that in
adopting the plan, the Commission made no provision for how the universal
service component of the CALLS plan would address future expansion to new
camers. We therefore believe the rules should be amended 1o clarify that new
carriers or carrier study areas may not elect this plan. We invite parties 1o
comment on this tentative conclusion.”

* CALLS Order, 12 FCC Red 12962, 99 150-82.

" Multi-Association Group Plan Jor Regulation of Interstate Services of Non-Price Cup
Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers and Interexchange Carriers, 19 FCC Red. 4122, 9 93
(2004); see alse Valor Communications Group, Inc , 21 FCC Red. 859, 11 3, 7 (2006).
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The Commission should now formally adopt this tentative conclusion and make crystal
clear that rural ILECs% are not allowed to opt into the current price cap system without prior
Commission aupproval.‘?l The Commussion is considering a range of proposals for small and mid-
sized LEC mccntivcirqgulation in another proceeding, and no current rate-of-retum LEC should
be permitied to opt mw any form of incentive regulation until the Commission has completed

that rulemaking.*

® An example of an ILEC that has expressly sought Commission approval to opt nto the price
cap mechanism is Windstream Corporation. See Windstream Petition for Conversion to Price
Cap Regulation and for Limited Waiver Relief, WC Docket No. 07-171 (dated Aug. 6, 2007).
AT&T has submitted ¢ommmm mn support of Windstream’s request. See Comments of AT&T
inc., Windstream Petition for Conversion to Price Cap Regulation and for Limited Waiver Relief,
WC Docket No. 07-171 (dated Sep. 24, 2007).

** Therc is no need to modify the price cap rules as they apply to price cap carriers. With respect
to those carriers, the CALLS price caps are extremely low, are presumed to be just and
reasonable, and would not yield the sort of profits the traffic-pumpers have extorted from 1XCs
and that encourage traffic-pumping. And in all events, it is well-settled that, for price cap
carriers, the Commission regulates only prices, not profits.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons. stated above, the Commission should adopt the forcgoing changes to its

taniffing regime for lﬁECs and CLECs to preclude traffic pumping abuses, and should issue

declaratory rulings that practices described above are unjust and unreasonable practices in

violation of Section 201(b) of the Communications Act.
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